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INTRODUCTION

On behalf of the NRF Board, it is my pleasure to present 
the Annual Report of the National Research Foundation 
(NRF) for the 2021/22 financial year and to congratulate 
the Executive on achieving the goals that had been set out. 
The Annual Report reflects our ardent efforts towards the 
achievement of the National Research Foundation object 
as outlined in the NRF Act 23 of 1998 (as amended).  

A high-level overview of the NRF Strategy and the 
performance

The period under review was the second year of a five-year 
implementation of the NRF Strategy 2025. The organisation 
continued to take stock of its role in the science system 
and has focused on transformation, impact, excellence 
and sustainability (TIES) as key tenets in executing its 
mandate through the pursuit of its strategic outcomes. The 
Science Technology and Innovation (STI) White Paper 
emphasises a holistic approach to transformation and the 
need to balance the transformation imperative with the 
need for expansion and development. Thus, to this end, 
the NRF has developed a Transformation Framework 
to guide its contribution to system-wide transformation. 
During 2021/22 significant progress was achieved against 
the strategic outcomes as follows:

• Successful implementation of the DSI-NRF 
Postgraduate Student Funding Policy wherein 
postgraduate student funding allocations are 
underpinned by the principles of equity of opportunity; 
representivity; prioritisation; and enhanced access, 
success and throughput.

• The Engaged Research Framework, which was 
initially consulted during the 2021 calendar year, 
was adopted in March 2022. The Framework 
provides for an ongoing process of embedding 
Science Engagement more holistically within NRF 
programmes and enabling engaged scholarship 
which produces co-created, self-reflective 
knowledge and new formations of community in the 
process.

• The Leading Researchers and Scholars Programme 
(LRSP) was developed in consultation with the DSI 
and the call for applications for the first cohort is 
expected to go out during 2022/23.

• The NRF developed the Framework to Advance 
the Societal and Knowledge Impact of Research 
through an inclusive process that included 
participation by stakeholders across the National 
System of Innovation (NSI). The consolidated NRF 
Impact Implementation Plan was completed at the 
end of 2021/22 for execution in 2022/23.

Promoting Good Governance

In 2021, as part of the Board’s ongoing commitment to 
continuous improvement, independent external specialists 
were appointed to evaluate the effectiveness of the Board as a 
governing body and to identify areas of focus. The assessment 
highlighted that the Board has well-functioing governance 
structures with a good balance of skills and experience, 
although the Board would benefit from specialist functional 
expertise in the areas of information technology, legal and 
finance, private-sector experience and key sciences-based 

FOREWORD BY THE CHAIRPERSON
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disciplines, such as environmental sciences. To this end, 
a formalised Board development plan was also advised 
to further augment the Board’s expertise for optimum 
governance and delivery of the NRF mandate.

In addition, the independent review found that the Board’s 
meeting processes could be enhanced through the 
development of workplans, and to encourage greater 
participation and engagement of the members during 
virtual meetings. Furthermore, the Board has strengthened 
its focus in the area through clearly defining the roles and 
responsibilities of the Audit and Risk Committee in relation 
to cyber security. The evaluation further found that the 
Board should heighten its focus on the implementation of 
new initiatives and programmes to continuously improve 
stakeholder relations and create awareness on the work 
done by the NRF.

To support the Board with the implementation of these 
key governance initiatives, I am pleased that the Board 
has appointed Ms Cassandra Mfana as Board Secretary, 
effective 1 August 2021. The Board is satisfied that 
Ms Mfana possesses the requisite experience and 
qualifications in the fields of legal, company secretarial, 
governance, compliance and ethics management and I 
extend my personal welcome and support to Ms Mfana in 
undertaking this important task for both the Board and the 
Executive team.

Promoting a fit-for-purpose organisation

To be successful and sustainable over the long-term 
requires tough decision-making and a critical review of the 
organisation’s current configuration, systems and ethical 
leadership. During the period under review, to ensure 
that we have the right corporate culture in place, and as 
part of the Board’s ongoing commitment to continuous 
improvement, we commenced a culture review to 
determine the interventions required to establish a culture 
that will ensure a future-fit organisation and ongoing ethical 
practices. This has further been supplemented with the 
commissioning of a skills audit and an organisational 
review to ensure that the service delivery model of the 
organisation is one that best supports the delivery of the 
NRF mandate and Strategy.

Strategic Relationships

Strategic relationships are important for the successful 
delivery of the NRF mandate. The NRF leverages off 
strategic relationships locally, regionally and globally. The 

NRF continues to benefit from the dynamic engagement 
with the National Departments of Science and Innovation, 
Higher Education and Training, Trade Industry and 
Competition, to name a few. Additional collaborative 
partnerships that were entered into during the 2021/22 
financial year are with following bodies:

• National Student Financial Aid Scheme (NSFAS) 
to increase access to funding opportunities for 
postgraduate students and improve efficiency of 
processing applications. 

• Sasol with an intent to jointly fund collaborative 
research grants in Science and Engineering that will 
contribute to South Africa’s energy transition and a 
green economy. 

• Presidential Climate Change Coordinating 
Commission (PCCCC) to collaborate on all matters 
relating to supporting Climate Change responses 
supported by the Government of South Africa. 

• NRF-Mandela Institute for Development Studies 
(MINDS) agreement on a joint postgraduate 
scholarship and exchange programme for Africa.

Challenges faced by the Board

The 2021/22 financial year can be characterised as a year 
of recovery, reprioritisation and realignment, following the 
challenges brought about by the COVID-19 pandemic. The 
Board noted the specific challenges associated with the 
reduced MTEF budget allocation for funding of the NRF 
mandate. The funding constraints require a refocus of 
resourcing and innovative ways to source funding to ensure 
that the impact of the NRF is inclusive and impactful across 
all areas of the mandate.

The Board has placed great emphasis on the transformation 
of the research landscape. This commitment was 
communicated in the DSI-NRF Postgraduate Student 
Funding Policy approved by the Board in 2020, as well 
as the specific strategic focus area of transformation 
articulated in the NRF Strategy 2025. Developing a 
knowledge economy, where socio-economic development 
is based on knowledge production and innovation, is part 
of the national transformation agenda. The transformation 
agenda is considered a critical aspect of the national 
agenda and remains a priority challenge for the Board, 
considering the pace of transformation in the sector.  

The devastating impact of the COVID-19 pandemic has 
underscored the importance of science in society and 
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the need to boost and prioritise investment in Research 
and Development (R&D) and innovation. Moving forward 
and following discussions with the Honourable Minister 
Nzimande, the Board is prioritising a research agenda to 
focus and prepare for future pandemics, positioning South 
Africa as a responsive centre of excellence in the African 
continent.

The strategic focus over the medium to long-term 
period

The organisation continues to contribute to the achievement 
of national priorities as outlined in the National Development 
Plan and the Medium Term Strategic Framework.  The 
focus is in the areas of high-end skills development, 
knowledge economy and innovation to address triple 
challenges of poverty, unemployment and inequality. The 
current five-year NRF Strategic Plan will be reviewed 
during the 2022/23 financial year. The NRF through its 
continuous engagements with the DSI has identified the 
following areas of focus for the short to medium-term:

• Transformation of the postgraduate student funding 
and researcher support to improve success, 
throughput and excellence;

• Advancing innovation through research support and 
industry partnerships;

• Implementation of the DSI Science Engagement 
Strategy and embedding engaged research within 
the research enterprise;

• Drive infrastructure development to keep the NRF 
portfolio of Research Infrastructure Platforms 
globally-competitive; and

• Build on national and international partnerships 
to leverage and improve access to resources and 
research infrastructure.

Acknowledgements and appreciation

On behalf of the NRF Board, I would like to express our 
sincere appreciation to the Minister of Higher Education, 
Science and Innovation, the Honourable Dr Bonginkosi 
Nzimande, and officials of the Department of Science 
and Innovation (DSI) for their support to the NRF and 
willingness to engage with the NRF Board and Executive 
Committee. I would also like to express appreciation to the 
Parliamentary Portfolio Committee on Higher Education, 
Science and Innovation for their regular and constructive 
engagements with the NRF. 

To the Corporate Executive Committee, go our sincere 
acknowledgements for their continued commitment to 
the organisation and their meaningful and pro-active 
engagement with the Board. Outside of the support we 
receive from the executive team, the NRF Board was aided 
in our oversight function by the Board Committees and our 
Board members who each bring the depth in expertise 
and diversity in experience needed to promote ethical and 
decisive leadership and to provide effective oversight of 
the organisation’s performance and strategic direction. I 
extend my gratitude to my fellow Board members for their 
wisdom, insight and energy in guiding the NRF to achieve 
its vision. 

I would also like to thank the former Board members, 
Professor Zeblon Vilakazi and Professor Tinyiko Maluleke. 
The Board extends its sincere appreciation for their 
contributions and effort to the project of ensuring an 
engaged and supported research system. The Board also 
extends warm wishes of congratulations to Professors 
Vilakazi and Maluleke for their appointments as 
Vice-Chancellors of the University of the Witwatersrand 
and the Tshwane University of Technology respectively. 
We wish you the best in your new roles and thank you for 
your excellent service to the NRF Board.

Conclusion

Lastly, with the end of the term of the current Board in 
September 2022, this will be the final Annual Report 
of the current Board which has served the NRF for the 
past four-year term. The Board members appreciate the 
opportunity to have served the NRF and contributed to 
the advancement of transformation, impact, excellence 
and sustainability of the broader research and science 
system. Based on the performance outcomes of the year 
under review, the NRF looks forward to a new year of 
opportunities to contribute to Research for a better society.

Dr Nompumelelo Obokoh 

Chairperson of the NRF Board  
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Overview of the operations of the NRF 

The 2021/22 fiscal year was one that all of government 
aimed for a return to normalcy amid the COVID-19 
pandemic. The pandemic brought about a renewed 
change in the way the NRF pursued the implementation 
of its programmes for the period under review. With 
the beginning of the financial year having started with 
significant restrictions under alert level 3, remote working 
arrangements dominated most of the first two quarters of 
the financial year. The third and fourth quarters saw the 
NRF reintegrate its staff and physical operations back 
into the workplace. With that being said, the COVID-19 
pandemic is still a reality that the organisation is conscious 
of in its operations and has established mechanisms for 
ensuring a safe working environment for all employees and 
stakeholders. 

The NRF mainly derives its income from the Parliamentary 
Grant (R962m), DSI contracts (R3 010m), other contract 
income (R350m), sales revenue (R94,8m) and interest 
received (R40m). NRF’s total income increased by 25% 
from R3 574m in 2020/21 to R4 466m in 2021/22. 

During the next MTEF period, the organisation will continue 
to deliver on the following key priorities:

• Innovation and impact within the research enterprise 
and the NSI;

• Partnerships with industry;

• Science Engagement that enables impact; and

• A culture that enhances high-performance.

Expenditure trends

The NRF expenditure trends largely mirror the level of 
income. The increase of 24% in total expenditure from 
R3 587m in 2020/21 to R4 461m in 2021/22, is mainly 
attributable to a significant recovery in operational activity 
as the COVID-19 restrictions were eased. 

Increased research funding expenditure of 14%, from 
R2 127m to R2 422m, is attributed to the National Equipment 
Programme as this funding is received every alternate 
year and thus was not included in 2020/21. Spending 
lags experienced during the hard lockdown recovered in 
2021/22, mainly within bursaries and scholarships, with an 
increase of approximately R190m.

Capital expenditure increased by R291m in 2021/22 as 
spending aligned to delivery on the SAIF 70 MeV cyclotron 
and the MeerKAT extension project ramped up. The key 
drivers of infrastructure expenditure during the reporting 
period are attributed to projects such as the MeerKAT 
extension and fibre tender rollout by SANReN at SARAO, 
the SARIR projects at SAEON and the SAIF project at 
iThemba LABS. 

To ensure operational and financial sustainability, the NRF 
overheads expenditure has been contained below the 10% 
threshold, with a significant decrease from 9.5% In 202/21 
to 7.9% In 2021/22. 

Capacity challenges 

National skills shortages are experienced in attracting and 
retaining skilled Human Resources due to the competitive 

CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER’S OVERVIEW
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search for talent within the skills market. As a result of the 
reduced budget, remuneration strategies for attracting and 
retaining skilled Human Resources could not be deployed. 
A major concern remains the challenge of meeting 
transformation targets and ensuring that succession pools 
are sufficiently diverse to ensure the sustainability of 
diversity and inclusion. This is partly due to the inability to 
fill scarce skills vacancies and continue to replace exits in 
such a manner as to achieve demographic representivity, 
as is intended. 

Virements/ rollovers

The NRF ended the year with unspent funds amounting to 
R7.27m against an overall income of R4.5 billion. These 
funds are fully committed against purchase orders issued 
before 31 March 2022. 

Supply Chain Management 

The NRF has a Supply Chain Management Policy in 
place and established systems and processes to manage 
procurement services within the organisation. These include 
functional bid committees, training of SCM practitioners, a 
mechanism to manage conflict of interest in procurement 
processes and annual declaration conducted by SCM 
practitioners. With the South African Constitutional Court 
judgement to invalidate the 2017 Preferential Procurement 
Regulations, the NRF Corporate Executive put an exemption 
application to the Minister of Finance in consultation with the 
Department of Science and Innovation, which was granted. 

The 2021/22 Procurement Plan had a total of 54 bids 
(including bids above R500k but below R1m) with a total 
estimated value of R254m. As at the end of March 2022, 
44 of the 54 procurement plan projects were executed 
(amounting to a total value of R244m), representing an 
81% implementation rate of the procurement plan projects 
and 96% spent of the total estimated value of planned 
projects. 

Audit report matters 

The Auditor-General (AG) expressed an unqualified audit 
opinion in the prior year with no findings.

Acknowledgements and appreciation 

I would like to express my gratitude to the Board, Executive 
Management and all staff of the National Research 
Foundation, and the Research Community at large for 
their commitment and effort in implementing the NRF 
Strategy 2025 and other organisational plans and strategic 
initiatives. Further appreciation goes to the administrative 
leadership of the Department of Science and Innovation for 
their support in realising the priorities of government and 
those of the NRF as outlined in the NRF Act 23 of 1998 (as 
amended). 

Dr Fulufhelo Nelwamondo
Chief Executive Officer 
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STATEMENT OF RESPONSIBILITY AND CONFIRMATION OF 
ACCURACY FOR  THE ANNUAL REPORT
To the best of my knowledge and belief, I confirm the following:

All information and amounts disclosed in the Annual Report are consistent with the Annual Financial Statements 
audited by the Auditor-General.

The Annual Report is complete, accurate and free from any omissions.

The Annual Report has been prepared in accordance with the guidelines on the Annual Report as issued  by National 
Treasury.

The Annual  Financial Statements (Part E) have been prepared in accordance with the Standards applicable to the public 
entity.

The Accounting Authority is responsible for the preparation of the Annual Financial Statements and the judgements made 
on this information.

The Accounting Authority is responsible for establishing and implementing a system of internal control that has been 
designed to provide reasonable assurance as to the integrity and reliability of the Performance Information, the Human 
Resources information and the Annual Financial Statements.

The external auditors are engaged to express an independent opinion on the Annual Financial Statements.

In our opinion, the Annual Report fairly reflects the operations, the Performance Information, the Human Resources 
information, and the Financial Affairs of the public entity for the financial year ended 31 March 2022.

Yours faithfully

Dr Fulufhelo Nelwamondo
Chief Executive Officer  
Date: July 2022

Dr Nompumelelo Obokoh
Chairperson of the NRF Board  
Date: July 2022
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Passion for excellence

Respect

World Class-Service

Ethics and integrity

Accountability

People-centred

Figure 1: NRF values 

1. STRATEGIC OVERVIEW

VISION

The NRF’s strategic vision is that of knowledge 
and research being at the epicenter of national 
development. It is about a knowledge and research 
enterprise whose products and effects bring about 
the advancement of the frontiers of knowledge, 
improve the quality of life for the people of our country, 
improve the competitiveness of strategic sectors and 
industries of our economy, provide for better protection 
and preservation of our national natural heritage, and 
lead to the elevation of the technological base of our 
country. All of these are done to bring about a better 
society through research. 

“RESEARCH FOR A 
BETTER SOCIETY.”

MISSION
As per its statutory mandate, the NRF’s raison d’ȇtre is: 

“TO ENABLE AND FACILITATE THE 
CONTRIBUTION OF KNOWLEDGE 
AND SCIENTIFIC RESEARCH TO 

NATIONAL DEVELOPMENT.”

VALUES

The NRF values reflect the organisation’s core ethical 
code and principles. They are espoused values that 
inspire employees to embrace the NRF’s aspirations of 
a workplace that represents NRF institutional culture. 
The NRF values support its long-term strategic direction 
and the critical success factors for the knowledge 
enterprise being, transformation, impact, excellence and 
sustainability. 
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2.  LEGISLATIVE AND OTHER MANDATES

The NRF was established in 1998, through the National 
Research Foundation Act (Act no. 23 of 1998, as amended) 
as a schedule 3A Public Entity in terms of the PFMA. The 
context within which the NRF functions is informed by 
various strategic frameworks, legislation, policies and plans. 
Amongst these are those that outline developmental priorities 
for the nation, and in particular for the Higher Education, 
Science and Innovation sector in the medium to long term. 
The objectives and priorities relevant to the NRF’s mandate, 
planning and priorities, are discussed below.

National Research Foundation Act (Act 23 of 1998 
as amended)

The National Research Foundation Act, 1998 (Act 23 
of 1998 as amended) established the NRF in 1998, and 
outlines the NRF’s latest object, prescribing its primary goal 
as “to contribute to national development by”: 

a) supporting, promoting and advancing research and 
Human Capacity Development, through funding and 
the provision of the necessary research infrastructure, 
to facilitate the creation of knowledge, innovation and 
development in all fields of Science and Technology, 
including humanities, social sciences and indigenous 
knowledge; 

b) developing, supporting and maintaining National 
Research Facilities; 

c) supporting and promoting public awareness of, and 
engagement with, science; and 

d) promoting the development and maintenance of the 
National Science System and support of government 
priorities. 

National Development Plan: Vision 2030 

The central intention of the National Development Plan 
(NDP) is the achievement of economic well-being for all 
South Africans. It aims to reduce poverty, unemployment 
and inequality by 2030 and identifies the knowledge 
economy and Science, Technology and Innovation (STI) as 
among the primary drivers of economic growth, job creation 
and socio-economic reform. The NDP also outlines the 
need to improve the relationship between government, 
industry and the knowledge enterprise.

White Paper on Science, Technology and 
Innovation 2019 

The White Paper on Science Technology and Innovation 
(WPSTI) places STI at the centre of South Africa’s 
development agenda. It recognises rapid technological 
advances internationally and the need for South Africa 
to position itself in responding to these developments. It 
advocates for the adoption of the principles of open science 
to grow the STI outputs and impact. The White Paper 
acknowledges the country’s achievements over the past 
decades but notes the need to accelerate the transformation 
of the knowledge enterprise to achieve an inclusive science 
system that is responsive and innovative. It prioritises the 
need to increase investment and expansion of the research 
system and to promote partnerships among universities, 
society, industry and government to ensure a cohesive 
National System of Innovation (NSI). It emphasises the 
need to transform the NSI towards improving its contribution 
to the realisation of socio-economic benefits through an 
increased focus on the translation of knowledge outputs 
into products and services by advancing innovation.

 
White Paper on Post-school Education and 
Training, 2013 

The White Paper on Post-school Education and Training 
(WP-PSET) advances priorities in the post-school 
education sector, including the expansion of the variety and 
number of post-school opportunities available to the youth. 
It advances diversity, quality education, expanded access 
to postgraduate education, research and researcher 
advancement. It also aims to rebalance the number 
of students between the TVET and Higher Education 
Institutions (HEIs). Through the DSI-NRF Postgraduate 
Student Funding Policy, the NRF will advance access, 
success and throughput of postgraduate students. 

White Paper 3: A Programme for the 
Transformation of Higher Education, 1997 

White Paper 3 emphasises a holistic approach to 
transformation and the need to balance the transformation 
imperative with the need for expansion and development. 
It advances higher education and research sector that is 
responsive to the needs of a democratic society and an 
inclusive economy. In addition, White Paper 3 recognises 
the importance of countering the isolation of the university 
sector during the apartheid period through international 
partnerships and internationalisation.



 NRF Annual Report 2021/22 9

Policies and Other Mandates

Macro-policies and strategies of government developed 
by sector departments, including those in Higher 
Education, Science and Innovation, health, minerals, 
energy, agriculture, environment, water, and industrial 
development, are all crucial to the function and work of 
the NRF. Specifically, the Department of Higher Education 
and Training (DHET) and the Department of Science and 
Innovation (DSI) have developed and implemented several 
strategies and policies to guide the development of the 
science system.

Aligned to the DSI and DHET  policy and strategy mandates, 
the NRF through its various initiatives contributed to 
the achievement of DSI strategy outcomes emanating 
from various policies such as the Strategy for Human 
Capacity Development (HCD) for Research, Innovation 
and Scholarships, the Staffing South Africa’s Universities 
Framework, the Science Engagement Strategy, the 
Research Outputs Policy and the Ministerial Guidelines for 
improving equity and the distribution of DSI/ NRF bursaries 
and fellowships. Globally, the NRF also contributed to the 
African Union Agenda 2063, Science Technology and 
Innovation Strategy for Africa (STISA) 2024 and the United 
Nations Sustainable Development Goals (SDGs). 

The Presidential Commission on the Fourth 
Industrial Revolution (PC4IR) Report 

The PC4IR report provides a common understanding of 
key features of the 4IR and their intersections with South 
Africa’s current socio-economic standing and constraints. 
The 4IR is recognised as a developmental pathway 
towards alleviating the current socio-economic challenges 
of unemployment, poverty, and inequality. The report also 
alludes to the impact of 4IR on the shifts in the demand 
for high-end skills which will require the adaptation of the 
current Human Capacity Development programmes. The 
commercialisation of these technologies requires some 
degree of government coordination to develop regulations 
that ensure ethical conduct of 4IR actors to protect the 
public and build confidence in the rapid and sustained 
adoption thereof. Through the SARChI programmes, 
special efforts have been made to encourage participation 
in underrepresented research areas of national importance 
and strategic interest, such as the Fourth Industrial 
Revolution (4IR). A Scopus analysis of South African 
publications on the 4IR was conducted as input into the 
Technological Higher Education Network South Africa 
(THENSA) conference during March 2022.
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3. ORGANISATIONAL STRUCTURE
The NRF is organised into four Programmes namely: Administration, Science Engagement, Research and Innovation Support and Advancement (RISA), and National Research 
Infrastructure Platforms (NRIP). The Programmes work in a matrix fashion to deliver on the organisation`s core mandate. Figure 2 below is a representation of the NRF’s 
organisational structure, which also reflects the leadership and governance structures responsible for the accountability and integrity of the organisation.

Figure 2: High-level Organisational Structure of the NRF

Vuyo Mkwaqa
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1. AUDITOR’S REPORT: PREDETERMINED OBJECTIVES

The Auditor-General of South Africa (AGSA) currently 
performs the necessary audit procedures on the 
performance information to provide reasonable assurance 
in the form of an audit conclusion. The audit conclusion 
on the performance against predetermined objectives is 
included in the report to management, with no findings being 

reported under the Predetermined Objectives heading 
in the Report on other legal and regulatory requirements 
section of the auditor’s report.

Refer to pages 66 to 69 of the Auditors Report, published as 
Part E: Financial Information.

2. OVERVIEW OF PERFORMANCE

2.1 Service delivery environment

The NRF performed within the environment of various 
changes of the COVID-19 regulations from alert level 3 
to alert level 1 during the period under review. Under the 
COVID-19 pandemic-related lockdowns, there has been 
a significant reduction in global engagements, Science 
Engagement activities and research-related activities. This 
has had a significant impact- negative and positive on the 
operations of the NRF and subsequently the achievement 
of some of the annual targets outlined in the 2021/22  
Annual Performance Plan.

The responses to the gradual lifting of the restrictions during 
the financial year were inadequate for the achievement of 
2021/22 performance targets related to the following areas:

• Lower uptake on various instruments that fund 
mobility such as Knowledge Interchange and 
Collaborations (KIC), the Conference Fund and 
Incentive Funding and lower uptake of Postdoctoral 
Fellowships, BAAP and nGAP development grants 
and Research Equipment due to the ongoing 
pandemic and restricted international travel.

• Lags in the tender processes for the procurement 
of equipment for the NEP at institutions and some 
budget reductions of R2 000 000 (2021/22); R17 000 
000 (2022/23); R12 000 000 (2023/24) and R4 000 
000 (2024/25).  

• Limitations in the research usage of the research 
platforms such as the Separated Sector Cyclotron 
(SSC) resulted in a lower number of users, due to 
less than anticipated available beamtime which had 
to be reprioritised for the production of radioisotopes 
for nuclear medical applications.

• Rescheduled the 2021 examination dates for the 
National Science Olympiads from May/June to 
September and October 2021.

• Disruption of interventions that required in-person 
interactions, especially in the Science Engagement 
and the Administration Programmes.

• Late registrations of students at HEIs, resulting in 
uptake backlogs and higher carry forward of funds 
although committed. 

In response to the impact of COVID-19 related restrictions, 
delivery channels were switched to the most affordable and 
effective online or hybrid-based alternatives.  In some cases, 
this led to overachievement in the number of beneficiaries 
reached for Science Engagement. The organisation will 
continuously evaluate and redesign the interventions for this 
delivery channel to close effectiveness gaps.  Some RIPs, 
such as telescopes have been adapted for an increased 
remotely controlled operation to ensure continued delivery 
of service to the Research Community. 

The prolonged intermitted load shedding continues to 
affect the availability of the RIPs and other workspaces.  The 
negative impacts of this were mitigated by the installation 
of alternative energy sources such as generators and 
photovoltaic panels within funding means and where feasible.

The geopolitical events in the last quarter of the financial 
year will have an impact on international science relations 
due to the hostile polarising positions of major economies.  
The NRF will adapt its relationships to ensure the delivery 
of its mandate and alignment of the applicable national 
international relations policies and positions. 

The continued negative outlook for both national and global 
economic, bouts for fewer prospects of an increase in the 
GERD for the MTEF period. Competing developmental 
priorities are expected to become more challenging and 
demands for science and research to deliver solutions at 
short notice will intensify. NRF will need to explore and 
realise new sources of income by beneficiating and commer-
cialising its intellectual property and fostering collaborations 
with like-minded research and innovation funders.
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2.2. Organisational environment

The NRF continued to implement its Strategy 2025 during 
the 2021/22 financial year. A reflection on the progress 
towards its five-year outcomes and the overall strategic 
direction, in line with WP STI 2019 and its STI Decadal 
Plan was undertaken.  The impact of COVID-19 on the 
economy and the operations and financial position of 
the organisation were also considered.  This resulted in 
changes to performance indicators and constant changes 
in targets for the past three years including the reporting 
period.  However, no changes were made to the constitution 
of the NRF Board during the reporting period. 

The NRF assessed its operational capacity to discharge its 
newly acquired legislative mandate for Science Engagement 
and its assigned role as coordinator of Science Engagement 
across the DSI public entities. To this end, the operational 
model centred around SAASTA was completed during the 
period under review and is planned for implementation from 
the 2022/23 financial year. 

On the business operational side, the organisation 
improved an Enterprise Resource Planning (ERP) system 
which supports Business Units within the NRF through the 
D365 system. While rolled out in a phased approach since 
2020, the system led to the introduction and improvement 
of various modules including:

• Employee Self Service for various HR-related 
activities; 

• Introduction of the NRF Connect platform to support 
the grants management business processes for 
postgraduate student and researcher funding; and 

• The development and testing of the budget control 
module on ERP to go live in April 2022. 

The budget and organisational planning of the organisation 
was finalised during quarter 4 of the financial year. This 
followed various consultations and engagements with the 
DSI on MTEF budget and policy priorities in the preceding 
quarters (Quarters 1 to 4) through various DSI-NRF 
bilaterals. These processes resulted in the development 
and approval of the NRF 2021/22 Annual Performance 
Plan and 2022 NRF budget detailed in the 2022 Estimates 
of National Expenditure. 

Protection of Personal Information Act (POPIA) came into 
effect on 1 July 2021. In response, the NRF developed a 
POPI Policy and POPIA Compliance Framework.  

2.3. Key policy developments and legislative 
changes

None. 
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3. PROGRESS TOWARDS ACHIEVEMENT OF INSTITUTIONAL 
IMPACTS AND OUTCOMES

Table 1: Contribution of the NRF to MTSF and DSI outcomes 

MTSF Priorities for 
2021 of relevance to 
NRF 

DSI-led/ supported in-
terventions/ indicators 
across outcomes 
(relevant to NRF ).

NRF contribution Status for 2021/22

Improve competitiveness 
through Information 
Communication and 
Technology (ICT)-(Linked 
to Priority 2:  Economic 
transformation and 
job creation).

Increased expenditure in R&D. The NRF investments 
in SAIF, innovation and 
attraction of global and 
industry funding for 
research infrastructure 
and related Human 
Capacity Development 
contribute to this outcome.

Developed a 
proposed Income 
Diversification 
Framework.

Number of PhD students 
awarded bursaries 
through NRF and DSI.

Postgraduate student 
funding that aims at 
high throughput and 
progression of students. 

DSI-NRF Postgraduate 
Student Policy had its first 
cohort of students during 
the 2021 academic year. 
The NRF reports on funded 
students and students 
completing qualifications 
at honours, masters, 
and doctoral levels.

Expand access to 
post-school education 
and training opportunities 
(Linked to Priority 
3: Education, skills 
and health).

Number of pipeline 
post-graduate students 
awarded bursaries 
through NRF and DSI.

Overall, the NRF is on course for its five-year strategic 
journey of realising outcomes set in its Strategic Plan for 
the MTSF period 2021 to 2025.  The discussion of progress 
status is outlined below and organised per Strategy 2025 
outcomes. 

Outcome 1: A transformed, internationally 
competitive and sustainable research workforce 

The throughput of the pipeline for Human Capacity 
Development from postgraduate students to established 
researchers is critical for the expansion of the research 
workforce. NRF Strategy 2025 sets an outcome performance 
target for a profile of NRF-funded postgraduate students 
who have completed their studies at Black 80% and 

Women at 55% for 2024/25 from a 2018 baseline of Black 
74% and Women 54%. 

During the period under review, the NRF continued with 
the implementation of the DSI-NRF Postgraduate Student 
Funding policy. The policy ensures that more funding 
and support is made available to the students that come 
from low-income households to improve their prospects 
for success. While the overall number of funded students 
shows a negative step change due to the implementation 
of the new funding policy, this is not expected to affect 
the overall graduation profile because of an increased 
per capita allocation to students from designated groups.  
A collaborative partnership was established during the 
2021/22 financial year between the NRF and the National 
Student Financial Aid Scheme (NSFAS) to increase access 

The NRF Strategic Plan 2021 to 2025 is anchored on four 
strategic pillars: transformation, impact, excellence and 
sustainability (TIES). The pillars provide a strategic lens 
through which the strategic direction of the organisation 
is pursued to realise the aim of contributing to national 
development. The impact statement of the NRF for the 
MTSF period is “national development enabled through 

advancing, promoting and supporting research”. To achieve 
this impact, the organisation identified four outcomes which 
will be used to set performance priorities for the MTSF 
period. Table 1 provides an overview of how the NRF 
contributes to the outcomes and targets in the revised 
MTSF 2019-2024, as follows:
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to funding opportunities for postgraduate students and 
improve the efficiency of processing applications. 

Researchers constitute the critical component of the 
high-end human capital that drives the knowledge 
enterprise and enables innovation that fuels sustainable 
socio-economic development. An inclusive and diverse 
research workforce will provide for improved diagnosis of 
societal problems and knowledge gaps and improvement 
in the efficacy of solutions proposed by research outputs. 
NRF Strategy 2025 sets an outcome performance target 
for a profile of funded researchers producing outputs at 
Black 31% and Women 33% for 2024/25 from a baseline 
of Black 48% and Women 42%. 

Most researchers from designated groups are in the early 
or emerging researcher categories with limited capacity 
for producing research outputs.  To transform the equity 
profiles of the South African research workforce, the NRF’s 
investment in emerging researchers focuses on South 
African citizens who are Black and Women researchers. 
Only South African citizens and permanent residents 
are eligible for funding under the Thuthuka and nGAP 
research development grants, and the Black Academics 
Advancement Programme (BAAP) is reserved for South 
African citizens. The expenditure of grants for Postdoctoral 
Fellowships, Thuthuka, and BAAP was considerably 
higher, with 90%, 96% and 95% of awardees having 
expensed their grant. Of the postdoctoral fellows who 
are South African citizens and permanent residents, who 
claimed funds, 70% are Black and 54% are Women. 
Thuthuka grantholders comprised 75% Black and 61% 
Women, while BAAP grantholders were entirely Black and 
61% Women. The nGAP also had a high proportion of 
Black grantholders (96%).

To further improve the transformation of the research 
workforce NRF continues to develop and implement 
innovative programmes. In 2021/22 the following progress 
in contribution to the achievement of this outcome was 
registered:

• The Equality, Diversity and Inclusion (EDI) 
Framework for the research enterprise was finalised 
in February 2022 and will now be taken through 
internal and external consultations in preparation 
for implementation in 2022/23.  The EDI Framework 
aims to advance equity of opportunity and 
intersectional gender-transformative grant-making 
and research as developed by science councils, 
research funders or related institutions, both locally 
and internationally.

• The Leading Researchers and Scholars Programme 
(LRSP) was developed in consultation with the 
DSI and the call for applications by the first cohort is 
expected to go out during 2022/23. The LRSP aims 
to create a sustainable intervention that accelerates 
the career progression of exceptional early, mid and 
advanced career researchers and scholars to become 
LRS in all fields of research and disciplines.

• Major agreements have been finalised or renewed in 
support of high-end Human Capacity Development, 
including with Fullbright, The German Academic 
Exchange Centre (DAAD), and the Canadian Mitacs 
for industry-related research and exposure.

Outcome 2: Enhanced impact of the research 
enterprise

There is increasing demand for accountability on 
investment of public funds due to the intensity of competition 
for available resources in a tough economic climate.  In 
response to this development, which is global, the NRF 
sets an outcome performance targets for the following 
outcome indicators:

• Entrenchment of knowledge and societal impacts in 
excellent research supported by the NRF.

• Inclusive support of all domains of science.

• Evidence-based decision-making to enhance the 
impact of the research enterprise.

Entrenchment of knowledge and societal impacts

The NRF Strategy 2025 sets a target of establishing 
a portfolio of excellent, NRF-supported research, with 
research projects or programmes with documented sound 
ex-ante and ex-post knowledge and societal impact. 
This requires that impact is planned for at the application 
process and forms part of reviews, is monitored during the 
research process and that evaluations are conducted after 
the delivery of research outputs to determine longer-term 
outcomes and impact.

The NRF developed the Framework to Advance The 
Societal and Knowledge Impact of Research through 
an inclusive process that included participation by 
stakeholders across the NSI. The Framework outlines 
how the NRF, through its core mandate areas, can best 
advance the impact of research. For this purpose, i) a con-
text-relevant definition of impact is provided; ii) high-level 
impact pathways are outlined within the NRF’s areas of 
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control, influence and interest; and iii) types of assessment 
are explored at a conceptual level.

The impact focus in the short-term will be to advance 
research impact literacy, both within the NRF and 
externally. A consolidated NRF Impact Implementation 
Plan was completed at the end of 2021/22 for execution 
from 2022/23. The NRF Implementation Plan includes 
programme and Business Unit-specific implementation 
plans, outlining the necessary changes to business 
processes required, as well as unpacking the process of 
development and implementation of ex-anti and ex-post 
impact indicators and assessment methodologies.

Evidence-based decision-making 

The outcome indicator target for 2024/25 is improved 
organisational and NSI analytics and its use in strategic 
decision-making against the baseline of decision-making 
based on limited internal capacity. The NRF , supported 
by the DSI, is currently designing the Research and 
Development Information Platform (RDIP). The RDIP will 
provide research enterprise information that can be used to 
support strategy development and management deci-
sion-making. This will enable evidence-based 
decision-making and advance the contribution to national 
development. A draft RDIP Needs Analysis Report 
was developed at the end of 2021/22 and is ready for 
discussions with external stakeholders regarding data 
provisioning and sharing. Funding for the RDIP has been 
secured.

Outcome 3: Enhanced impact of Science 
Engagement

In addition to the Science Engagement activities for 
popularisation of science and STEMI education and 
career support for learners, the aim is to shift the Science 
Engagement Programme towards a strategic direction 
that has a key focus on growing the Science Engagement 
portfolio to include support and promotion of engaged 
research for greater societal impact. The NRF will continue 
to execute its science engagement activities in alignment 
with the DSI Science Engagement Strategy, while 
gradually working towards the mainstreaming of Science 
Engagement in the research enterprise by 2024/25 as per 
NRF Strategy 2025. 

Key to achieving this strategic outcome is the internal 
capability for coordination across the NRF Business Units 
to ensure delivery against the updated legislative mandate 

of the NRF and coordination across the NSI in line with 
the assigned responsibility through the DSI Science 
Engagement Strategy.

The two key initiatives led by the NRF that contribute to the 
achievement of this outcome are:

• Engaged Research Framework. 

• A fit-for-purpose capability for Science Engagement.

Engaged Research Framework

The Engaged Research Framework, which was initially 
consulted during the 2021 calendar year, was adopted by 
the NRF Board in March 2022. The Framework provides for 
an ongoing process of embedding Science Engagement 
more holistically within NRF programmes and enabling 
engaged scholarship which produces co-created, self-re-
flective knowledge and new formations of community in the 
process.

A fit-for-purpose capability for Science 
Engagement

In pursuit of creating an internal fit-for-purpose capability for 
Science Engagement, an operating model for NRF-SAASTA 
was developed and supported by the DSI before the end 
of 2021/22. The operating model articulates SAASTA’s 
envisioned mode of delivery to its stakeholders. The new 
capability will also include enhanced business processes; 
systems, especially for information management; as well 
as capacity and capability that will ensure more effective 
coordination of Science Engagement across the DSI 
entities and in collaboration with a network of STEMI 
partners.

Outcome 4: A transformed organisation that lives 
its culture and values 

This outcome envisions the remaking of the organisation to 
become a fit-for-purpose organisation that is transformed, 
coherent, learning organisation that strives for excellence 
through its lived organisational culture. A supportive and 
high-performing organisational culture is essential for 
strategic delivery. NRF Strategy 2025 diagnosed the need 
for a fit-for-purpose structure, business processes and 
technology systems to enable the organisation to deliver 
strategic and excellent service. Key focus areas for this 
outcome are:
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• Representation of designated groups in leadership, 
management and supervisory (peromnes 1-7) 
occupational levels.

• Advancing an inclusive and enabling a learning 
organisation.

• A co-created culture enhancing high performance 
and service excellence.

Representation of designated groups in 
leadership

NRF Strategy 2025 sets the performance target for Women 
at 38% and for Black at 55% by 2024/25 against a baseline 
of 26.7% Women and 45.8% Black.  Progress for 2021/22 
on the related indicator that includes all Black employees 
and Women is, 49% Black and 30% Women.  The efforts 
of appointing staff from designated groups (86.4%) into 
the organisation are however still being eroded by the staff 
turnover of designated groups (63.0%). In the period under 
review, the overall representation of Black staff stands at 
72.5% against a target of 72.7%. 

Inclusive, enabling and learning organisation

The organisational culture survey results included 
dimensions that addressed elements of an inclusive and 
enabling learning organisation, thereby setting a baseline. 
The key initiatives to improve the results and progress 
status is outlined below.

• Provide lifelong learning support and 
opportunities to employees for development 
to meet the organisation’s talent requirements: 
Fifty five (55) employees have been enrolled 
in the various NRF Management Development 
Programmes (MDP) offered by the University of 
Stellenbosch (USB). 

 The Future Managers Development Programme 
(FMDP) has the highest number of enrolments this 
year with twenty one (21) and the New to Managers 
Development Programme (NMDP) with twenty five 
(25). 

• Improve governance, business systems and 
internal controls: The implementation of the 
Enterprise Resource Planning (ERP) project is 
delivered against a milestone schedule as agreed 
between the NRF and Decision Inc. The NRF 
Connect, a grant management module which is the 
first business operations system was added to the 
ERP suite of functionalities. 

• Fit-for-purpose structure: An updated top 
management structure has been approved and the 
skills audit process is underway.

A co-created culture enhancing high performance 
and service excellence

The five-year target is set as an improvement on the 
culture survey results by 2024/25 against the baseline 
survey’s results. During 2021/22 the culture transformation 
journey kicked off through an organisational culture 
assessment to position the organisation for the delivery 
of its Strategy 2025 as part of Vision 2030. Based on 
the results, the NRF overall culture can be regarded as 
favourable. Areas of opportunities for improvement and 
areas identified as negative and/or missing dimensions 
of the NRF culture include accountability, diversity and 
inclusion at an organisational level, change management, 
collaboration, and leadership (which includes the views of 
the ONE NRF).  The culture change programme will be 
developed and implemented next MTEF period to improve 
on the organisational culture. 
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4. INSTITUTIONAL 
PROGRAMME PERFORMANCE 
INFORMATION
The strategic direction of the NRF is implemented through 
four budget programmes that enable organisation-wide 
coordination and consolidation of steering, monitoring 
and control of execution and achievements against 
commitments.  The four programmes are as follows: 

• Programme 1: Administration. 

• Programme 2: Science Engagement.

• Programme 3: Research and Innovation Support 
and Advancement (RISA).

• Programme 4: National Research Infrastructure 
Platforms (NRIP).

4.1 OVERVIEW OF THE BUDGET 
PROGRAMME STRUCTURE

PROGRAMME 1: ADMINISTRATION

Programme 1 comprises shared services functions and 
systemic enterprise-wide coordination capabilities to 
achieve synergies, shared systems for economies of scale, 
and strategic direction services. The frugal, yet optimal and 
efficient, design of this programme is necessary, especially 
in this phase of the national economic cycle, where 
resources are scarce and the needs are too numerous 
for the available resources. Programme 1 comprises the 
following divisions:

• Strategy, Planning and Partnerships;

• Corporate Relations and Communication; 

• Finance and Business Systems; and

• Human Resources and Legal Services. 

Strategy, Planning and Partnerships (SPP)

The purpose of Strategy, Planning and Partnerships (SPP) 
is to inform and lead the development of organisational 
strategy, leverage additionally to advance the mandate 
of the organisation and be the authoritative source of 
organisational and system intelligence. 

Finance and Business Systems (FBS)

The Finance and Business Systems (FBS) is a cross-cutting 
corporate function. The division provides a shared services 
function across the NRF and largely draws its mandate from 
the Public Finance Management Act (PFMA, Act 1 of 1999, 
as amended) by ensuring that the NRF has and maintains 
effective, efficient, and transparent systems of financial 
management and proper internal controls that warrant the 
most economical and transparent use of the resources.

Human Resources and Legal Services (HR&LS)

The purpose of this division is to facilitate a conducive, 
attractive, inclusive, and integrated transformed work 
environment where employees thrive and achieve not only 
excellence in their performance outputs but also a sense of 
career fulfilment, engagement, and total quality of work life.

Corporate Relations and Communication (CRC)

The purpose of Corporate Relations and Communication is 
to manage the public image of the organisation to ensure 
that it retains its legitimacy as a reliable public entity that 
delivers on its legislative mandate. The Corporate Relations 
and Communication division strategically and operationally 
contributes to the achievement of the NRF’s strategic 
objectives through the development and execution of 
corporate and research communication policies, strategies 
and programmes.

Contribution to Strategy 2025 Outcomes

The four divisions of Programme 1 provide for the governance 
and organisation-wide management infrastructure used to 
lead and coordinate the execution of NRF Strategy 2025, 
implement organisational policies, drive organisational 
performance and advance the development of ethical 
organisational culture. These divisions primarily contribute 
to outcomes 3 and 4 of Strategy 2025, namely:  enhanced 
impact of the research enterprise and a transformed 
organisation that lives its culture and values.

A transformed organisation that lives its culture and 
values

• Advance appropriate funding models that minimise 
uncertainty and improve performance

• Continuously improving enterprise-wide processes to 
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ensure ethical culture, organisational effectiveness, 
improved performance and growing legitimacy 
among its stakeholders.

• Develop enterprise architecture, business processes 
and information technologies.

• Interventions to develop required workplace skills 
for employees and provide lifelong learning.

• An organisation-wide review of the structure to 
ensure optimal performance and fitness for purpose 
will be pursued.

• Develop sustainable, diverse and inclusive NRF 
succession pools to achieve employment equity 
targets, as well as gender diversity in senior decision 
-making positions.

Enhanced Impact of the Research Enterprise

• Create opportunities for students/researchers to 
access international and industry partners;

• Develop and operationalise the Research 
Development Information Portal (RDIP) according 
to an approved conceptual framework.

• Develop policies/frameworks and strategies to 
advance the NRF mandate. 

• Implement a portfolio of corporate communication 
interventions that engage the public on NRF-funded 
research.  

PROGRAMME 2: SCIENCE ENGAGEMENT

This Programme focuses on Science Engagement with 
the main function to lead and coordinate the discourse 
on science with and for society in support of the national 
imperative of developing a scientifically literate society and 
strengthening the relationship between science and society 
as aligned with the NRF Strategy 2025 and Vision 2030, 
focused on “research that works for society” to improve 
the quality of life for all South Africans through advancing 
research, science, technology and innovation.

The Science Engagement mandate applies across 
the organisation, with the expectation that all Business 
Units in the NRF will contribute meaningfully to Science 
Engagement, with SAASTA leading as coordinator to 
ensure that the NRF supports and promotes public 
awareness of, and engagement with science. 

Science Engagement is advanced and carried out by all 
NRF Business Units, inclusive of National Facilities and 
RISA. The following are the key focus areas for contribution 
to NRF Strategy 2025.

• Embedding engaged research promotes and 
facilitates meaningful interactions of researchers/
scientists with various stakeholder communities 
to enhance research excellence and contribute to 
sustainable development. The NRF will implement 
the Engaged Research Framework to advance the 
relationship between science and society.

• Public and private sector relations for 
development advance the formation/creation and 
strengthening of relationships between the public 
and the private sectors in the endeavour to promote 
a more effective interface between science and 
society.

• Enabling public access to research and science 
engagement infrastructure ensures that the 
Research Infrastructure of Science Councils, 
research facilities; universities, etc is made available 
to the publics as Science Engagement platforms for 
the benefit of society.

• Support for the development of STEMI education 
provision of support to the education sector to 
improve STEMI participation and performance and 
human capital development in these critical areas.

• Building Science Engagement capacity and 
capability development of Science Engagement 
skills and capacity for meaningful and impactful 
Science Engagement, among researchers, media, 
science communicators and other stakeholders.  These 
capabilities include the internal NRF organisational 
ability for effective coordination of Science Engagement 
in the NRF and across the NSI.

PROGRAMME 3: RESEARCH AND INNOVATION 
SUPPORT AND ADVANCEMENT (RISA)

The core purpose of Programme 3 is to give effect to the 
mandate of the NRF as described in the NRF Act, (Act 23 
of 1998, as amended). The purpose of the programme is 
to support, promote and advance research and Human 
Capacity Development, through funding, to facilitate the 
creation of knowledge, innovation and development in all 
fields of science and technology, including humanities, 
social sciences and indigenous knowledge. The business of 
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Programme 3 is informed by a range of national government 
policies, strategies, and priorities, including the Strategy for 
HCD for Research, Innovation and Scholarships, and the 
DSI-NRF Postgraduate Students Funding Policy.

The programme scope of work is organised through four 
funding domains that lead and coordinate service delivery 
execution across all the Business Units of the NRF.

• Human and Infrastructure Capacity Development 
(HICD): development of research capabilities of 
individuals and research institutions by supporting 
Human Capacity Development interventions and 
acquisition of and access to research infrastructure. 

• Knowledge Advancement and Support (KAS): 
advances and supports knowledge production and 
application through funding and other interventions

• Research Chairs and Centres of Excellence 
(RCCE): manages two strategic funding instruments, 
viz. the South African Research Chairs Initiative 
(SARChl)  and the Centres of Excellence (CoEs) 
programmes. The primary aim of the SARChI is to 
strengthen and improve South Africa’s international 
competitiveness in research and innovation. The 
CoEs enable researchers to collaborate across 
disciplines and institutions on long-term projects that 
are locally relevant and internationally competitive.

PROGRAMME 4: NATIONAL RESEARCH 
INFRASTRUCTURE PLATFORMS (NRIP)

The National Research Infrastructure Platforms (NRIP) 
division of the NRF is the organisational structural home 
of Programme 4, the purpose of which is to provide 
leading-edge Research Infrastructure Platforms in support 
of knowledge generation, innovation, Science Engagement 
and Human Capacity Development. This is done to ensure 
that the national research enterprise has the requisite 
infrastructure to undertake globally competitive discovery 
science, train the next generation of researchers, support 
engagement with science by and with the public and 
promote innovation that positively impacts society, the 
environment, and the economy. 

The programme, as a central locus for research 
infrastructure provision for the research enterprise by the 

NRF has the following operational objectives:

• Develop, support and maintain National Research 
Infrastructure Platforms across domains, including 
e-infrastructures (e-research and data platforms). 

• Facilitate researcher access to world-class national 
and global research infrastructures. 

• Lead the NRF’s agency role as implementer of the 
country’s participation in inter-governmental and 
multilateral research infrastructures. 

• Promote and support research infrastructure 
networks and dialogues. 

• Benchmark National Research Infrastructure 
Platforms. 

• Contribute to making available competitively 
accessed grants for the acquisition, upgrade, or 
development of state-of-the-art research equipment 
to South African public research institutions. 

• Contribute to the growth of a representative 
research workforce by providing support to 
students and emerging researchers in the form 
of access to Research Infrastructure Platforms 
to conduct research; provision of academic and 
career supervision by researchers supported with 
resources allocated to and/or raised by NRIP as well 
as financial support in the form of scholarships, cost 
of access to required local and international research 
platforms and related networks, allowances, etc.

• Contribute to a more scientifically literate and 
engaged society through facilitating access to 
research and Science Engagement infrastructure 
by the public.

Programme 4 is operationally organised into Business 
Units, each of which is a declared National Research 
Facility or is in the process of being declared as such. Each 
National Facility consists of research platforms dedicated 
for use by researchers and for postgraduate students. 
An overview of Business Units per science domain are 
provided in Table 2.
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Table 2: NRF’s Portfolio of Research Infrastructure Platforms and National Facilities

Science Domain / Discipline
Name of Research Infrastructure Platforms 
/ National Research Facility

Nuclear Sciences iThemba Laboratory for Accelerator based Sciences (iThemba 
LABS)

Long Term Ecological Monitoring South African Environmental Observation Network (SAEON)

Aquatic Biodiversity Science South African Institute for Aquatic Biodiversity (SAIAB)

Optical/infra-red Astronomy South African Astronomical Observatory (SAAO)

Radio Astronomy South African Radio-Astronomy Observatory (SARAO)

4.2  OVERVIEW OF 2021/22 PERFORMANCE

PROGRAMME 1

Both performance targets of Programme 1 for 2021/22 were 
achieved.  The achievement of targets for the demographic 
profile of the leadership and management levels to be 
inclusive of South Africans designated as Black, Coloured 
and Indian contributes towards the realisation of NRF 
Strategy 2025 outcome of “a transformed organisation that 
lives its culture and values”.

Progress against Programme 1 activities in 
contributing to the outcomes in the Strategy 2025

Outcome 4: A transformed organisation that lives 
its culture and values

• In the period under review, the training and 
organisational development department completed 
the Management Development Programme (MDP) 
which had fifty six (56) participants for the financial 
year and closed off with what would be our first 
ever virtual graduations. The formal review of the 
programme which is delivered through the University 
of Stellenbosch Executive Business (USB-EB) 
is also underway and the outcomes of the review 
will inform  the way forward for  the programme in 
relation to its intended outcomes. Other learning and 
development interventions in line with this year’s 
Workplace Skills Plan (WSP)  were implemented. 

• This period also saw the organisation undertaking 
the culture journey through an organisational 
culture assessment to position the organisation in 
the right place for the delivery of Strategy 2025 as 
part of Vision 2030. Having received the draft final 
report from the service provider, the results indicate 
11 out of the 16 measured dimensions as being 
above the cut-off point of 60%. With a 64.5% overall 
agreement, the NRF overall culture can be regarded 
as favourable. While the wins are celebrated, 
there are some opportunities for improvement 
as well on areas that have been identified as 
negative and/or missing dimensions of our culture, 
being accountability, diversity and inclusion at 
an organisational level, change management, 
collaboration and leadership.

• The organisational review and skills audit project 
gave way to the review and the approval of the 
top structure and the service delivery model for 
the organisation. The new structure is intended 
to reduce complexity and maximise efficiencies, 
provide more focus on core activities and allow 
more opportunities for integration.
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PROGRAMME 2

For Programme 2, significant achievements above planned 
targets are evident in the number of students reached 
through support for learners through Science Engagement 
interventions. This achievement was 67% more than the 
target (31 265). The rapid and successful adoption of 
opportunities provided by the new internet-based platforms 
not only assisted in clawing back lost time due to the 
COVID-19 pandemic disruptions but expanded the reach 
for the engagement initiatives.  The interventions that 
account for most of the reach are:

• Astro Quiz at participation rate of 22 194 leaners.

• Science Olympiad at the participation rate of 16 288 
learners.

The new engagement platforms provide additional avenues 
for expanding the reach of Science Engagement initiatives 
at a lower cost. The increased use of internet-based 
platforms will foster more interaction between science and 
the publics guided by the Engaged Research Framework, 
thereby contributing to the achievement of the Strategy 2025 
outcome of the enhanced impact of science engagement. 

Progress against Programme 2 activities in 
contributing to the outcomes in the Strategy 2025

Outcome 2: Enhanced impact of science 
engagement

The NRF, in partnership with the DSI, will be supporting 
community-based participatory research through a science 
shops model, as informed by the project strategy. The 
science shops will be a grant-funded, community  -based 
research endeavour undertaken by local public universities. 
The science shop grant call and framework were advertised 
on 3 November 2021.

Some of the examples of research that employ engaged 
research approaches are:

• University of Limpopo RVSC project: Blessman 
Ministry International (BMI) collaborative research 
and training programme at mountain view research 
and training farm, whose aim is to sustainably 
develop and implement integrated crop and livestock 
production systems to address food security, 
offer employment opportunities, create wealth, 
and contribute meaningfully to the local economic 
development.

• Global Change Social Sciences Project: Engaging 
South African farmers on climate variability and 
change through the use of climate services: 
a behaviour change approach. The research 
programme aims to understand how behaviour 
change strategies can be employed to change 
climate-related behaviours among South African 
farmers, targeting both small-scale and large-scale 
farmers.

•   University of the Witwatersrand: Developing a Model 
of Support for Novice and Off-Field teachers in Rural 
Schools of Mpumalanga Province – aims to develop 
a systemic induction and mentorship support model 
that can be used to support these teachers and 
assist in improving their quality of teaching and their 
self-efficacy.

• Nelson Mandela University: The Origin Of Things: 
investigation on the Khoisan Places - documents, 
maps and archives of the Khoisan pre-colonial 
sacred places located in the Eastern Cape to 
facilitate the remembering for future generations. 

• Iziko Museums of South Africa: Connecting Cultural 
Identities through Oral Histories and Genetics, 
is centred around the ethical engagement with 
indigenous communities to help answer questions 
regarding ancestry, history, and cultural identity.

• University of Cape Town: Strengthening Community 
Voice to Address Social Determinants of Health - the 
overall aim of this study is to explore how Health 
Committees` capacity can be strengthened to be 
effective vehicles for community voice in the health 
system.

 • University of Free State SARChI: Titled ‘Vector-borne 
and Zoonotic pathogens’, whose aim is to develop 
the necessary laboratory tools, establish active 
surveillance programmes for vector-borne and 
zoonotic viruses and to increase expertise in this 
field, and awareness of these pathogens, via 
community engagement.

• Earth Systems Science Research Plan (ESSRP)
project: “Unlocking The Locked”: Moving to more 
engaged, inclusive and generative approaches to 
climate change adaptation in South Africa. Engaged with 
stakeholders from the communities of uMkhanyakude 
District Municipality in KwaZulu-Natal. 
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Table 3: Postgraduate students funded

Level of Study All funded students
SA Citizens and Permanent residents 

Black Women Disability

Honours 2 496 2 329 1 633 1

Masters 2 874 2 226 1 693 5

Doctoral 2 362 1 675 1 202 22

Totals 7 732 6 230 4 528 28

Table 4: Researchers funded

Category Funding Instrument All funded 
researchers

SA Citizens and Permanent 
residents
Black Women

Early Career/Emerging

Postdoctoral Grants 259 70% 54%

Postdoctoral-Grant linked 105 30% (32) 23% (24)

Thuthuka Research 
Grants

578 75% 61%

Black Academics 
Advancement 
Programme (BAAP)

103 99% 56%

nGAP Research 
Development grants

47 96% 53%

Total 1 092 73% 55%

Established 
researchers (excl. 
SARChI and CoEs)

General 969 479 (49%) 415 (43%)

Incentive Funding for 
Rated Researchers

777 273 (35%) 257 (33%)

Total 1 746 752 (43%) 672 (38%)

PROGRAMME 3

On 24 March 2022, the NRF announced its partnership 
with the National Student Financial Aid Scheme (NSFAS), 
to collaborate on initiatives that will increase access to 
funding opportunities for postgraduate students. This initial 
five-year partnership will commence during the 
2022/23 financial year. With the focus of NSFAS funding 

being for undergraduate levels of study and those of 
the NRF being for studies towards research-based 
postgraduate degrees, there is an evident value chain 
and benefits for the partnership. The NSFAS supported 
students are thus an important feeder group into the human 
capital development excellence pipeline.
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Progress against Programme 3 activities in 
contributing to the outcomes in the Strategy 2025

Programme 3 outputs contribute to the achievement of 
Outcome 1: A transformed [internationally competitive 
and sustainable] research workforce and Outcome 2: 
Enhanced impact of the research enterprise.

Outcome 1: A transformed [internationaly 
competitive and sustainable] research workforce 

The following progress for the reporting period is recorded 
in terms of the identified initiatives: 

A transformed postgraduate student and researcher 
cohort through fit-for-purpose grants towards the cost 
of studies (next-generation researchers): The NRF had 
awarded 11 093 bursaries across the honours (4 320), 
masters (3 984) and doctoral (2 789) levels. This achievement 
is due to additional awards (honours 676, masters 519 and 
doctoral 364) made during the year to address the projected 
shortfall followed by targeted communication to students to 
ensure timeous uptake of grants. 

Even though the target for the year on funded postgraduate 
students was achieved, it is important to note that this is 
against a background of a decline in number of students 
funded, year-on-year. The most significant explanation for the 
decline is the introduction of the NRF Postgraduate Student 
Funding Policy. The key relevant element of this policy in 
this regard is funding of high-performing, mainly Black and 
Women students, at a more competitive level than in the 
past and in line with other student-funding programmes in 
the HEI landscape. Thus the number of students that can 
be funded, from a stagnant-to-shrinking projected budget, 
reduces with time, particularly as cost of study, will generally 
increase in line with the inflation rate.

A transformed, excellent scientific/research cohort 
through grants towards the cost of postdoctoral career 
development programmes (emerging researchers): 
The proportion of grants taken up by Black and Female 
researchers within this group, averaged 86% and 59%, 
respectively. The overall funding targets of 70% Black and 
54% Female for this category have been exceeded through 
deliberate grant awarding to Black and Female applicants.

Develop and implement a clear funding policy to ensure 
achievement of equitable support for researchers: The 
draft NRF Equality, Diversity and Inclusivity (EDI) Framework 
for the Research Enterprise was approved by the Corporate 
Executive for both internal and external consultations during 

2022/23. The Framework for developing instrument scientists 
and technical professionals to ensure that they have career 
opportunities is under development. Engagements with the 
DSI and DHET  will take place in the first quarter of 2022/23. 

Outcome 2: Enhanced Impact of The Research 
Enterprise 

In addition to the financial support provided to researchers 
and postgraduate students, support is provided to build 
institutional research capacity, of which the following 
programmes are critical: 

National Equipment Programme: due to a zero budget 
allocation in the 2020/21 financial year, no new awards 
were made. The latest call for applications was opened 
from February to the end of May 2020 and awards were 
finalised in December 2020 against the 2021/22 NEP 
budget allocation. A total of 21 grants to the value of R121m 
were made. Of the 132 progress reports received, 112 
(86%) reported having fully commissioned the equipment. 
A total of 113 grantholders reported that the equipment is 
operational and reported on users, while 66 out of the 113 
reported on users linked to outputs. In the 2020 academic 
year, a total number of 1 496 users utilised the research 
equipment and a total of 394 publications emanated from 
this access to the equipment. The publications comprised 
365 articles. 

Strategic Research Equipment: In view of the launch of the 
Hydrogen Intensity and Real-Time Analysis Experiment 
(HIRAX) telescope, from a grant awarded in 2019 from 
the Strategic Research Equipment (SRE) grant, and the 
progress made to date with the prototype development, 
the NRF issued a closed call to the University of 
KwaZulu-Natal (UKZN) as the lead institution, to submit 
a phase 2 application for the HIRAX Telescope. An award 
of R35m was approved in June 2020 with a budget split of 
R10m; R20m and R5m for the years 2020/21, 2021/22 and 
2022/23 respectively. Due to delays in the tender caused by 
the COVID-19 pandemic, the R10m awarded for 2020/21 
could not be expensed within the financial year.

The NRF track the research outputs of NRF-funded 
researchers as an outcome of funding researchers, 
acquisition and access to research infrastructure and 
collaborations. The pursuit of performance against this 
indicator is related to the NRF Strategy 2025 outcome 
indicator for the demographic of authors of publications by 
NRF-funded researchers. The actual achievement for the 
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2021/22 financial year is 9 116 against a target of 9 250.  
While the target is missed this achievement is 12% more 
than the prior year’s actual.   

The NRF and Sasol launched a first-of-its-kind joint 
programme in support of collaborative research grants 
in Science and Engineering that will contribute to South 
Africa’s energy transition and green economy. The R54m 
initiative has granted 26 joint programmes between 
academia and industry. 

PROGRAMME 4 

The Programme achieved seven (7) out of a total of 9 
performance targets for 2021/22. Achievement of the foreign 
income target of R76.3m represents an upward trend in 
revenue growth, which is critical for the sustainability and 
competitiveness of the Research Infrastructure Platforms. 
Significant progress was achieved in the research 
infrastructure projects, with the delivery of the 70 MeV 
cyclotron at NRF -iThemba LABS, the completion of 18 
antenna foundations for the MeerKAT extension project and 
the start of installation of three Strategic Instruments Initiative 
projects by NRF-SAAO at SALT. 

Progress against Programme 4 activities in 
contributing to the outcomes in the Strategy 2025 

Outcome 2: Enhanced impact of the research 
enterprise 

In addition to the provisioning of research infrastructure to the 
research enterprise, the National Facilities conduct research 
and produce internationally competitive research outputs. 

Research performance

Research Infrastructure Platforms are provisioned 
for research performance to researchers including 
postgraduate students both internal to NRF and those 
from other local and international research institutions.  
The availability of RIPs was affected by COVID-19 and 
load shedding. While this resulted in few users accessing 
the RIPs, many researchers used the time to ramp up the 
delivery of publications.  The performance target for the 
number of publications in the recognised database, WoS 
was exceeded by 244. The target was 445 and the actual 
achievement at 689.  

Figure 3: Distribution of outputs across fields covered by NFs
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Research infrastructure 

The end of the 2021/22 financial year coincided with the 
timely delivery on site of the two magnet yokes of the 
newly acquired C70 MeV cyclotron. The heavy magnets 
yokes of the C70 cyclotron were offloaded at the iThemba 
LABS site on Monday the 28th of March 2022.  Installation 
of some beam line components in the vaults has also 
commenced. This latest milestone brings to 75% of 
the overall implementation progress for SAIF (South 
African Isotope Facility) at iThemba LABS. The arrival 
of the 70 MeV cyclotron at iThemba LABS, its ultimate 
commissioning, and its coming online will herald a new 
era for the NRF at large as iThemba LABS will by then 
be well-positioned to ramp up its radioisotopes production 
output and subsequent sales to the nuclear medical 
sector. Foreign income from sales of radioisotopes of 
R75.7m for the 2021/22 financial year is R15.1m (25%) 
more than the annual target and R16.9m (29%) more 
on year-on-year actuals the slightly below target foreign 
income was largely constrained by unscheduled stage 
4 load shedding episodes which prevented delivery of a 
quarterly cumulative 148 hours’ worth of SSC beam time. 
This was exacerbated by interruptions arising from the 
failure of ageing components of the SSC.

The MeerKAT extension project rollout has progressed 
well, although some delays were experienced at the 
commencement of construction due to the impact of 
COVID-19 regulations. The majority of the project’s planning 
is complete, with procurement and subcontractor activities 
having begun in the Karoo. For the current financial year, 
an annual target to complete the construction of 10 antenna 
foundations for the MeerKAT extension was exceeded 
with an actual achievement of construction of 18 antenna 
foundations at the end of March 2022. 

SARAO stakeholder management and commercialisation 
teams have been supporting the contractor to ensure that 
maximum procurement and employment opportunities are 
afforded to the local community, whilst lessons will inform 
future Square Kilometre Array Phase 1 MID-Frequency 
(SKA1_MID) contracts.

The SARIR projects (SMCRI; EFTEON and SAPRI) had 
successful operations by the end of the financial year. 
The SMCRI completed 113 LTER and research field trips, 
analysed 3 552 samples in the laboratory, and the websites 
and online fact sheets attracted 1 964 new users with 4 358 
063 observations uploaded to the observations database. 
The Hyperbaric Chamber Platform facilitated 78 dives (154 
dive hours) for the training of SMCRI chamber operators 
and treatment of patients as part of the Bay Hyperbaric 
Medical partnership.

The specific KPI tracking strategic projects, i.e., the SALT 
1.5 Gen project (aka SII) funded by SARAO, is also fully 
on target with three defined sub-projects progressing well 
towards specific milestones. Agreements were signed for the 
design and delivery of a Laser Frequency Comb to aid SALT 
to start doing high-precision exo-planet science, and also a 
significant Intelligent Observatory Initiative milestone was 
reached where automated spectroscopic observations were 
demonstrated with the Lesedi Telescope and the newest 
SAAO-built (in collaboration with Liverpool Johns Moore 
University) scientific instrument, the Mookodi Spectrograph.
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Outcomes, Outputs, Output Indicators, Targets and Actual Achievements for 2021/22

Table 5 below  provides an account of performance against predetermined objectives for the 2021/22 financial year.  The table includes all performance indicators for the four NRF 
budget programmes.  

Table 5: Outcome, Outputs, Performance Indicators and Targets for 2021/22

Outcome Output Output indicators Audited Actual 
2019/20

Audited Actual 
2020/21

Planned Target 
2021/22

Actual Achievement 
2021/22

Deviation from 
planned target Reason for deviation

PROGRAMME 1: ADMINISTRATION

A transformed 
organisation that 
lives its culture 
and values

A transformed 
leadership and 
management cohort

Proportion of employees 
from designated groups 
at Peromnes levels 1-7

52% 53% 49% 61.18% 12.8% Target exceeded.

Predictable and 
sustainable 
resourcing of the 
NRF mandate

Organisation Overheads 
as a proportion of 
total expenditure

7.7% 9.5% <10% 7.9% 2.1% Target exceeded. 

PROGRAMME 2: SCIENCE ENGAGEMENT

Enhance the 
impact of Science 
Engagement (SE)

Support for the 
development 
of STEMI
education

Number of  learners, 
educators and students 
reached through school/
HEI-based initiatives (in 
support of the school 
and HEI curriculum).

- - 31 265 51 876 20 611 

(67%)

Target exceeded. 
The use of online platforms 
facilitated larger reach 
for the initiatives

Support for 
Engaged Research

Number of NRF grant 
holders and National 
Facility scientists 
undertaking/supporting 
Science Engagement 
and engaged science.

- - 240 572 332 

(138%)

Target exceeded. 
More opportunities for 
Science Engagement 
activities spared on by 
the ongoing pandemic 
and online platforms
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Outcome Output Output indicators Audited Actual 
2019/20

Audited Actual 
2020/21

Planned Target 
2021/22

Actual Achievement 
2021/22

Deviation from 
planned target Reason for deviation

Enhance the 
impact of Science 
Engagement (SE)

Enabling public 
access to research 
and Science 
Engagement 
infrastructure

Number of NRF 
-supported public 
Science engagement 
interventions at 
research and 
Science Engagement 
infrastructure 
across the NSI.

- - 10 10 0 Target Achieved

Enhance the 
impact of Science 
Engagement (SE)

Building Science 
Engagement 
capacity and 
capability

Number of scientists/
journalists that use 
indigenous languages 
used in science 
communication

- - 320 156 -164 

(-51%)

Target not achieved. 
This is a developing area 
of focus for the NRF , 
where this target proved 
to be a stretch target.

PROGRAMME 3: RESEARCH AND INNOVATION SUPPORT AND ADVANCEMENT

A transformed 
(internationally 
competitive and 
sustainable) 
research workforce

Funded 
postgraduate 
students

Number of NRF-funded 
postgraduate students 11 167 11 093 7 414 7 732 318 

(4%)

Target exceeded. 
Reprioritisation of funds 
during the year and the 
active management of 
grants resulted in better 
take up of awards.

Funded researchers Number of NRF-funded 
researchers 3 985 3 000 4 521 3 201 -1 320 (-29%)

Target not achieved. 
Fewer applications for 
various instruments that 
fund mobility such as 
Knowledge Interchange 
and Collaborations (KIC), 
the Conference Fund and 
Incentive Funding and lower 
uptake of Postdoctoral 
fellowships, BAAP and 
nGAP development grants, 
Research Equipment 
due the ongoing 
pandemic and restricted 
international travel.
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Outcome Output Output indicators Audited Actual 
2019/20

Audited Actual 
2020/21

Planned Target 
2021/22

Actual Achievement 
2021/22

Deviation from 
planned target Reason for deviation

Enhanced impact 
of the research 
enterprise

The knowledge 
produced by 
NRF supported 
researchers

Number of    
peer-reviewed 
publications produced by 
NRF-funded researchers 
(including from NNEP, 
NEP and SREP)

- 8 150 9 250 9 116 -134 (-1.4%)

Target not achieved. As 
a result of COVID-19 
restrictions, researchers 
undertook fewer field 
trips and attended fewer 
international conferences 
and workshops, 
thus produced fewer 
number of papers.

PROGRAMME 4: NATIONAL RESEARCH INFRASTRUCTURE PLATFORMS

A transformed 
(internationally 
competitive and 
sustainable) 
research workforce

Diversity of 
student cohorts 
accessing RIPs

The proportion of South 
African postgraduate 
students from designated 
groups who are users of
NFS.

- - 76% 76% 0 Target achieved

Diversity of 
researchers 
accessing RIPs

The proportion of South 
African researchers 
from designated groups 
who are users of NFs - - 39% 11% -28%

Target not achieved. NFs 
business rules and systems 
not designed to collect data 
on citizenship and racial 
designations of researchers 
and students users of RIPs.

Enhanced impact 
of the research 
enterprise

Socio-
Economic
contribution
of NFs

Foreign income (Rand 
m) derived from NFs 
activities or operations

- - 63.8 80.7 16.9 (26%)

Target exceeded. Increase 
in production and sales to 
meet demand and raise 
funds for capital projects. 

Number of employees 
from rural towns 
adjacent to NFs 
operating sites that are 
employed by the NFs

- - 265 271 6 (2%)

Target exceeded. By 
maintaining current 
permanent jobs and 
using flexible employment 
opportunities.
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Outcome Output Output indicators Audited Actual 
2019/20

Audited Actual 
2020/21

Planned Target 
2021/22

Actual Achievement 
2021/22

Deviation from 
planned target Reason for deviation

Knowledge
produced
for societal
benefit

Number of patient 
doses generated from 
radioisotopes produced 
by NRF - iThemba LABS

- - 167 500 171 713 4 213 (2.5%)

Target exceeded. The 
actual achievement 
is demand driven and 
depended on changes 
in market conditions

Number of recognised 
publications by NFs 640 - 445 689 244 (55%)

Target exceeded. 
Researchers appear 
to have used the time 
made available by 
COVID -19 restrictions 
to focus on publishing.

Successful
establishment
of scientific
infrastructure
by NFs

Number of MeerKAT+ 
antenna foundations, 
and related Infrastructure 
completed by 
NRF - SARAO - -

10 18 8 (80%)

Target exceeded. 
Accelerated schedule 
to complete 24 antenna 
foundations in total.

Progress on 
implementation of the 
SAIF Project by NRF 
-iThemba LABS - -

75% 75% - Target achieved

Number of SALT 
Gen 1.5 subprojects 
being implemented 
by NRF -SAAO

- - 4 3 -1 (25%)

The Board of SALT the 
commissioning company 
decided to suspend the one 
project for the time being.
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LINKING PERFORMANCE WITH BUDGETS

EXPENDITURE TREND 

The NRF expenditure trends largely mirrors the level of 
income. The increase of 24% in total expenditure from 
R3 587m in 2020/21 to R4 461m in 2021/22, is mainly 
attributable to a significant recovery in operational activity 
as the COVID-19 restrictions were eased and normality 
returned. 

Increased research funding expenditure of 14%, from R2 
127m to R2 422m, is attributed to the National Equipment 
Programme as this funding is received every alternate 
year and thus was not included in 2020/21.  Spending 
lags experienced during the hard-lockdown recovered in 
2021/22, mainly within bursaries and scholarships, with an 
increase of approximately R190m.

Operating expenditure increase of 40% from R720m to R1 
008m is aligned to return to stable level of operations while 
the payment of RSA’s membership contribution to SKAO 
increased expenditure by R275m in 2021/22. 

Capital expenditure increased by R291m in 2021/22 as 
spending aligned to delivery on the SAIF 70 MeV cyclotron 
and the MeerKAT extension project ramped up. 

Grant expenditure

Research funding expenditure increased by 12% compared 
to 2020/21, mainly due to the uptake of grants as academic 
and research activities resumed with the easing of the 
lockdown and the alternate year of funding for the National 
Equipment Programme in 2021/22. 

Programme and operating expenditure increased by 11%, 
mainly due to access fees to global infrastructure, which was 
previously classified under grant expenditure.  Excluding 
this re-allocation, the operating expenditure decreased by 
2.5%, mainly due to honoraria for reviews and institutional 
reviews not finalised by year-end.  
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Overhead expenditure

The focus on ensuring operational and financial 
sustainability through improved cost management due to 
economic pressures and austerity measures has resulted 
in greater emphasis being placed on the management of 
overheads and shared services, which has remained within 
the 10% threshold. The decrease from 9.5% in 2020/21 to 
7.9% in 2021/22 is directly linked to the increased level of 
operational, research and infrastructure activities across all 
NRF Business Units while indirect costs remained stable.

Strategies to overcome areas of underperfor-
mance

Programme 1: Programme 1 achieved both its annual 
targets. 

Programme 2: The implementation of the SAASTA 
Business Plan (2023/24) and the approved SAASTA 
Operational Model will enable SAASTA the operational 
capability to coordinate the Science Engagement mandate 
internally across the NRF and externally across the NSI. 
The approved Engaged Research Framework will provide 
for the establishment of a structured and balanced priority 
area in public engagements and alignment with the Science 
Engagement Strategy. The Science Engagement key 
performance indicators for the next reporting cycle have 
been reviewed in consultation with the DSI to measure 
output that is within the control of the NRF. 

Programme 3: The next Medium Term Expenditure 
Framework (MTEF) targets for funded researchers will 
be adjusted in line with the available budget and baseline 
performance over the past three financial years. The 
peer-reviewed publications’ key performance indicator 
although a significant measure of outcome performance 
for the NRF, is not a direct control output of the NRF and 
will not form part of the 2022/23 Annual Performance Plan. 
Publications will however still be tracked by the NRF as an 
outcome of NRF’s investment into the NSI.  

Programme 4: Upgrading of the SAEON website, as a 
potential way to get local researchers interested in using 
the platforms. New networks with emerging researchers 
at the universities especially the new University of 
Mpumalanga, University of Limpopo and Sol Plaatjie 
University. Collaborations are also being set up with 
emerging researchers from Sefako Makgatho Health 
Science University (SMU). During the 2022/23 financial 
year, work will be undertaken to not only encourage 
students from designated groups to use Research 

Infrastructure Platforms, but also to build into the system 
by means of collecting such data. The NRF engagements 
with DSI Science Missions managed to work out a 
funding approach that facilitates longer-term planning. 
The strategic infrastructure projects will be located 
in the correct section of the next Annual Performance 
Plan, rather than being measured as output indicators. 
The NRF has adopted a POPIA Policy that will guide 
the NFs on lawful collection and processing of personal 
information of users of Research Infrastructure Platforms. 

REPORTING ON THE INSTITUTIONAL 
RESPONSE TO THE COVID-19 PANDEMIC

NRF-SARAO had external and internal interventions that 
were implemented in response to the COVID-19 pandemic. 
These include: 

• The Karoo Hoogland Municipality: face masks to 
assist with the management of the COVID-19 and 
assistance with putting up a screening station for 
COVID-19 related symptoms at the information 
centre in Carnarvon where a computer to be used 
by the community was also donated. 

• The Verneukpan Soup Kitchen in Swartkop: the 
centre serves as a multipurpose centre for the 
local community, providing a central place for 
health services, SASSA payments, local library and 
community soup kitchen.
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Table 6: Progress on institutional response to the COVID-19 pandemic

Programme/ 
Sub-programme

Intervention Geographic 
location 
(Province/ 
District/local 
municipality) 
(where 
possible) 

No. of 
beneficiaries 
(Where 
Possible) 

Disaggregation 
of Beneficiaries 
(where possible) 

Total budget 
allocation per 
intervention 
(R’000) 

Budget spent per 
intervention 

Immediate  
outcomes 

Programme 1 
Administration 

Wellness 
Programme 
retainer fee 
and COVID-19 
Vaccination 
Campaigns

National 1280 - R6m over 5 
years (R1.2m 
per year)

R22 000 Monthly 
R269 139.00

Information sharing Education and awareness.

Programme 4 - 
National Research 
Infrastructure 
Platforms (NRIP)

Occupational 
Health care 
services

National - - R7 859 
9972.70

R2 759 233.27 Case Management, contact tracing, 
screening, medical surveillance, 
training, medical treatment

Programme 4 - 
National Research 
Infrastructure 
Platforms (NRIP) 

PPE provision National - - - R294 947.86 Personal protection from infection

Programme 4 - 
National Research 
Infrastructure 
Platforms (NRIP)

Other COVID-19
related 
expenditure

National - - - R528 123.44 No disruption of work 
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5. REVENUE COLLECTION 

Total income is lower than budget by R464m in 2021/22 

mainly due to contract funding revenue which is aligned 

to deliverables with corresponding expenditure accounted 

for in the respective year in which the actual expenditure is 

incurred although these funds are committed or awarded. 

Key amongst the suite of projects are the MeerKAT 

extension and fibre tender rollout by SANReN at SARAO, 

the SARIR projects at SAEON and the SAIF project at 

iThemba LABS.

The key area where revenue collection is managed by the 

NRF is on non-core revenue pertaining to sales revenue 

from isotopes, interest received and other sundry income. 

Sales increased due to additional isotope sales at iThemba 

LABS, which will co-fund the SAIF phase 1 capital costs. 

Higher interest income from investments is due to 

lower spending and higher interest rates than originally 

anticipated – these funds are ploughed back in grants and 

operations. 

Table 7: NRF Revenue composition 

2021/22 2020/21

Sources of 

Revenue

Estimate Actual 
Amount 
Collected

Over/(Under) 
Collection

Estimate Actual 
Amount 
Collected

Over/

(Under) Collection

R’000 R’000 R’000 R’000 R’000 R’000

Parliamentary 
grant

962 587 962 587 - 869 487 859 469 (10 018)

DSI contract 
income

3 554 793 3 010 250 (544 543) 2 785 712 2 297 585 (488 127)

Other contract 
income

317 222 350 904 33 682 309 982 292 619 (17 363)

Sales revenue 72 791 94 814 22 023 68 664 69 788 1 124

Interest received 18 011 40 217 22 206 36 229 35 398 (831)

Other income 4 971 7 603 2 632 3 618 19 348 15 730

Total 4 930 375 4 466 375 (464 000) 4 073 692 3 574 207 (499 485)

6. CAPITAL INVESTMENT
For the year under review no new major infrastructure 
projects were added, while two major projects, namely: 
the MeerKAT extension at SARAO and the SAIF project 
at iThemba LABS were ramped up. The NRF invests most 
of its fixed asset resources towards research equipment, 
mainly at its National Research Facilities. These high-end 
research platforms serve as the extension of research 
infrastructure for higher education institutions thereby 
providing access to researchers, students and the public.  
The investment to upkeep and maintain the infrastructure 
at the National Facilities have been sub-optimal due to 
financial constraints for several years and more recently 
the impact of the pandemic. 

Despite this, the NRF has managed to ensure normal 
repairs and maintenance were carried out during 2021/22 
to the value of R32m (R25m in 2020/21). This equates 
to a ratio of 1% spent on the repairs and maintenance of 
fixed assets whilst a norm of up to 10% is regarded as 
acceptable considering the high value and scientific nature 
of assets to ensure relevance and world-class research.

The asset sustainability ratio, however, increased from 
0.71 in 2020/21 to 1.9 in 2021/22 due to the investment 
in the new infrastructure projects. Assets are therefore 
currently replaced at a higher rate than depreciation noting 
that normal asset sustainability benchmark ratio is at 1%.  



PART C:
GOVERNANCE



 NRF Annual Report 2021/22 36

1. INTRODUCTION

The NRF is a schedule 3A public entity established 
through the NRF Act (Act 23 of 1998 as amended), and its 
governance structures consist of systems and processes 
which assist the NRF to be directed, controlled, and held 
accountable. Legislation such as the Public Finance 
Management Act (Act 1 of 1999 as amended) and the 
South African Companies Act (No. 71 of 2008) contribute 
to the compliance requirements of the entity, as do the 
various national and departmental frameworks, instructions 
and policies. In addition, the NRF also applies leading 
governance practices by adhering to the requirements in 
the King Report on Corporate Governance for South Africa 
(King IV).

The NRF is accountable to Parliament through the 
Parliamentary Portfolio Committee (PPC) on Higher 
Education, Science and Innovation. The Minister of Higher 
Education, Science and Innovation is the Executive 
Authority in terms of the PFMA, and the Accounting 
Authority is the NRF Board. 

2. PORTFOLIO COMMITTEES

The Parliamentary Portfolio Committee (PPC) on Higher 
Education, Science and Innovation of the National Assembly 
processes legislation and conducts oversight concerning 
the work of the NRF. During the 2021/22 financial year, the 
NRF Board and the NRF Corporate Executive Committee 
interacted with the PPC on Higher Education, Science and 
Innovation to allow the PPC to exercise oversight over the 
planning and performance of the organisation through the 
following:

• NRF Annual Report (AR) 2020/21 was tabled in 
Parliament and presented to the PPC.

• NRF Annual Performance Plan (APP) 2022/23 
was presented to the Minister of Higher Education, 
Science and Innovation and tabled in Parliament. 

• The organisation also responded to three 
parliamentary questions during the 2021/22 financial 
year.

3. EXECUTIVE AUTHORITY

Below is the list of the reports and plans submitted to the Executive Authority during the 2021/22 financial year.

Table 8: Accountability plans and reports submitted to DSI 

Accountability Report Date of submission

Annual Report 2020/21 27 August 2021

Tabling of the NRF Annual Report 2020/21 in Parliament 30 September 2021

APP 2022/23 -2024/25 23 February 2022

Tabling of the NRF APP 2022/23 -2024/25 in Parliament 22 March 2022

First Quarterly report 2021/22 Submission to DSI – 20 July 2021

Second Quarterly report 2021/22 Submission to DSI – 20 October 2021

Third Quarterly Report 2021/22 Submission to DSI– 20 January 2022

Fourth Quarterly report 2021/22 Submission to DSI– 20 April 2022

4. THE ACCOUNTING AUTHORITY/BOARD

The NRF Board is appointed by the Minister of Higher 
Education, Science and Innovation in terms of section 6 
of the National Research Foundation Act (Act 23 of 1998 
as amended). The role of the Board is to govern the 
organisation through the discharge of its fiduciary responsi-
bilities in relation to strategy, policy approval, oversight and 
accountability such that the good governance outcomes 

of an ethical culture, good performance, effective control 
and legitimacy with stakeholders are achieved by the 
organisation in line with the NRF mandate.

The NRF Board exercises its roles in terms of section 50 
of the Public Finance Management Act (Act 1 of 1999 as 
amended), whereby the Accounting Authority of a public 
entity must:
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• Exercise the duty of utmost care to ensure 
reasonable protection of the assets and records of 
the public entity;

• Act with fidelity, honesty, integrity and in the best 
interest of the public entity in managing the financial 
affairs of the public entity;

• On request, disclose to the Executive Authority (the 
DSI) responsible for that public entity, all material facts 
including those reasonably discoverable, which in 
any way may influence the decisions or actions of 
the Executive Authority of that legislature; and seek 
within the sphere of influence of that Accounting 
Authority, to prevent any prejudice to the financial 
interests of the state.

The Role of The Board 

Within the functions, and powers conferred on the Board, 
and its committees by the NRF Act, the PFMA and the 
Companies Act, the Board is required to:

a) Retain full and effective control and provide effective 
and ethical leadership in the best interest of the 
NRF;

b) Inform and set the strategic direction of the NRF 
and ensure that strategy, risk, performance 
and sustainability considerations are effectively 
integrated and appropriately balanced;

c) Determine and set the tone and support the NRF 
values to ensure the principles of an ethical culture, 
and the requirements of being a responsible 
corporate citizen;

d) Bring independent, informed and effective judgment 
to bear on material decisions of the NRF including 
material policies, the framework for the delegation of 
authorities, the framework of corporate governance, 
and the appointment of the Chief Executive Officer 
(CEO) and Corporate Executive Committee 
Members.

e) Satisfy itself that the NRF is governed effectively 
in accordance with corporate governance best 
practices, appropriate and relevant non-binding 
rules, codes and standards and internal control 
systems to:

i. Maximise returns;

ii. Increase sustainability;

iii. Safeguard the people, assets and reputation of 
the NRF; and

iv. Ensure an effective control environment 
and compliance with applicable laws and 
regulations.

f) Ensure robust and effective oversight through:

i. The appropriate constitution of Board 
committees;

ii. The relationship and discourse with Executive 
Management in implementing the strategies, 
decisions, values and policies; and

iii. The effective approach to governance, 
integrated reporting, risk management and 
combined assurance.

g) Ensure that the organisation has appropriately 
constituted and effective Board committees as 
required by the PFMA, the Companies Act, and 
recommended best corporate governance practices;

h) Ensure that there is an effective risk-based Internal 
Audit; 

i) Insure the integrity of the statutory reports developed 
in line with the PFMA which includes reporting on 
the effectiveness of the system of internal controls;

j) Through the NRF Executive Management, acting 
in accordance with the powers determined by the 
Board, the Board will:

i. Give effect to the mandate, objectives and 
purpose of the NRF with regard to the resources 
and instruments available;

ii. Assess the extent to which the mandate and 
objectives of the NRF are met by the operational 
activities of the organisation paying attention to 
the effectiveness, efficiency and success of the 
strategies and operations pursued by the NRF 
in meeting its mandate and objectives;

iii. Determine the strategy to achieve the NRF’s 
purpose and implement NRF values;

iv. Retain full and effective control over the NRF 
and monitor and evaluate management 
in their implementation of Board-approved 
plans, policies, business plans, management 
performance criteria and strategies;

v. Define levels of materiality, reserving specific 
power to itself and delegating other matters with 
necessary written authority to management.  
These matters should be monitored and 
evaluated by the Board regularly;
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vi. Approve the NRF Annual Financial Statements 
(AFS);

vii. Approve the NRF Annual Performance Report 
(APR) and the related Key Performance 
Indicators before submission to the Department 
of Science and Innovation (DSI);

viii. Review the updated NRF Strategic risk  
register on an annual basis;

ix. Approve comprehensive NRF Human Resource 
Development strategies and plans; 

x. Approve the NRF plans for information and 
communication technology and systems.  As 
Information and Communication Technologies 
(ICTs) play an integral part of the business 
of the NRF , the Board is responsible for the 
governance of these ICTs.  More specifically, 
the Board should ensure that ict is aligned with 
the performance and sustainability objectives 
of the NRF and therefore should monitor ict 
investment and expenditure; and

xi. Ensure that the independent institutional review 
of the NRF, using a method approved by the DSI 
and the NRF Board, takes place in a published 
cycle of every five years unless agreed otherwise 
by the DSI.

xii. In line with section 72 (4) of the Companies 
Act, read together with regulation 43 of the 

Companies Regulations, the NRF Board 
must ensure the implementation of the legal 
requirements and prevailing codes of best 
practice and standards with regard to social and 
ethical responsibilities.

Board Charter

The NRF Board has developed and approved a Board 
Charter which is intended to provide a concise overview of:

• The delineation of the roles, functions, responsibilities 
and powers of the Board;

• The delegation of authority to the various Board 
committees of the NRF;

• The matters reserved for final decision-making or 
pre-approval by the Board;

• The policies and rules of procedures of the Board in 
respect of matters such as corporate governance, 
declarations and conflicts of interest, board meetings 
documentation, induction, training and evaluation of 
directors and members of Board committees.

The Charter is reviewed annually in March to ensure its 
ongoing relevance and to have an updated guiding Charter 
in place at the commencement of the new financial year 
annually on 01 April.  The Board is compliant in respect of 
alignment with the NRF Board Charter.  
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Composition of the Board 

As at 31 March 2022, the following members served on the NRF Board. 

Table 9: Board members as at 31 March 2022

Name

Designation 
(in terms of 
the Public 
Entity Board 
structure)

Date
appointed

Date  
Resigned Qualifications Area of Expertise Board Directorships (List the entities)

Other Committees or 
Task Teams  (e.g.: Audit 
committee / Ministerial 
task team)

No. of Meetings 
attended

Dr  
Nompumelelo 
Obokoh 

Chairperson 
NRF Board 

01 
October 
2018 

— 1. PhD Cambridge 
University, UK); 

2. MSc (Plant Bio-
technology; UP) 
(cum laude); 

3. BSc Honours 
(Microbiology, 
UP); 

4. BSc (Biochemistry 
 & Microbiology, 

UniZulu)

1. Plant Biotechnology/ 
 Molecular Biology; 
2. Agricultural Biotech 

Research, Development 
& Advocacy; 

3. Biotech Policy  
Advocacy;  

4.Intellectual Property for 
SMMEs

1. Mulabo Business Enterprise, Board 
member; 

2. Fruit Mzanzi Africa NPC t/a Fruit SA, 
Board member; 

3. Langace (Pty) Ltd; Director; and 
4. Serella NPC, Founder and Director. 

1. Fourth Industrial 
Revolution Presidential 
Commission

2. Independent Science 
for Development 

 Council Member, 
CGIAR, Montpellier, 
France

6 NRF Board Meetings; 
2 Research  
Developement 
Committee Meetings; 
1 Joint REMCO and RDC 
meeting, 25 Oct 2021

Prof Haroon 
Bhorat 

Board 
member; 
Member of 
Audit & Risk 
Committee 

01 
October 
2018 

— 1. PhD – 
Economics 
Stellenbosch 
University

1. Economics  
2. Labour 

Economics: Poverty, 
Inequality & Inclusive 
Growth  

3. Minimum Wages,   
Income Distribution, & 
Development 

 Economics 

1. Growth Grid Venture Capital Partners 
(RF) (Pty) Ltd, Board member; 

2.  Angler Funder, Director; 
3. Sygnia Collective Investments (RF) 

(Pty) Ltd- Board member; 
4.Sygnia Itrix (RF) (Pty) Ltd- Board 

member; 
5. Sygnia Life Limited- Board member; 
6. Sygnia Limited- Board member; 
7. Sygnia Nominees (RF) (Pty) Ltd- Board 

member; 
8. Silk Road Investments- Board member; 
9. Creditworx- Board member; 
10.Norman Bissett & Associates Group- 

Board member; 
11.Nimble Collection Services - Board 

members; and  
12. Nimble Group- Board member; 
13. PNP Stores Limited, Director.

1. Member of President’s 
Economic Advisory 

 Council (PEAC); 
2. South African Research 

Chairs (SARChI) and 
Centres of Excellence 
(CoEs) in Economic and 
Financial Sciences; 

3. Contribution to 
 addressing the COVID 

-19 Pandemic; 
4. Post-COVID Economy 
 Commission (Set up by 

the Minister of 
 Telecommunications); 

and 
5. NRF Executive 
 Evaluation Committee 

(ECC). 

3 NRF Board Meetings; 
2 Audit & Risk  
Committee Meetings;  
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Name

Designation 
(in terms of 
the Public 
Entity Board 
structure)

Date
appointed

Date  
Resigned Qualifications Area of Expertise Board Directorships (List the entities)

Other Committees or 
Task Teams  (e.g.: Audit 
committee / Ministerial 
task team)

No. of Meetings 
attended

Ms Claire 
Busetti  
[National 
Advisory 
Council on 
Innovation 
(NACI) repre-
sentative on 
NRF Board]

1. Board 
 member; 
2. Chairperson
 of the
 Procurement 

Committee; 
3. Member of 

Audit & Risk 
Committee. 

01 April 
2017 

— 1. Master’s in 
 Business 
 Administration 

– University of 
Witwatersrand

1. Investment Banking. 
2. Private Equity & Project 

Finance. 
3. Small Innovative and 

Business Support

1. National Advisory Council on I
 nnovation –Council member; 
2. IDC, member Senior Experts Panel; 
3. Spartan SME Finance Limited, Board 

member; 
4. Debswana PeNSIon Fund, Board 

member; 
5. Advisory Board of SiMODiSA, Advisory 

Board Member; 
6. Advisor to Ariya Bridge Capital (Pty) Ltd; 
7. Business Partners International, non- 

Executive Board Member; and 
8. Cape Peninsula University of 
 Technology, Independent Member 

Investment Committee.

1. Heading up NACI’s 
Sovereign Innovation 
Fund working group. 
2. Small Innovative 
Business Support

6 NRF Board Meetings; 
3 Audit & Risk
Committee Meetings; 
5 Procurement 
Committee Meetings;

Prof Glenda 
Gray 

1. Board 
 member; 
2. Member of 

Research 
& Devel-
opment 
Committee 

01 
October 
2018 

— 1. MBBCH  - 
University of 
Witwatersrand 

2. FCPAED (SA)
 - College of 
 Medicine, South 

Africa 
3. DSc (honoris 

causa, SFU); 
4. Doctor of Law 

(honoris causa, 
Rhodes 

 University)

1. Medical Scientist, 
2. HIV vaccinology, 
3. AMR, paEDIatric 
 infections, clinical 
 research, 
4. SAMRC 
 public entity R&D,  
5. Clinical product devel-

opment 

1. Board Member Access to Advanced 
Health Institute (AAHI); 

2. Board Member National Research  
Foundation (NRF );  

3. Council Member University of the   
Witwatersrand; 

4. HIV Cure Advisory Board; 
5. Global Antibiotic Research and 
 Development  Partnership (GARDP) HIV 

Cure Advisory Board; 
6. Hutchinson Centre Research 
 Institute of  South Africa (HCRISA); 
7. HVTN Co PI; 8. Non-Executive Director 

Perinatal HIV Research Unit; 
9. Orange Babies; 
10. Research funding from;  NRF, NIH, 

CHAVI  Scientific Advisory  Board, 
GACD, WHO TB  Research, FHCRC;

11. Vaccine Advisory Committee Minister 
of  Higher Education,  Science and 
Technology; and 

12. Vaccine Advisory  Committee  Premier 
of  Gauteng.

1. Wits University Council 
COVID-19 Ministerial 
Advisory Committee 
[MAC]

4 NRF Board Meetings; 
3 Research & 
Development Committee 
Meetings; 
1 Joint REMCO and RDC 
meeting, 25 Oct 2021 
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Name

Designation 
(in terms of 
the Public 
Entity Board 
structure)

Date
appointed

Date  
Resigned Qualifications Area of Expertise Board Directorships (List the entities)

Other Committees or 
Task Teams  (e.g.: Audit 
committee / Ministerial 
task team)

No. of Meetings 
attended

Mrs Mpho 
Letlape 

1. Board 
 member; 
2. Member of 

Remuneration 
 & HR 
 Committee 

01 
March 
2015 

— 1. BSc Computer 
Science and 

 Psychology 
– Fort Hare 
University

1. Procurement
  Governance Strategy 
 Development, 
 Philanthropy, 
 Transformation and 

Socio-Economic  
2. STEM Education, 
 Information Systems, 

Human Resources, 
General Management,  

3. Development, 
 Management and 

Leadership, Stakeholder 
Relations, Project 

 Management

1. The Standard Bank Tutuwa-Community 
Foundation (NPC) – Director;  

2. The Standard Bank Tutuwa-
 Community Foundation (NPC) 
 Remuneration Committee, Member;  
3. The Standard Bank Tutuwa-Community 

Foundation (NPC) 
 Programmes Committee, Member; 
4. Lethushaneng Advisory Services, 

Director; 
5. Lethushane (Pty) Ltd, Director; 
6. Tower Group Recruitment, Director;
7. Africa Harm Reduction Alliance, Director; 
8. Vinton Foundation (Trustee);  
9. SA Women in Dialogue, Trustee;  
10. Transnet SOC Ltd Director; 
11. Board Member National Research 

Foundation (NRF ).

None 5  NRF Board Meetings; 
4 Remuneration & HR
Committee Meeting;  
1 Joint REMCO and RDC 
meeting, 25 Oct 2021 

Mr Ronny 
Lubisi

1. Board 
 member; 
2. Chairperson 

of the Audit & 
Risk 

 Committee; 
3. Member 

of the 
Procurement 
Committee

01 
October 
2014 

— 1. B Comm – Ac-
counting –

 University of 
South Africa 

2. B Compt 
 Honours –

University of 
Zululand 

3. Chartered 
 Accountant [SA] 
 - South African 
 Institute of 
 Chartered 

Accountants and 
Public Accounts 
and Auditors 
Board

1. Accounting; 
2. Auditing: - Internal 
 Auditing. - External 

Auditing  - ForeNSIc 
Auditing 

3. Taxation,Governance 
and Ethics

1. Isidumo Holdings 
2. Jungle Babies; 
3. MRL Advisory and Accounting Services;
4. MRL Auditing Services; 
5. MRL BBBEE Verification Agency 
6. MRL Development & Project; 
7. MRL Electrical & Consulting; 
8. Siyaraga Accounting Services; and 
9. Ulwazi Human Capital.

None 4 NRF Board Meetings; 
3 Audit & Risk Committee 
Meetings; 
5 Procurement 
Committee Meetings; 
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Name

Designation 
(in terms of 
the Public 
Entity Board 
structure)

Date
appointed

Date  
Resigned Qualifications Area of Expertise Board Directorships (List the entities)

Other Committees or 
Task Teams  (e.g.: Audit 
committee / Ministerial 
task team)

No. of Meetings 
attended

Prof Tinyiko 
Maluleke

1. Board 
 member 
2. Member of 

Research & 
Development 
Committee

01 
October 
2014 

Resigned 
on  01 
February 
2022  

PhD  - Black Theol-
ogy and History of 
Christianity in South 
Africa – University 
of South Africa

1. Theology; 
2. Higher Education 
 Management; 
3. African Politics, 
4. Media, Literature and 

Culture, 
5. Religion and Politics

1. MTN SA Foundation-Board member None 2  NRF Board Meetings; 
0  Research Development 
Committee Meetings; 
2 Procurement Commit-
tee Meetings;

Prof 
Nomalanga 
Mkhize

1. Board 
 member; 
2. Member of 

Remunera-
tion & HR 

Committee 

01 
October 
2018 

— PhD, 
Sociology-
University of Cape 
Town

1. Historical studies and 
Sociology, 

2. Historiography; 
3. Indigenous Historical 

Forms and Vernacular 
Writing; 

4. Land Reform; 
5. Urbanisation; and 
6. Sociology of Space 

1. Phaphamani Children’s Literature-Board 
member 

Ministerial Task Team for 
History

6  NRF Board Meetings; 
5 Remuneration & HR
 Committee Meetings;  
1 Joint REMCO and RDC 
meeting, 25 Oct 2021

Prof Sarah 
Mosoetsa   

1. Board 
 member;
 2. Chairperson 

of the 
 Remuneration 
 & HR 
 Committee; 
3. Member 

of the 
Procurement 
Committee 

01 
October 
2014 

— PhD, Sociology 
– University of 
Witwatersrand

1. Public Sector/ Higher 
Education management 
Unemployment, 

2. Employment, Poverty & 
Inequality 

1. University of the 
 Witwatersrand-  [Employee];  
2. University of Venda [Council Member]; 
3. National Institute for the Humanities and 

Social Sciences (NIHSS) [CEO]; and 
4. National Minimum Wage 
 [Commissioner].

1. Department of Higher 
 Education and Training 

Task Team Member; 
2. Department of Labour 
 [Minimum Wage 
 Commissioner]  

5  NRF  Board Meetings; 
7 Remuneration & HR    
Committee Meetings; 
4 Procurement
Committee Meetings; 
1 Joint REMCO  and 
RDC meeting, 25 Oct 
2021

Dr Bongani 
Ngqulunga 

1. Board 
 member; 
2. Member of 

Audit & Risk 
Committee 

01 
October 
2018 

1. PhD, 
 Sociology – 

Brown 
 University, USA

1. Sociology of Race, 
2. Intellectual and Political  

History and Biography, 
3. Public Governance  

None None 6 NRF Board Meetings 
3 Audit & Risk Committee 
Meetings; 
1 Joint REMCO and RDC 
meeting, 25 Oct 2021
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Name

Designation 
(in terms of 
the Public 
Entity Board 
structure)

Date
appointed

Date  
Resigned Qualifications Area of Expertise Board Directorships (List the entities)

Other Committees or 
Task Teams  (e.g.: Audit 
committee / Ministerial 
task team)

No. of Meetings 
attended

Prof Refilwe 
Phaswana-
Mafuya  
[Council on 
Higher 
Education 
(CHE) 
representa-
tive on NRF 
Board]

1. Board 
 member; 
2. Member of 

Research & 
Development 
Committee 

01 April 
2019 

— 1. PhD, Injury 
Prevention), 
University of the 
North 

2. MSc Epi (Dually 
trained in 

 Epidemiology 
and Social 
Sciences)

1. Epidemiology, 
2. Public Health and 
 Behavioural Sciences;  
3. Epidemiological Re-

search; 
4. Public Health Sciences;
5. Social Sciences; 
6. Higher Education 
 Management and 
 Governance; 
7. Research Leadership 

and Management; 
8. Research Capacity 

Building; 
9. Science engagement;
10. Science Activism;
11. Building Science 
 Networks, partnerships 

and alliances.

1. South African Medical Research 
Council/ University of Johannesburg   
(SAMRC/UJ) – Pan African  Centre for 

 Epidemics Research (PACER)
 Extramural Unit   

None 4 NRF Board Meetings; 
2 Research & 
Development Committee 
Meetings; 

Prof Nadine 
Petersen 

1. Board 
 member; 
2. Member of 

Research & 
Development 
Committee 

01 
October 
2018 

1. PhD (Higher 
and Teacher 
education) 

 (University of 
Johannesburg); 
2. Med (Adult 
and Higher 
Education) cum 
laude (RAU);

3. BED Honours 
(Adult and 
Community 
Education)  cum 
laude (RAU); 

4. BA Ed (UNISA) 
HED (RCE)

1. Teacher Education; 
2. Higher education 
 management; 
3. Higher Education and 

Training; 
4. Adult and Community 

Education 

None None 5 NRF Board Meetings; 
1 Research & 
Development Committee 
Meetings; 
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Name

Designation 
(in terms of 
the Public 
Entity Board 
structure)

Date
appointed

Date  
Resigned Qualifications Area of Expertise Board Directorships (List the entities)

Other Committees or 
Task Teams  (e.g.: Audit 
committee / Ministerial 
task team)

No. of Meetings 
attended

Prof Saurabh 
Sinha

1. Board 
member; 

2. Chairperson
 of the 

Research & 
Development 
Committee; 

3. Member 
Remuneration
& HR 
Committee

01 
October 
2018 

— Academic 
1. PhD (Eng) 
 MEng 
 (Microelectronics) 
 (cum laude) – 
 University of 
 Pretoria 
2. BEng (Electronic) 

(cum laude) – 
 University of 

Pretoria 
  Professional: 
1. Pr Eng,
2. FSAAE, 
3. FSAIEE, 
4. FIEEE, 
5. MASSAf

1. Engineering; 
2. Electronic 
Engineering; 
3. Microelectronics

1. Board of Director and Chair, 
 Resolution Circle (Pty) Ltd; 
2. UJ Invnt (Pty) Ltd; 
3. GCRO.

None 6 NRF Board Meetings; 
6 Remuneration & HR 
Committee Meetings; 
3  Research  
Development Committee  
Meetings. 
1 Joint REMCO and RDC 
meeting, 25 Oct 2021

Dr Fulufhelo 
Nelwamondo

1. Executive 
Member 
(CEO)

01 April 
2021

— 1. PhD (Electrical 
Engineering)

1. Electrical Engineering, 
2. Artificial Intelligence, 
3. Information Security, 
4.Mathematical 
 Modelling, 
5. Data Science.

1. SALT Foundation(Pty) Ltd; 
2. Governing Board Member: Global 

Research Council, Belmont Forum of 
Funders; 

3. Council Member: CHE Council 
Member

1. COHORT- 
 Committee of Heads of 

Organisations of 
 Research and 
 Technology 
  2. SAIEE: Technical & 

Knowledge Leadership 
Committee 

 (Chairperson)

6 NRF Board Meetings; 
6 Remuneration & HR 
Committee Meetings; 
3  Research  
Development Committee  
Meetings. 
1 Joint REMCO and RDC 
meeting, 25 Oct 2021
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Committees 

Table 10: Board committee meetings 01 April 2021 to 31 March 2022

Committee No. of meetings held No. of members Name of members

Audit and Risk Committee 5 4

Mr Ronny Lubisi [Chairperson]
Prof Haroon Bhorat
Ms Claire Busetti
Dr Bongani Ngqulunga

Remuneration and 
HR Committee 7 4

Prof Sarah Mosoetsa [Chairperson]
Mrs Mpho Letlape
Prof Nomalanga Mkhize
Prof Saurabh Sinha

Procurement Committee 6 4

Ms Claire Busetti [Chairperson]
Mr Ronny Lubisi
Prof Sarah Mosoetsa
Prof Tinyiko Maluleke*

Research and Development 
Committee

3 5

Prof Saurabh Sinha [Chairperson]
Prof Glenda Gray
Prof Tinyiko Maluleke*
Prof Refilwe Phaswana-Mafuya
Prof Nadine Petersen

Joint REMCO and RDC 
meeting, 25 October 2021

1
7

Dr Nompumelelo Obokoh
Prof Glenda Gray
Mrs Mpho Letlape
Prof Nomalanga Mkhize
Prof Sarah Mosoetsa
Dr Bongani Ngqulunga
Prof Saurabh Sinha

NRF Board 7 12 As per “Composition of the Board”

*Professor Maluleke resigned from the NRF Board with effect from 1 February 2022. 

Remuneration of Board members
The NRF Board was classified as an A2 Board by the 

Minister of Finance in 2013, hence, members of the NRF 

Board are remunerated in accordance with the guidelines 

issued annually by the National Treasury, based on 

attendance of Board and sub-committee meetings.

The following members of the NRF Board do not receive 

remuneration from the NRF as they are government 

employees:

• Prof Sarah Mosoetsa [NRF Board member and 

Chairperson of the Remuneration & HR Committee]

• Prof Glenda Gray [NRF Board member and 
member of the Research Development Committee]

All NRF Board-related travel expenses are booked 
and paid for by the NRF.  Members of the NRF Board 
are reimbursed for unexpected travel expenses that 
may have been incurred while travelling on NRF 
Board-related business. Subsistence and travel 
expenses may also be paid to all Board members, 
including those who are government employees, but 
they may not be remunerated for sitting fees.
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Table 11: Remuneration of Board members (2021/22)

Name
Remuneration  
[Gross Before 
PAYE]

Other 
allowances

Other 
reimbursements

Total

Dr Nompumelelo Obokoh R71562.00 Nil R  497.99 R72059 .99

Prof Haroon Bhorat R 30764.00 Nil Nil R 30764.00

Ms Claire Busetti R 70179.50 Nil Nil R 70179.50

Mrs Mpho Letlape R 46200.00 Nil Nil R 46200.00

Mr Ronny Lubisi R 55378.50 Nil Nil R 55378.50

Prof Tinyiko Maluleke 
[Resigned on 1 February 2022] 

R 24339.50 Nil Nil R 24339.50

Prof Nomalanga Mkhize R 60719.50 Nil Nil R 60719.50

Dr Bongani Ngqulunga R 54820.00 Nil Nil R 54820.00

Prof Refilwe Phaswana- Mafuya  R37629.00 Nil Nil R 37629.00

Prof Nadine Petersen R 41089.00 Nil Nil R 41089.00

Prof Saurabh Sinha R82223 .50 Nil R  896.76 R 83120.26

Prof Sarah Mosoetsa
Public office bearer hence does not receive remuneration 
other than S & T Claims [R978.17] 

Prof Glenda Gray
Public office bearer hence does not receive 
remuneration other than S & T Claims [R0]

AUDIT AND RISK COMMITTEE

The Accounting Authority (the National Research 
Foundation Board) must ensure that it has and maintains 
a system of Internal Audit under the control and direction 
of an Audit Committee complying with and operating in 
accordance with regulations and instructions prescribed in 
terms of section 76 of the PFMA. 

The Board has resolved to establish a Committee, the ARC 
(the Committee) of the NRF Board, to assist the Board in its 
performance of duties and operate according to the terms 
of reference spelt out in this document, which outlines its 
role, responsibilities, composition and operating guidelines. 

The role of the Committee is to provide independent 
assurance and assistance to the Board with regard to 
financial management, performance management, internal 

and external audit, governance including IT governance, 
internal controls, and risk management. The Committee 
does not replace established management’s responsibilities 
and delegations. The Committee provides the Board with 
prompt and constructive reports on its findings, especially 
when issues are identified that could present a material risk 
to the NRF . 

The Committee is accountable to the Board for the 
exercise of its responsibilities. The Committee, at all times, 
recognises that the primary responsibility for management 
and operations of the NRF rests with the CEO in terms of 
NRF Act (section 11, NRF Act 23 of 1998) and the Corporate 
Executive Committee in terms of the NRF Act (section 9, 
NRF Act 23 of 1998).
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Table 12: Audit Committee members as at 31 March 2022

Name Qualifications
Internal or 
external

If internal, 
position in the 
public entity

Date 
appointed

Date 
resigned

No. of Meetings 
attended

Mr Ronny 
Lubisi

[Chairperson 
of the Audit 
& Risk 
Committee]

B Comm – 
Accounting 
– University of 
South Africa
B Compt Honours 
– University 
of Zululand
Chartered 
Accountant 
[SA] – South 
African Institute 
of Chartered 
Accountants and 
Public Accounts 
and Auditors Board

External / 
non-executive 
Board 
member

n/a 01 October 
2014

2nd Term 
ends 30 
September 
2022

3

Prof Haroon 
Bhorat

PhD[Economics] 
Stellenbosch 
University

External / 
non-executive 
Board 
member

n/a 01 October 
2018

Term 
ends 30 
September 
2022

2

Ms Claire 
Busetti

Master of Business 
Administration- 
University of 
Witwatersrand

External / 
non-executive 
Board 
member

n/a 01 April 
2017

2nd Term 
ends 30 
September 
2022

3

Dr Bongani 
Ngqulunga

PhD, Sociology 
– Brown 
University, USA

External / 
non-executive 
Board 
member

n/a 01 October 
2018

Term 
ends 30 
September 
2022

3

5. RISK MANAGEMENT
The NRF follows a balanced approach to Enterprise Risk 
Management (ERM) in the pursuit of its strategic objectives 
while safeguarding the interests of its stakeholders. The 
organisation applies an integrated risk management 
approach that is aligned with international best practices. 
As part of the ongoing risk assessment process, the focus 
is on risks and opportunities in an ever-changing business 
environment context. The sound management of risks and 
opportunities enables the NRF to take well-considered 
decisions under conditions of 
uncertainty, in line with the risk appetite and tolerance. The 
risk appetite and tolerance statement are reviewed annually, 

to ensure it remains current and aligned to evolving business 
needs and governance responsibilities. The risk reviews 
take place on an annual and quarterly basis.  The annual 
review is top-down focusing on the strategic risks while the 
quarterly reviews are bottom-up focusing on operational 
risks.  The results of the reviews are reported to the Board 
through the Audit and Risk Committee. 
The implementation of the ERM Framework contributes to:

• Identifying, managing and monitoring enterprise 
risks to minimise losses and disruption;

• Promoting and embedding a risk-conscious culture 
and behaviour throughout the NRF ; and

• Integrating risk into the Internal Audit methodology 
so that Internal Audit becomes risk-based.
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The risk management process affords the Executive 
Management and the Board an opportunity to identify the 
strategic risks and robust risk assessments. The risk review 
and mitigation progress is monitored by the Corporate 
Executive Committee, the Audit and Risk Committee and 
the Board. All risks are uploaded to the risk and compliance 
management system which is used for capturing identified 
risks, assessment results and mitigation plans.  Results 
of risk reviews and progress on mitigation plans are also 
captured on the system. This facilitates monitoring and 
reporting on risk management.  

During the financial year, the operational and strategic risk 
registers of the organisation were reviewed. Operational 
risks are managed on an on-going basis and all Business 
Units report on key operational risks as part of the quarterly 
reporting cycle.

6. INTERNAL CONTROL

The NRF aims to strengthen the combined assurance to 
ensure that there are optimised assurance activities and 
functions to enable an effective control environment. As 
a result, the Combined Assurance Framework and the 
Implementation Plan aimed at embedding the combined 
assurance principles and improving efficiency in the 
assurance space were approved. 

7. INTERNAL AUDIT AND AUDIT   
 COMMITTEES
NRF Internal Audit function is an independent, objective 
assurance and consulting activity designed to add value 
and improve the organisation’s operations. The organisation 
had adopted a limited co-sourced Internal Audit resource 
model. The organisation implements this decision through a 
partnership between the in-house Internal Audit function and 
a panel of Internal Audit service providers.

The NRF Internal Audit function is functionally reporting to 
the Audit and Risk Committee of the Board to preserve its 
independence. The role, authority and status of the function 
is documented in its Charter and approved by the Audit and 
Risk Committee.

The Internal Audit function of the organisation is governed 
by the institute of internal auditors’ mandatory guidance 
including the definition of internal auditing, the Code of 
Ethics, and the international standards for the professional 
practice of internal auditing (standards). This mandatory 
guidance constitutes principles of the fundamental 
requirements for the professional practice of internal 

auditing and for evaluating the effectiveness of the Internal 
Audit activity’s performance.

The role of the Internal Audit function is to review and report 
on the adequacy and effectiveness of the system of internal 
controls as designed and implemented to ensure that:

• There is compliance with policies, standards, 
procedures, instructions, the Code of Ethics and 
applicable laws and regulations;

• Strategic objectives of the organisation are achieved;

• Financial and non-financial reports are accurate 
and reliable;

• Business operates efficiently and effectively; and

• Assets of the organisation are safeguarded.

During the financial year, the risk-based Internal Audit plans 
covered high-risk areas of the organisation as per the risk 
universe.  The following assurance activities were undertaken 
and concluded as per the approved audit plans:

• Governance Reviews;

• Performance Audits;

• ICT-related Audits;

• Project Assurance Reviews;

• Finance Audits; and

• Procurement Audits

Based on the audit reviews performed during the year, the 
system of internal controls in the organisation is assessed 
as adequate and effective with room for improvement in 
certain areas.

Internal Audit is committed to working with all other 
assurance providers, as far as possible, to avoid duplication 
of audit effort, prevent omission of crucial business activities 
and align as far as possible to create an opportunity for 
external auditors (Auditor-General South Africa) to place 
reliance on the work of Internal Audit.

8. COMPLIANCE WITH LAWS AND   
 REGULATIONS
The NRF recognises that systems of good governance 
should be in place and be reviewed continuously to 
ensure that they are sound and consistent with world-class 
standards and that they remain relevant to the business. 
Apart from complying with the provisions of the National 
Research Foundation Act (as amended), NRF is committed 
to complying with all applicable laws, regulations and 
relevant codes and standards.  
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To ensure a central structured compliance function, the 
NRF has established and resourced an independent ethics 
and compliance function that enables management to 
establish, implement, maintain, and continually improve a 
compliance management system. Compliance with internal 
policies and procedures is critical to the improvement of the 
governance and control environment within the NRF; thus, 
the ethics and compliance function ensures that the policy 
index is maintained, and policies are reviewed  regularly 
to improve the internal control environment and ensure 
compliance with applicable laws.

9. FRAUD AND CORRUPTION

The NRF has a zero-tolerance approach to fraud and 
corruption. The NRF’s fraud and corruption methodology 
enables the organisation to identify and mitigate 
the occurrence of fraud and corruption through risk 
assessment and compliance checks. These are performed 
organisation-wide on an annual basis and help to identify 
potential high-risk areas of fraud, corruption and unethical 
behaviour. A fraud risk control framework template for 
self-assessments is used for this exercise. The NRF has 
an all-encompassing policy and a fraud prevention plan. 
Management ensures adequacy of controls to prevent, 
detect, and mitigate the fraud risk in focus areas.

The NRF subscribes to the National Anti-Corruption 
Hotline (NACH), administrated by the Public Service 
Commission (PSC), which ensures that all allegations of 
fraud and corruption cases are confidentially disclosed 
and appropriately reported. The hotline is available 24 
hours a day, seven days a week and call centre agents 
can converse in all official languages. Staff awareness of 
this facility is promoted through posters, the intranet and 
the awareness programme undertaken for all staff. Over 
the period various fraud awareness communiques were 
provided. Additionally, staff are also able to report via their 
line manager or Human Resource Representatives. 

The Anti-Fraud, Anti-Corruption and Anti-SCM Abuse 
Committee (Fraud Committee) ensures that all reports 
from all available channels are investigated in line with 
policy. Depending on the outcome of investigations and 
based on the recommendations of the Fraud Committee, 
issues raised are reported to the CEO, the Audit and Risk 
Committee and the NRF Board for consideration and 
appropriate action.

No fraudulent activities were identified during the year. 

10. MINIMISING CONFLICT OF INTEREST

On an annual basis, Supply Chain Management (SCM) 
practitioners complete a declaration of interest. In addition, 
all SCM committee members (Bid Specification, Bid 
Specification Advisory, Bid Evaluation and Bid Adjudication, 
Board Procurement and the NRF Board) also declare any 
interest they might have either in writing or verbal. The verbal 
declarations form part of the official documented minutes. 
Depending on the nature of the conflict of interest, (e.g. 
organisation/ functional/ financial) the conflicted member 
recuse himself/ herself from the deliberation of the matter 
at hand. The system of internal control has checks and 
balances built-in e.g. separation of duties and a multiplicity 
of approval levels to maximise transparency and minimise 
risks. The NRF follows the prescribed regulatory process 
(e.g. SBD4) and reported instances of potential conflict of 
interest are thoroughly investigated. 

11. CODE OF CONDUCT

The lead section of the NRF’s consolidated Human 
Resources Policies and Procedures is the Code of 
Ethics, Values and Business Conduct (“the Code”) which 
underpins these HR Policies and Procedures, including 
the Disciplinary Procedure. Compliance with the Code is 
compulsory for all employees of the NRF , irrespective of 
the nature and duration of employment. To some extent, 
the Code also applies to customers, suppliers and others 
acting on behalf of, or dealing with the NRF . Any breach 
of code and conduct prohibited by NRF policy, the law or 
the Constitution of South Africa, or which is not in line with 
the NRF values as articulated in the Code, even if it were 
done on the NRF employee’s behalf by someone who was 
not an NRF employee, constitutes misconduct. Where 
such misconduct or a breach of the Code is suspected, it is 
subjected to an investigation, which will determine whether 
a disciplinary inquiry is to be instituted in terms of the 
NRF Disciplinary Code. Should management determine 
that a disciplinary inquiry is warranted, it is conducted 
in accordance with the NRF Disciplinary Code and if an 
employee is found guilty, lead to a sanction considered 
befitting the misconduct in question.
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12. HEALTH SAFETY AND
    ENVIRONMENTAL ISSUES

The Occupational Health and Safety (OHS) Act, Act 85 of 
1993, prescribes specific compliance requirements for work 
environments. Given the diverse nature of NRF operations, 
health and safety needs vary and customised interventions 
that match site requirements are implemented. 

The Safety, Health, Environmental and Quality 
Management Forum (SHEQMF) was established, and 
two meetings were held during 2021/22 to address issues 
and resolved areas of concern among members of the 
accountable Executive Management team. The SHE policy 
was reviewed, and the draft revision of the policy is at the 
approval stage. The revision included an extension of 
scope to cover quality management and the change of the 
policy into a SHEQ Policy. Professional Health and Safety 
Construction Agents (PRHSCA) are in place to oversee the 
health and safety of large construction projects to ensure 
requirements are observed and complied with in terms of 
the construction regulations under the Occupational Health 
and Safety act.

The Multi-function Response Committee (MfRC) was 
set up to perform oversight tasks over the organisation’s 
response to the COVID-19 pandemic impact on behalf 
of CorpEx. The MfRC continues to meet when required. 
Various guidelines, advisories, templates, checklists and 
Standard Operating Procedures (SOPs) are coordinated 
NRF-wide and a COVID-19 tracker is kept updated. 
Suitable communication and educational material are 
regularly shared with staff as per monthly communication 
plans. These included communications from the CEO and 
COVID-19-specific information that extends to wellness 
aspects.

13. CORPORATE /BOARD SECRETARY 

The Corporate and Board Secretariat provides a central 
source of support and guidance to the Board and the NRF 
Corporate Executive. The functionary of the Corporate and 
Board Secretariat is not a director of the organisation but 
has a direct channel of communication with the Chairperson 
of the Board.  The Corporate and Board Secretariat is 
accountable to the Board and must:

• Ensure that Board procedures are followed and 
reviewed regularly;

• Ensure that the applicable rules and regulations for 
the conduct of the affairs of the Board are complied 
with;

• Maintain statutory records in accordance with legal 
requirements;

• Provide the Board as a whole and individual Board 
members with detailed guidance as to how their 
responsibilities should be properly discharged in 
the best interest of the organisation and on good 
governance;

• Keep abreast of, and inform the Board of current 
corporate governance thought leadership and 
practices;

• Advise the committees on all legal and regulatory 
matters, including legal frameworks and processes;

• Facilitate the Board induction and training 
programmes;

• Ensure that the Board Charter and the terms of 
reference of Board committees are kept up to date;

• Prepare and circulate Board and Board committee 
papers;

• Elicit responses, input and feedback for Board and 
Board committee meetings;

• Assist in drafting annual work plans;

• Ensure preparation and circulation of minutes of 
Board and Committee meetings; and

• Assist with the preparation and evaluation of the 
Board, committees and individual directors.

14. SOCIAL RESPONSIBILITY

The NRF continues to conduct business in a manner that 
meets existing needs without compromising possibilities 
for future generations. The NRF takes cognisance of the 
impact that the business has on its stakeholder community. 
To this end, the NRF Board enhanced its terms of reference 
to include the implementation of legal requirements and 
prevailing codes of best practice and standards with regard 
to social and ethics matters. In this context a Social and 
Ethics Report is produced, as part of reporting obligations 
(including the financial statements, performance against 
predetermined objectives, and sustainability reporting). 
The specific activities monitored include the adherence to 
legislation, regulation and codes of best practice relating 
to:

• Social and economic development, including the 
organisation’s standing relative to the UN Global 
Compact Principles, the Organisation for Economic 
Co-operation and Development’s (OECD) recom-
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mendations regarding the combating of corruption 
and South Africa’s Employment Equity Act and 
Broad-based Black Economic Empowerment Act;

• Good corporate citizenship, including the positioning 
and efforts in promoting equality, preventing unfair 
discrimination and combating corruption, the NRF 
contribution to the development of communities in 
which it operates;

• The environment, health and public safety, 
including the impacts of activities of the NRF on the 
environment and society; and

• Labour and employment, including the NRF’s 

standing relative to the International Labour 
Organisation’s (ILO) Protocol on decent work 
and working conditions and the employment 
relationships and contribution to the development of 
its employees.

The social and ethics agenda is addressed at various levels 
of the organisation. Members of the Board, Corporate 
Executives and other assurance providers within the 
organisation are equipped with skills to discharge their 
duties and accountabilities adequately, specifically relating 
to the governance outcomes of ethics, performance, control 
and legitimacy.

15. B-BBEE COMPLIANCE PERFORMANCE INFORMATION

The following table has been completed in accordance with the compliance with the B-BBEE requirements of the B-BBEE 
Act of 2013 and as determined by the Department of Trade, Industry and Competition.

Table 14 : B-BBEE Compliance 

Has the Department / Public Entity applied any relevant Code of Good Practice (B-BBEE Certificate 
Levels 1 – 8) with regards to the following:

Criteria Response 
Yes / No

Discussion
(include a discussion on your response and indicate what 
measures have been taken to comply)

Determining qualification criteria for the 
issuing of licences, concessions or 
other authorisations in respect of 
economic activity in terms of any law?

No  Not applicable  

Developing and implementing a 
preferential procurement policy?

 Yes Include in the NRF’s Transformation Framework, the SCM 
Transformation Strategy and the SCM Policy.

Determining qualification criteria for the sale 
of state-owned enterprises?

N/A N/A

Developing criteria for entering into part-
nerships with the private sector?

 No Not applicable 

Determining criteria for the awarding of 
incentives, grants and investment schemes 
in support of Broad-Based Black Economic 
Empowerment?

N/A N/A



PART D:
HUMAN RESOURCE MANAGEMENT
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1. INTRODUCTION

Overview of Human Resources (HR) Matters 

Priorities included a range of strategic shifts and adjustments 
in policy and processes and the implementation of related 
tools intended to enable the organisation to adapt to the 
changing demands in the environment as follows:

• Implementation and refinement of the Performance 
Management Framework and associated reward 
mechanisms to align to a team and client-centric 
culture required to meet the organisation’s 
performance delivery expectations by a range of 
internal and external stakeholders; 

• Implementation of the NRF Executive and 
Leadership coaching programme as one of the 
various interventions and strategies for learning 
and skills transferal, which offers development 
opportunities for the NRF’s management and 
leadership to acquire skills from expert and 
experienced coaches; 

• Increased investment in staff development through 
the review of the part-time Education Assistance 
Scheme funding levels. 

The impact of COVID-19 on implementing planned training 
interventions lead to the restriction on rolling out some 
learning interventions due to their significant dependence 
on the face-to-face delivery method. 

Set HR priorities for the year under review and the 
impact of these priorities 

The NRF in its Strategy 2025 aims to achieve a diverse 
workforce; an equitable and accessible work environment; 
an inclusive environment where all employees are 
valued; a work environment free from discrimination; and 
a level playing field for employee success. In line with 
these objectives, the NRF needs to ensure that its staff 
complement is representative of the demographics of 
the country, it is optimally capacitated and has the right 
capabilities to ensure high performance as well as have 
engaged employees with a high quality of work-life and 
commitment to the NRF as an employer of choice for 
retention purposes. In the above regard among other 
priorities in the APP, particular attention had to be paid 
to the demographic profile of the leadership cohort and 
professional staff with regard to race, gender and people 
living with disabilities in the plans for recruitment. The 

organisation has identified this matter as being instrumental 
to its sustainability and in ensuring that there is equity of 
opportunity for all. Another key strategic objective of the 
NRF is to advance a transformed, coherent, learning 
organisation that strives for excellence through its lived 
organisational culture. 

Workforce planning framework and key 
strategies to attract and recruit a skilled and 
capable workforce 

The focus is on internally building a fit-for-purpose 
organisation with a focus on high performance, diversity 
and inclusion. Sourcing of scarce skills to ensure equity 
and representativity of various demographics with 
emphasis on the previously disadvantaged persons 
including persons living with disability and Women in 
middle and senior management roles. The deliverables 
are therefore effective Workforce and Succession 
Planning, Talent Sourcing, Development and Retention. 
To underpin the successes of full achievement of the 
said deliverables the internal organisational environment 
must be aligned to transformation, diversity and inclusion 
objectives. A major contributor to that end is a welcoming 
and supportive organisational culture that is co-created 
and the values thereof lived in every organisational activity 
and performance. 

Employee Performance Management Framework 

The NRF strives to be a high-performance knowledge 
organisation that yields ongoing, long-term value to its 
stakeholders. It therefore needs to maintain total commitment 
to high standards of performance, collaboration and 
teamwork, openness to new ideas and ongoing learning. 
This needs to be done in line with the NRF Act, the NRF 
Strategic Plan and underpinned by the NRF values. It is 
within this context that the NRF Integrated Performance 
Management System (IPMS) and its requirements are 
positioned, driven and implemented. 

The overall aim of the NRF IPMS is to enable the NRF and 
its employees to strive for excellence in the achievement 
of set goals at all levels, through effective performance 
planning, performance monitoring and measurement, and 
appropriate skills development. The key principles that 
underpin the aim of the IPMS are the enhancement of 
organisational performance, recognition of individual and 
team contribution, and the effective management of under-
performance. 
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More specifically, the objectives of the IPMS are to facilitate 
and ensure the following: 

• Alignment between organisational, divisional, 
Business Unit, departmental and individual goals 
and objectives. 

• Agreement on clearly defined employee 
performance goals and objectives, in alignment with 
business goals.

• Monitoring and measurement of employee and team 
performance, against agreed goals and objectives. 

• Provision of regular feedback between management 
and their direct reports on performance relative to 
agreed goals and objectives. 

• Improvement of performance through multi- faceted 
employee development approaches and appropriate 
skills development. 

• Effective discussions on career-pathing, which 
may inform employee development and movement 
considerations. 

• Enhancement and reinforcement of a culture of 
performance and teamwork among employees at 
all levels in the organisation.

Employee wellness programmes 

The NRF implemented a new employee wellness services 
policy and entered into a contract with Life Employee 
Health Solutions (Life EHS) on a 5-year contract for the 
provision of holistic employee wellness to all employees 
and their dependants. From providing compassion baskets 
to financial advice to access to on-site therapists, proactive 
management of employee wellness for the overall benefit 
health of the organisation has been an important focus for 
the division. Various interventions like executive wellness 
and webinars on COVID-19 vaccinations and mental 
health provided the employees with requisite assistance in 
dealing with challenges ranging from work-life balance and 
social encounters. Overall, there is a positive employee 
uptake and feedback on the programme.

Policy development 

The Human Resources and Legal Services division has 
concluded an extensive review of its suite of policies over 
the past year to ensure their relevance and alignment in 
respect of best practice Human Resources management 
and developments in the legislative and employee relations 
environment. 

Highlight achievements 

• The conclusion of an extensive HR Policy and 
process review to ensure their relevance and 
alignment in respect of best practice Human 
Resources management and developments in the 
legislative and employee relations environment. 
The full set of HR Policies was approved by the 
relevant structures in the organisation. 

• The completion of the Management Development 
Programme (MDP) which had fifty six (56) 
participants for the financial year. The Programme 
closed off with what would be our first ever virtual 
graduations. The formal review of the Programme 
which is delivered through the University of 
Stellenbosch Executive Business (USB-EB) is also 
underway and the outcomes of the review will advise 
on the way forward of the programme in relation to 
its intended outcomes.

• This financial year also saw the organisation 
undertaking the culture journey through an 
organisational culture assessment to position the 
organisation in the right place for the delivery of 
NRF Strategy 2025 as part of Vision 2030. With a 
64.5% overall positive response, the NRF overall 
culture can be regarded as favourable. While the 
wins are celebrated, there are some opportunities 
for improvement as well on areas that have been 
identified as negative and/or missing dimensions 
of our culture, being accountability, diversity 
and inclusion at an organisational level, change 
management, collaboration and leadership.

• The organisational review and skills audit project 
gave way to the review and the approval of the 
top structure and the service delivery model for 
the organisation. The new structure is intended 
to reduce complexity and maximise efficiencies, 
provide more focus on core activities and allow 
more opportunities for integrating different parts of 
the organisation alongside having a flexible and 
reconfigurable organisation.

• The Equal Pay For Work Of Equal Value project 
continues at a steady pace. The project has the 
following objectives:

O Review the organisation’s current status to 
investigate whether or not there is any pay 
inequity present.

O To examine whether the obligation to apply pay 
inequity in the NRF is being complied with.
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O To identify any differences in pay for work of 
equal value within the NRF . 

O To investigate the grounds for any differences in 
pay for work of equal value.

O To eliminate instances of pay inequity that cannot 
be justified.

O To assist the Human Resource Department 
to evaluate and implement an action plan to 
meet the operational standards in internal 
remuneration processes. 

O To investigate short and long-term solutions to 
redress any inequity that may exist within the 
pay structure of the NRF in compliance with the 
provisions of the Employment Equity Act, 1998 
(as amended).

Challenges faced by the organisation 

Market challenges are experienced in attracting and 
retaining skilled Human Resources due to the national war 
for talent. As a result of the reduced budget, remuneration 
strategies that could be employed in attracting and retaining 
skilled Human Resources could not be deployed. A major 
concern remains the challenge in meeting transformation 
targets and ensuring that succession pools are sufficiently 
diverse to ensure the sustainability of diversity and 

inclusion. This is partly due to the inability to fill scarce skills 

vacancies and continue to replace exits in such a manner 

as to achieve demographic representativity, as is intended. 

Future HR Plans /Goals 

Over the next three years, the identified challenges will 

be addressed through continued transformation efforts 

to the demographic profile of the NRF staff in line with 

the employment equity targets and the corresponding 

affirmative action measures documented in the Employment 

Equity Plan 2021-2025. An organisational culture which 

supports the delivery of NRF’s strategic direction and high 

performance will be co-created by formally assessing the 

manifest organisational culture and developing the process 

of building the desired culture that will underpin and sustain 

the delivery of NRF’s Strategy 2025 and Vision 2030. There 

will be continued execution of training as per the Workplace 

Skills Plan (WSP) to ensure supportive opportunities for 

employees to develop and meet the organisation’s talent 

requirements. This will include the continuation of executive 

development programmes and coaching for employees 

at senior levels. An organisation-wide skills audit and 

service delivery model review is underway to ensure that 

the support to research performing functions is optimised, 

optimally distributed and shared across the organisation.
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2. HUMAN RESOURCE OVERSIGHT STATISTICS

Table 15: Personnel cost by Programme

Programme
Total 

Expenditure for 
the entity (R’000)

Personnel 
Expenditure 

(R’000)

Personnel 
Expenditure 

as a % of total 
expenditure 

(R’000)

Total 
Employees

Average 
Personnel 
cost per 

employee 
(R’000)

Programme 1 - 
Administration 120,869 77,848 64% 87 895

Programme 2 - 
Science Engagement 121,410 54,079 45% 61 887

Programme 3 -
Research and 
Innovation Support and 
Advancement

2,485,115 125,800 5% 177 711

Programme 4 - 
National Research 
Infrastructure Platforms

1,679,622 543,553 32% 884 615

TOTAL 4,407,016 801,281 18% 1209 663

Table 16: Personnel cost by Business Unit

Business Unit
Total 

Expenditure for the 
entity (R’000)

Personnel 
Expenditure 

(R’000)

Personnel 
Expenditure 

as a % of total 
expenditure 

(R’000)

Total 
Employees

Average 
Personnel cost 
per employee 

(R’000)

Corporate 127,383 83,863 66% 87 964

RISA 2,485,114 125,800 5% 177 711

iThemba LABS 425,000 144,968 34% 238 609

SAAO 153,597 79,293 52% 116 684

SAIAB 65,713 28,064 43% 51 550

SAEON 84,177 43,924 52% 82 536

SARAO 971,240 257,311 26% 397 648

SAASTA 94,792 38,058 40% 61 624

TOTAL 4,407,016 801,281 18% 1209 663

2.1 PERSONNEL RELATED 
EXPENDITURE

The NRF Executive Management and general staff are 
remunerated in accordance with the total cost to company 
approach. To attract and retain high-calibre staff, the NRF 
positions its average salaries for good performers at the 
median of the general market. General salary adjustments 
in respect of prevailing economic conditions are negotiated 
with representative unions on an annual basis. 

Differentiation among individual salaries is based on 
performance as measured through the NRF Integrated 
Performance Management System.

The average personnel cost for 2021/2022 stands at 
R663 000 per employee, and no performance rewards 
were distributed during the financial year. 
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Table 17: Performance rewards by Programme

Programme Performance 
rewards

Personnel 
Expenditure 

(R’000)

% of performance 
rewards to total personnel 

cost (R’000)

Programme 1 - Administration 0 77,848 0%

Programme 2 - Science Engagement 0 54,079 0%

Programme 3 - Research and Innovation 
Support and Advancement 0 125,800 0%

Programme 4 - National Research 
Infrastructure Platforms 0 543,553 0%

TOTAL 0 801,281 0%

Table 18: Training Costs

Business Unit Personnel Expen-
diture (R’000)

Training 
Expenditure 

(R’000)

Training 
Expenditure as a 
% of Personnel 

Cost.

No. of 
employees 

trained

Average training 
cost per 

employee

Corporate/RISA 209,663 4,184 2.0% 753 5,556

iThemba LABS 144,968 363 0.3% 119 3,050

SAAO 79,293 90 0.1% 13 6,923

SAASTA 38,058 181 0.5% 275 658

SAEON 43,924 67 0.2% 38 1,763

SAIAB 28,064 53 0.2% 109 486

SARAO 257,311 1,207 0.5% 222 5,437

TOTAL         801,281 6,145 0.8% 1,529 5,437

Programmes excludes training for non-NRF staff:

• SARAO artisan programme: R1 919 500 (25 people)

• SAIAB bursary grant: R4 028 851 (43 people)

• iThemba LABS bursars (unemployed): R2 675 296 (27 people) 

• iThemba LABS internship: R342 182 (12 people)

• SAASTA volunteers:  R81 000 (78 volunteers)
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EMPLOYMENT AND VACANCIES

The recruitment activity has started to pick up after the 
moratorium on filling of vacancies due to the COVID-19 
impact has been lifted. The vacancy rate at the end of the 

financial year stood at 5.5% with a total of 71 vacancies 
across the entire organisation.

Table 19: Employment and Vacancies at Programme level

Programme
2020/2021

No. of 
Employees

2021/2022
Approved 

Posts

2021/2022
No. of 

Employees

2021/2022
Vacancies

% of 
vacancies

Programme 1 - Administration 65 78 73 5 6.4%

Programme 2 - Science 
Engagement

73 73 72 1 1.4%

Programme 3 - Research and 
Innovation Support and
Advancement

187 188 177 11 5.9%

Programme 4 - National 
Research Infrastructure 
Platforms

908 941 887 54 5.7%

TOTAL 1 233 1 280 1 209 71 5.5%

Table 20: Employment and Vacancies

Level 2020/2021
No. of Employees

2021/2022
Approved 

Posts

2021/2022
No. of 

Employees

2021/2022
Vacancies

% of 
vacancies

Top Management 7 8 8 0 0.0%

Senior Management 35 33 29 4 12.1%

Professional qualified 354 387 356 31 8.0%

Skilled 700 720 689 31 4.3%

Semi-skilled 91 82 80 2 2.4%

Unskilled 46 50 47 3 6.0%

TOTAL 1 233 1 280 1 209 71 5.5%
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Employment changes

A total of 108 terminations occurred and 103 vacancies have been filled during the 2021/2022 financial year. The 
cumulative annual staff turnover for the year was 8.9% of which 7.0% can be classified as controllable turnover which 
includes resignations, contracts expiring, and retrenchments.

Table 21: Employment Changes

Salary Band
Employment at 

beginning of 
a period

Appointments Terminations
Employment at 

end of the period

Top Management 7 2 1 8
Senior Management 35 1 6 29
Professional qualified 354 30 41 356
Skilled 700 62 54 689
Semi-skilled 91 4 4 80
Unskilled 46 4 2 47

TOTAL 1 233 103 108 1 209

Reasons for staff leaving

A total of 108 terminations occurred during the 2021/2022 financial year and the following table provides the reasons for 
staff leaving.

Table 22: Reasons for staff leaving

Reason Number % of total no. of staff leaving

Absconded 0 0.0%

Deceased 3 2.8%

Dismissal 4 3.7%

End of Fixed Term Contract 14 13.0%

Ill-health/Disability 0 0.0%

Resignation 71 65.7%

Retirement 12 11.1%

Retrenchment 0 0.0%

Transfers 4 3.7%

TOTAL 108 100%

Table 23: Labour Relations: Misconduct and disciplinary action

Nature of disciplinary Action Number

Verbal Warning 1

Written Warning 4

Final Written warning 3

Dismissal 4
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Equity Target And Employment Equity Status

The Employment Equity Plan is at the core of the NRF’s 
commitment to implement employment equity and 
transformation of the representativity in all occupation 
levels and categories of its workforce. The plan gives 
effect to the NRF Employment Equity and Redress Policy 
adopted by the Board and sets out the measures to be 
taken to ensure legal compliance with the Employment 
Equity Act, 1998. 

Furthermore, it includes the objectives, activities, 
numerical goals and targets to progressively move 
towards achieving representativity of the designated 
groups across the organisational structure.

Although good progress is made towards achieving 
our annual employment equity goals, the efforts of 
appointing staff from designated groups (86.4%) into the 
organisation are still being eroded by the staff turnover of 
designated groups (63.0%). In the 2021/22 financial year, 
the overall representation of Black staff stands at 72.5% 
against a target of 72.7%. Female representation is at 
40.2% year-to-date against a target of 38.1%. Persons 
with Disabilities account for 0.5% against a target of 
0.91%.
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Table 24: Employment Equity 

EE Occupational Level

Male

African Coloured Indian White Foreign National

Realisation Current Target 2021 Current Target  2021 Current Target  2021 Current Target  2021 Current Target  2021

Top Management 38% 25% 13% 0% 13% 25% 13% 13% 0% 0%

Senior Management 13% 19% 3% 3% 0% 3% 47% 42% 10% 8%

Professionally Qualified and Experi-
enced Specialist and Mid Management 20% 19% 8% 9% 3% 2% 29% 31% 7% 8%

Skilled technical and 
academically qualified workers, junior 
management, supervisors, foremen and 
superintendents

25% 25% 16% 19% 1% 1% 8% 10% 2% 2%

Semi-skilled and discretionary deci-
sion-making 25% 23% 42% 42% 0% 0% 1% 2% 0% 0%

Unskilled and defined decision-making 24% 24% 8% 14% 0% 0% 0% 0% 0% 0%

Total Permanent 23% 23% 15% 17% 2% 2% 15% 16% 3% 4%

Non - Permanent 
Employees 38% 8% 0% 23% 15% 0% 8% 15% 0% 0%

Grand Total 24% 23% 14% 17% 2% 2% 15% 16% 3% 3%
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EE Occupational Level

Female

African Coloured Indian White Foreign National

Realisation Current Target 2021 Current Target 2021 Current Target 2021 Current Target 2021 Current Target 2021

Top Management 13% 25% 13% 13% 0% 0% 0% 0% 0% 0%

Senior Management 13% 14% 3% 0% 7% 6% 3% 6% 10% 0%

Professionally Qualified 
and Experienced Specialist 
and Mid Management

12% 10% 4% 5% 1% 1% 13% 11% 7% 3%

Skilled technical and 
academically qualified 
workers, junior manage-
ment, supervisors, fore-
men and superintendents

29% 28% 9% 9% 2% 2% 6% 5% 2% 1%

Semi-skilled and 
discretionary decision-
making

18% 16% 14% 16% 0% 0% 0% 1% 0% 0%

Unskilled and defined 
decision-making 32% 31% 37% 31% 0% 0% 0% 0% 0% 0%

Total Permanent 22% 22% 9% 9% 2% 1% 8% 6% 3% 1%

Non - Permanent 
Employees 8% 23% 15% 8% 0% 8% 15% 15% 0% 0%

Grand Total 22% 22% 9% 9% 2% 1% 8% 7% 3% 1%
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EE Occupational 
Level

Male (Disability)

African Coloured Indian White Foreign National

Realisation Current Target 2021 Current Target 2021 Current Target 2021 Current Target 2021 Current Target 2021

Top Management 0% 0% 0% 0% 0% 0% 0% 0% 0% 0%

Senior Management 0% 0% 0% 0% 0% 0% 0% 0% 0% 0%

Professionally Qualified 
and Experienced 
Specialist and Mid 
Management

50% 33% 50% 33% 0% 0% 0% 0% 0% 0%

Skilled technical and 
academically qualified 
workers, junior 
management, 
supervisors, foremen 
and superintendents

0% 17% 0% 0% 0% 0% 33% 33% 0% 0%

Semi-skilled and 
discretionary 
decision-making

0% 0% 0% 0% 0% 0% 0% 0% 0% 0%

Unskilled and defined 
decision-making 0% 100% 0% 0% 0% 0% 0% 0% 0% 0%

Total Permanent 17% 25% 17% 8% 0% 0% 17% 17% 0% 0%

Non - Permanent 
Employees 0% 0% 0% 0% 0% 0% 0% 0% 0% 0%

Grand Total 17% 25% 17% 8% 0% 0% 17% 17% 0% 0%
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EE Occupational 
Level

Female (Disability)

African Coloured Indian White Foreign National

Realisation Current Target 2021 Current Target 2021 Current Target 2021 Current Target 2021 Current Target 2022

Top Management 0% 0% 0% 0% 0% 0% 0% 0% 0% 0%

Senior Management 0% 0% 0% 0% 0% 0% 0% 0% 0% 0%

Professionally 
Qualified and 
Experienced Specialist 
and Mid Management

0% 0% 0% 0% 0% 0% 0% 0% 0% 33%

Skilled technical and 
academically qualified 
workers, junior 
management, 
supervisors, foremen 
and superintendents

67% 50% 0% 0% 0% 0% 0% 0% 0% 0%

Semi-skilled and 
discretionary 
decision-making

100% 100% 0% 0% 0% 0% 0% 0% 0% 0%

Unskilled and defined 
decision-making 0% 0% 0% 0% 0% 0% 0% 0% 0% 0%

Total Permanent 50% 42% 0% 0% 0% 0% 0% 0% 0% 8%

Non - Permanent 
Employees 0% 0% 0% 0% 0% 0% 0% 0% 0% 0%

Grand Total 50% 42% 0% 0% 0% 0% 0% 0% 0% 8%
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1. REPORT OF THE AUDITOR-GENERAL TO PARLIAMENT  
 ON THE NATIONAL RESEARCH FOUNDATION

REPORT ON THE AUDIT OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Opinion

1. I have audited the financial statements of the 
National Research Foundation set out on pages 72 
to 123, which comprise the statement of financial 
position as at 31 March 2022, statement of financial 
performance, statement of changes in net assets, 
cash flow statement and statement of comparison 
of budget and actual amounts for the year then 
ended, as well as notes to the financial statements, 
including a summary of significant accounting 
policies.

2. In my opinion, the financial statements present 
fairly, in all material respects, the financial position 
of the National Research Foundation as at 31 
March 2022, and its financial performance and 
cash flows for the year then ended in accordance 
with the Standards of Generally Recognised 
Accounting Practice (GRAP) and the requirements 
of the Public Finance Management Act 1 of 1999 
(PFMA).

Basis for opinion

3. I conducted my audit in accordance with the 
International Standards on Auditing (ISAs). My 
responsibilities under those standards are further 
described in the auditor-general’s responsibilities 
for the audit of the financial statements section of 
my report.

4. I am independent of the entity in accordance 
with the International Ethics Standards Board 
for Accountants’ International code of ethics for 
professional accountants (including International 
Independence Standards) (IESBA code) as well 
as other ethical requirements that are relevant to 
my audit in South Africa. I have fulfilled my other 
ethical responsibilities in accordance with these 
requirements and the IESBA code.

5. I believe that the audit evidence I have obtained is 
sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for my 
opinion.

Responsibilities of the accounting authority for the 
financial statements

6. The accounting authority is responsible for the 
preparation and fair presentation of the financial 
statements in accordance with the Standards of 
GRAP and the requirements of the PFMA, and for 
such internal control as the accounting authority 
determines is necessary to enable the preparation 
of financial statements that are free from material 
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

7. In preparing the financial statements, the accounting 
authority is responsible for assessing the entity’s 
ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, 
as applicable, matters relating to going concern and 
using the going concern basis of accounting unless 
the appropriate governance structure either intends 
to liquidate the entity or to cease operations, or has 
no realistic alternative but to do so.

Auditor-general’s responsibilities for the audit of 
the financial statements

8. My objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance 
about whether the financial statements as a whole 
are free from material misstatement, whether due 
to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report 
that includes my opinion. Reasonable assurance 
is a high level of assurance but is not a guarantee 
that an audit conducted in accordance with the ISAs 
will always detect a material misstatement when it 
exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error 
and are considered material if, individually or in 
aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to 
influence the economic decisions of users taken on 
the basis of these financial statements.

9. A further description of my responsibilities for the 
audit of the financial statements is included in the 
annexure to this auditor’s report.
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REPORT ON THE AUDIT OF THE ANNUAL PERFORMANCE REPORT

Programme Pages in the Annual 
Performance Report

Programme 3 – Research And Innovation Support and Advancement (RISA) 23 – 32

13. I performed procedures to determine whether 
the reported performance information was 
properly presented and whether performance was 
consistent with the approved performance planning 
documents. I performed further procedures to 
determine whether the indicators and related targets 
were measurable and relevant, and assessed the 
reliability of the reported performance information 
to determine whether it was valid, accurate and 
complete.

14. I did not identify any material findings on 
the usefulness and reliability of the reported 
performance information for this programme:

• Programme 3 – research and innovation support 
and advancement (RISA).

Other matter

15. I draw attention to the matter below.

Achievement of planned targets

16. Refer to the Annual Performance Report on pages 
18 to 34 for information on the achievement of 
planned targets for the year and management’s 
explanations provided for the under/overachieve-
ment of targets.

Introduction and scope

10. In accordance with the Public Audit Act 25 of 
2004 (PAA) and the general notice issued in 
terms thereof, I have a responsibility to report 
on the usefulness and reliability of the reported 
performance information against predetermined 
objectives for selected programme presented 
in the annual performance report. I performed 
procedures to identify material findings but not to 
gather evidence to express assurance.

11. My procedures address the usefulness and 
reliability of the reported performance information, 
which must be based on the entity’s approved 
performance planning documents. I have not 
evaluated the completeness and appropriateness of 
the performance indicators included in the planning 

documents. My procedures do not examine 
whether the actions taken by the entity enabled 
service delivery. My procedures do not extend to 
any disclosures or assertions relating to the extent 
of achievements in the current year or planned 
performance strategies and information in respect 
of future periods that may be included as part of the 
reported performance information. Accordingly, my 
findings do not extend to these matters.

12. I evaluated the usefulness and reliability of the 
reported performance information in accordance 
with the criteria developed from the performance 
management and reporting framework, as defined 
in the general notice, for the following selected 
programme presented in the entity’s Annual 
Performance Report for the year ended 31 March 
2022:
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REPORT ON THE AUDIT OF COMPLIANCE WITH LEGISLATION

Introduction and scope

17. In accordance with the PAA and the general notice 
issued in terms thereof, I have a responsibility to 
report material findings on the entity’s compliance 
with specific matters in key legislation. I performed 
procedures to identify findings but not to gather 
evidence to express assurance.

18. I did not identify any material findings on compliance 
with the specific matters in key legislation set out in 
the general notice issued in terms of the PAA.

Other information

19. The accounting authority is responsible for the 
other information. The other information comprises 
the information included in the annual report. The 
other information does not include the financial 
statements, the auditor’s report and the selected 
programme presented in the annual performance 
report that have been specifically reported in this 
auditor’s report.

20. My opinion on the financial statements and findings 
on the reported performance information and 
compliance with legislation do not cover the other 
information and I do not express an audit opinion or 
any form of assurance conclusion on it.

21. In connection with my audit, my responsibility 
is to read the other information and, in doing so, 
consider whether the other information is materially 
inconsistent with the financial statements and the 
selected programme presented in the annual 
performance report, or my knowledge obtained 
in the audit, or otherwise appears to be materially 
misstated.

22. I did not receive the other information prior to the 
date of this auditor’s report. When I do receive and 
read this information, and if I conclude that there 
is a material misstatement therein, I am required 
to communicate the matter to those charged with 
governance and request that the other information 
be corrected. If the other information is not 
corrected, I may have to retract this auditor’s report 
and re-issue an amended report as appropriate. 
However, if it is corrected this will not be necessary.

Internal control deficiencies

23. I considered internal control relevant to my audit 
of the financial statements, reported performance 
information and compliance with applicable 
legislation; however, my objective was not to 
express any form of assurance on it.

24 I did not identify any significant deficiencies in 
internal control.

Pretoria

30 July 2022
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ANNEXURE – AUDITOR-GENERAL’S RESPONSIBILITY FOR THE AUDIT

1. As part of an audit in accordance with the ISAs, 
I exercise professional judgement and maintain 
professional scepticism throughout my audit of the 
financial statements and the procedures performed 
on reported performance information for selected 
programme and on the entity’s compliance with 
respect to the selected subject matters. 

Financial statements 

2. In addition to my responsibility for the audit of the 
financial statements as described in this auditor’s 
report, I also:

• identify and assess the risks of material 
misstatement of the financial statements, 
whether due to fraud or error; design and 
perform audit procedures responsive to those 
risks; and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient 
and appropriate to provide a basis for my 
opinion. The risk of not detecting a material 
misstatement resulting from fraud is higher 
than for one resulting from error, as fraud may 
involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, 
misrepresentations or the override of internal 
control.

• obtain an understanding of internal control 
relevant to the audit in order to design 
audit procedures that are appropriate in the 
circumstances, but not for the purpose of 
expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of 
the entity’s internal control.

• evaluate the appropriateness of accounting 
policies used and the reasonableness of 
accounting estimates and related disclosures 
made by the accounting authority.

• conclude on the appropriateness of the 
accounting authority’s use of the going concern 
basis of accounting in the preparation of the 
financial statements. 

I also conclude, based on the audit evidence 
obtained, whether a material uncertainty 
exists relating to events or conditions that 
may cast significant doubt on the ability of 
the entity to continue as a going concern. If I 
conclude that a material uncertainty exists, I 
am required to draw attention in my auditor’s 
report to the related disclosures in the financial 
statements about the material uncertainty or, 
if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify 
my opinion on the financial statements. My 
conclusions are based on the information 
available to me at the date of this auditor’s 
report. However, future events or conditions 
may cause the entity to cease operating as a 
going concern.

• evaluate the overall presentation, structure and 
content of the financial statements, including 
the disclosures, and determine whether the 
financial statements represent the underlying 
transactions and events in a manner that 
achieves fair presentation.

Communication with those charged with 
governance

5. I communicate with the accounting authority 
regarding, among other matters, the planned 
scope and timing of the audit and significant audit 
findings, including any significant deficiencies in 
internal control that I identify during my audit.

4. I also provide the accounting authority with a 
statement that I have complied with relevant ethical 
requirements regarding independence, and to 
communicate with them all relationships and other 
matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on 
my independence and, where applicable, actions 
taken to eliminate threats or safeguards applied. 
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Dr Nompumelelo Obokoh Dr Fulufhelo Nelwamondo
Chairperson of the NRF Board Chief Executive Officer

2. BOARD’S RESPONSIBILITIES AND APPROVAL

The Board is required by the Public Finance Management 
Act (Act 1 of 1999, as amended), to maintain adequate 
accounting records and is responsible for the content 
and integrity of the Annual Financial Statements and 
related financial information included in this report. It is 
the responsibility of the Board to ensure that the Annual 
Financial Statements fairly present the state of affairs 
of the NRF as at the end of the financial year and the 
results of its operations and cash flows for the period then 
ended. The external auditors are engaged to express an 
independent opinion on the Annual Financial Statements 
and were given unrestricted access to all financial records 
and related data.

The  Annual Financial Statements have been prepared 
in accordance with standards of Generally Recognised 
Accounting Practice (GRAP) including any interpreta-
tions, guidelines and directives issued by the accounting 
standards board.

The Annual Financial Statements are based upon 
appropriate accounting policies consistently applied and 
supported by reasonable and prudent judgements and 
estimates.

The Board acknowledges that it is ultimately responsible for 
the system of internal financial control established by the 
NRF and places considerable  importance on maintaining 
a strong control environment. To enable the Board to meet 
these responsibilities, the Board sets standards for internal 
control aimed at reducing the risk of error or deficit in a 
cost-effective manner. The standards include the proper 
delegation of responsibilities within a clearly defined 
framework, effective accounting procedures and adequate 
segregation of duties to ensure an acceptable level of risk. 
These controls are monitored throughout the NRF and all 
employees are required to maintain the highest ethical 

standards in ensuring the NRF’s business is conducted 
in a manner that in all reasonable circumstances is above 
reproach. The focus of risk management in the NRF is on 
identifying, assessing, managing and monitoring all known 
forms of risk across the entity. While operating risk cannot 
be fully eliminated, the NRF endeavours to minimise it by 
ensuring that appropriate infrastructure, controls, systems 
and ethical behaviour are applied and managed within 
predetermined procedures and constraints.

The Board is of the opinion, based on the information 
and explanations given by Management that the system 
of internal control provides reasonable assurance that the 
financial records may be relied on for the preparation of 
the Annual Financial Statements. However, any system of 
internal financial control can provide only reasonable, and 
not absolute, assurance against material misstatement or 
deficit.

The Board has reviewed the NRF’s budgets and cash flow 
forecast for the year up to 31 March 2022 and, in the light of 
this review and the current financial position, it is satisfied 
that the NRF has, or has access to, adequate resources 
to continue in operational existence for the foreseeable 
future.

Although the Board is primarily responsible for the financial 
affairs of the NRF , it is supported by the NRF’s Audit and 
Risk Committee. The external auditors are responsible for 
independently reviewing and reporting on the NRF’s Annual 
Financial Statements. The Annual Financial Statements 
have been examined by the entity’s external auditors and 
their report is presented on pages 66 to 69.

The Annual Financial Statements set out on pages 72 to 
123, has been prepared on the going concern basis, were 
approved by the Board on 26 July 2022 and were signed 
on its behalf by:



 NRF Annual Report 2021/22 71

3. AUDIT AND RISK COMMITTEE REPORT

We are pleased to present our report for the financial year 
ended 31 March 2022.

Audit and Risk Committee Responsibility 

The Audit and Risk Committee reports that it has complied 
with its responsibilities arising from section 51(a) (ii) of the 
PFMA and Treasury Regulation 3.1.13.

The Audit and Risk Committee has adopted appropriate 
formal Terms of Reference as its Audit and Risk Committee 
Charter, has regulated its affairs in compliance with this 
Charter and has discharged all its responsibilities as 
contained therein.

The effectiveness of internal control 

The system of internal control applied by the NRF over 
financial and risk management is effective, efficient and 
transparent. In line with the PFMA and the King IV report on 
corporate governance requirements, Internal Audit provides 
The Audit and Risk Committee and management with 
assurance that the internal controls are appropriate and 
effective. This is achieved  through the risk management 
process, as well as the identification of corrective actions and 
suggested enhancements to the controls and processes. 
From the various reports of the internal auditors, the external 
audit report on the Annual Financial Statements, and the 
Management Report of the Auditor-General South Africa, 
it was noted that no matters were reported that indicate 
any material deficiencies in the system of internal control 
or any deviations therefrom. Accordingly, we can report that 
the system of internal control over financial reporting for the 
period under review was efficient and effective. 

Evaluation of Annual Financial Statements 

The Audit and Risk Committee has:

• reviewed and discussed the Audited Annual Financial 
Statements to be included in The Annual Performance 
Report, with the Auditor-General and the Board;

• reviewed the Auditor-General of South Africa’s 
management report and management’s response 
thereto;

• reviewed changes in accounting policies and practices;

• reviewed the entity’s compliance with legal and 
regulatory provisions; and

• reviewed significant adjustments resulting from the 
audit.

The Audit and Risk Committee concurs with and accepts 
the Auditor-General of South Africa’s report on the Annual 
Financial Statements, and is of the opinion that the audited 
Annual Financial Statements should be accepted and read 
together with the report of the Auditor-General of South 
Africa.

Internal Audit 

The Audit and Risk Committee is satisfied that the Internal 
Audit function is operating effectively and that it has 
addressed the risks pertinent to the entity and its audits.

Auditor-General of South Africa

The Audit and Risk Committee has met with the Auditor-
General of South Africa to ensure that there are no 
unresolved issues.

Mr Ronny Lubisi 
Chairperson of the Audit and Risk Committee   
National Research Foundation 

Date: July 2022
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4. ANNUAL FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR      
 ENDED 31 MARCH 2022

STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION AS AT 31 MARCH 2022

Assets 

2022 2021
Note(s) R’000 R’000

Current Assets 
Inventories 11  12 607  7 933 
Other financial assets 7  535 090  520 375 
Receivables from exchange transactions 12  523 793  222 764 
Receivables from non-exchange transactions 13  17 794  109 647 
Grants paid in advance 10  11 962  11 707 
Cash and cash equivalents 14  697 144  832 597 

  1 798 390  1 705 023 

Non Current Assets 
Property, plant and equipment 3  2 609 976  2 383 753 
Intangible assets 4  74 710  71 157 
Heritage assets 6  15 665  15 665 
Investments in associates 5  8 401  7 443 
Employee benefit asset 8  483  2 437 
Prepayments 9  3 302  100 293 

  2 712 537  2 580 748 

Total Assets  4 510 927  4 285 771 

Liabilities 
Current Liabilities 
Payables from exchange transactions 18  138 915  141 080 
Designated income received in advance 17  1 559 209  1 566 742 

Total Liabilities  1 698 124  1 707 822 

Net Assets  2 812 803  2 577 949 

Reserves 
SALT fund 16  8 401  7 443 
Capital fund 15  2 700 351  2 470 569 
Infrastructure fund  96 777  96 776 
Accumulated surplus  7 274  3 161 

Total Net Assets  2 812 803  2 577 949 
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STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL PERFORMANCE

2022 2021 
Note(s) R’000 R’000

Revenue 
Revenue from exchange transactions 
Sale of goods and services 19  94 814  69 788 
Other income 20  6 645  9 706 
Interest received  investment 21  40 217  35 398 
Gain on foreign exchange  -  9 437 
Actuarial gains  -  205 
Share of surpluses from associates accounted for using 
the equity method 

 958  - 

Total revenue from exchange transactions  142 634  124 534 

Revenue from non-exchange transactions 
Transfer revenue
Parliamentary grant  962 587  859 469 
DSI contract income 22  3 010 250  2 297 585 
Contract income  other 23  350 904  292 619 

Total revenue from non-exchange transactions  4 323 741  3 449 673 

Total revenue  4 466 375  3 574 207 

Expenditure 
Programme 1: Corporate  (110 569)  (97 071) 
Programme 2: Science Engagement  (116 948)  (89 049) 

Programme 3: Research and Innovation Support and 
Advancement 

 (2 499 033)  (2 243 376) 

Programme 4: National Research Infrastructure Platforms  (1 496 396)  (1 231 900) 
Loss on disposal of assets and liabilities  (493)  (3 573) 
Loss on foreign exchange 33  (6 129)  - 
Actuarial losses  (1 954)  - 
Share of deficits from associates using the equity method  -  (5 148) 

Total expenditure  (4 231 522)  (3 670 117) 

Surplus/(deficit) for the year before asset acquisitions 234 853 (95 910)

The surplus excludes the net acquisition of fixed assets amounting to R230m. The accounting policies on pages 77 to 95 
and the notes on pages 96 to 123 form an integral part of the Annual Financial Statements.
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STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN NET ASSETS

SALT
Fund

Capital 
Fund

Infrastructure 
fund

Total 
Reserves

Accumulated 
Surplus

Total Net 
Assets

R’000 R’000 R’000 R’000 R’000 R’000

Balance at 01 April 2020 12 591 2 553 927 101 777 2 668 295 5 565 2 673 860

Changes in net assets

Surplus for the year - - - - (95 910) (95 910)

Transfer from SALT fund (5 148) - - (5 148) 5 148 -

Transfer from Capital fund - (83 358) - (83 358) 83 358 -

Transfer from Infrastructure fund - - (5 000) (5 000) 5 000 -

Total changes (5 148) (83 358) (5 000) (93 506) (2 404) (95 910)

Balance at 01 April 2021 7 443 2 470 569 96 777 2 574 789 3 161 2 577 950

Changes in net assets

Surplus for the year - - - - 234 853 234 853

Transfer to Capital Fund - 229 782 - 229 782 (229 782) -

Transfer to SALT Fund 958 - - 958 (958) -

Total changes 958 229 782 - 230 740 4 113 234 853

Balance at 31 March 2022 8 401 2 700 351 96 777 2 805 529 7 274 2 812 803

Note(s) 16 15
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CASH FLOW STATEMENT

2022 2021

Note(s) R’000 R’000

Cash flows from operating activities

Receipts 

Parliamentary grant  962 587  859 469 

DSI contract funding received  3 063 761  2 251 642 

Other contract funding received  381 711  141 913 

Interest income  40 217  35 398 

Other receipts  46 998  74 320 

  4 495 274  3 362 742 

Payments 

Employee costs  (803 847)  (805 040) 

Suppliers  (906 168)  (415 310) 

Grants, bursaries and other research  (2 436 933)  (1 974 697) 

  (4 146 948)  (3 195 047) 

Net cash flows from operating activities 28  348 326  167 695 

Cash flows from investing activities

Purchase of property, plant and equipment 3  (474 143)  (172 990) 

Proceeds from sale of property, plant and equipment 3  502  130 

Purchase of other intangible assets 4  (10 138)  (23 290) 

Purchase of heritage assets 6  -  (4) 

Net cash flows from investing activities  (483 779)  (196 154) 

Net increase/(decrease) in cash and cash equivalents  (135 453)  (28 459) 

Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the year  832 597  861 056 

Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the year 14  697 144  832 597 
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STATEMENT OF COMPARISON OF BUDGET AND ACTUAL AMOUNTS

Budget on Accrual Basis

Approved 
budget

Actual amounts 
on comparable 

basis

Difference
between final 

budget and 
actual

Reference

R’000 R’000 R’000

Statement of Financial Performance

Revenue 

Sale of goods and services  72 791  94 814  22 023 36

Other income   4 971  6 645  1 674 

Interest received  investment  18 011  40 217  22 206 36

Total revenue from exchange transactions  95 773  141 676  45 903 

Ringfenced income 

DSI contract income  3 554 793  3 010 250  (544 543) 36

Parliamentary grant  962 587  962 587  - 

Other contract income  317 222  350 904  33 682 36

Total revenue from non-exchange transactions  4 834 602  4 323 741  (510 861) 

Total revenue  4 930 375  4 465 417  (464 958) 

Expenditure 

Employees related costs  (944 394)  (801 281)  143 113 36

Depreciation and amortisation  (308 587)  (252 138)  56 449 36

Grants, bursaries and other research expenditure  (2 573 029)  (2 421 963)  151 066 36

Programme and operating expenses  (768 980)  (747 564)  21 416 36

Total expenditure  (4 594 990)  (4 222 946)  372 044 

Loss on disposal of assets and liabilities  (153)  (493)  (340) 

Gain/(loss) on foreign exchange  (678)  (6 129)  (5 451) 

Actuarial gain/(losses)  -  (1 954)  (1 954) 

Share of surpluses or deficits from associates or joint 
ventures accounted for using the equity method 

 -  958  958 

  (831)  (7 618)  (6 787) 

Actual amount on comparable basis as presented 
in the Budget and Actual Comparative Statement

334 554 234 853 (99 701)
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ACCOUNTING POLICIES

1. Presentation of Annual Financial Statements

The Annual Financial Statements have been prepared in accordance with the standards of Generally Recognised 
Accounting Practice (GRAP), issued by the Accounting Standards Board in accordance with section 89 of the Public 
Finance Management Act (Act 1 of 1999).

These Annual Financial Statements have been prepared on an accrual basis of accounting and are in accordance with the 
historical cost convention as the basis of measurement, unless specified otherwise. They are presented in South African 
rand.

In the absence of an issued and effective standard of GRAP, accounting policies for material transactions, events or 
conditions were developed in accordance with GRAP 3 as read with directive 5, which set out the principles in determining 
the GRAP reporting framework to be applied.

Assets, liabilities, revenues and expenses were not offset, except where offsetting is either required or permitted by a 
standard of GRAP. 

A summary of the significant accounting policies, which have been consistently applied in the preparation of these Annual 
Financial Statements, are disclosed below.

These accounting policies are consistent with the previous period.

1.1 Presentation currency

These Annual Financial Statements are presented in South African rand, which is the functional currency of the entity.

1.2 Going concern assumption

These Annual Financial Statements have been prepared based on the expectation that the entity will continue to 
operate as a going concern for at least the next 12 months.

1.3 Materiality

Material omissions or misstatements of items are material if they could, individually or collectively, influence the decisions 
or assessments of users made on the basis of the financial statements. Materiality depends on the nature or size of 
the omission or misstatement judged in the surrounding circumstances. The nature or size of the information item, or a 
combination of both, could be the determining factor.

Assessing whether an omission or misstatement could influence decisions of users, and so be material, requires 
consideration of the characteristics of those users. The framework for the preparation and presentation of financial 
statements states that users are assumed to have a reasonable knowledge of government, its activities, accounting and 
a willingness to study the information with reasonable diligence. Therefore, the assessment takes into account how users 
with such attributes could reasonably be expected to be influenced in making and evaluating decisions.

1.4 Significant judgements and sources of estimation uncertainty

In preparing the Annual Financial Statements, management is required to make estimates and assumptions that affect 
the amounts represented in the Annual Financial Statements and related disclosures. Use of available information and 
the application of judgement is inherent in the formation of estimates. Actual results in the future could differ from these 
estimates, which may be material to the Annual Financial Statements. Significant judgements include:



 NRF Annual Report 2021/22 78

Trade receivables / Held to maturity investments and/or loans and receivables

The entity assesses its trade receivables and loans and receivables for impairment at the end of each reporting period. 
In determining whether an impairment loss should be recorded in surplus or deficit, the entity makes judgements as to 
whether there is observable data indicating a measurable decrease in the estimated future cash flows from a financial 
asset.

The impairment for trade receivables, held to maturity investments and loans and receivables is calculated on a portfolio 
basis, based on historical loss ratios, adjusted for national and industry-specific economic conditions and other indicators 
present at the reporting date that correlate with defaults on the portfolio. These annual loss ratios are applied to loan 
balances in the portfolio and scaled to the estimated loss emergence period.

Fair value estimation

The carrying value less impairment provision of trade receivables and payables are assumed to approximate their fair 
values. The fair value of financial liabilities for disclosure purposes is estimated by discounting the future contractual cash 
flows at the current market interest rate that is available to the entity for similar financial instruments.

Impairment testing

The recoverable amounts of cash-generating units and individual assets have been determined based on the higher of 
value in use calculations and fair values less costs to sell. These calculations require the use of estimates and assumptions. 

The entity reviews and tests the carrying value of assets when events or changes in circumstances suggest that the 
carrying amount may not be recoverable. Assets are grouped at the lowest level for which identifiable cash flows are 
largely independent of cash flows of other assets and liabilities. If there are indications that impairment may have occurred, 
estimates are prepared of expected future cash flows for each group of assets. Expected future cash flows used to 
determine the value in use of tangible assets are inherently uncertain and could materially change over time.

Provisions
Provisions were raised and management determined an estimate based on the information available. Additional disclosure 
of these estimates of provisions are included in note  provisions.

Post-retirement benefits

The present value of the post-retirement obligation depends on a number of factors that are determined on an actuarial 
basis using a number of assumptions. The assumptions used in determining the net cost/(income) include the discount 
rate and healthcare cost inflation. Any changes in these assumptions will impact on the carrying amount of post-retirement 
obligations.

Other key assumptions are based on current market conditions. Additional information is disclosed in note 8.

Effective interest rate

The entity used the prime interest rate to discount future cash flows.

1.5 Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment are tangible non-current assets (including infrastructure assets)that are held for use in the 
production or supply of goods or services, rental to others, or for administrative purposes, and are expected to be used 
during more than one period.

The cost of an item of property, plant and equipment is recognised as an asset when:

•  it is probable that future economic benefits or service potential associated with the item will flow to the entity; and

•  the cost of the item can be measured reliably.

Property, plant and equipment is initially measured at cost.

The cost of an item of property, plant and equipment is the purchase price and other costs attributable to bring the asset 
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to the location and condition necessary for it to be capable of operating in the manner intended by management. Trade 
discounts and rebates are deducted in arriving at the cost.

Where an asset is acquired through a non-exchange transaction, its cost is its fair value as at date of acquisition.

Where an item of property, plant and equipment is acquired in exchange for a non-monetary asset or monetary assets, or 
a combination of monetary and non-monetary assets, the asset acquired is initially measured at fair value (the cost). If the 
acquired item’s fair value was not determinable, its deemed cost is the carrying amount of the asset(s) given up.

When significant components of an item of property, plant and equipment have different useful lives, they are accounted 
for as separate items (major components) of property, plant and equipment. 

Costs include costs incurred initially to acquire or construct an item of property, plant and equipment and costs incurred 
subsequently to add to, replace part of, or service it. If a replacement cost is recognised in the carrying amount of an item 
of property, plant and equipment, the carrying amount of the replaced part is derecognised.

The initial estimate of the costs of dismantling and removing the item and restoring the site on which it is located is also 
included in the cost of property, plant and equipment, where the entity is obligated to incur such expenditure, and where 
the obligation arises as a result of acquiring the asset or using it for purposes other than the production of inventories.

Recognition of costs in the carrying amount of an item of property, plant and equipment ceases when the item is in the 
location and condition necessary for it to be capable of operating in the manner intended by management.

Items such as spare parts, standby equipment and servicing equipment are recognised when they meet the definition of 
property, plant and equipment.

Major inspection costs which are a condition of continuing use of an item of property, plant and equipment and which meet 
the recognition criteria above are included as a replacement in the cost of the item of property, plant and equipment. Any 
remaining inspection costs from the previous inspection are derecognised.

Property, plant and equipment is carried at cost less accumulated depreciation and any impairment losses.

Property, plant and equipment is depreciated on the straight line basis over their expected useful lives to their estimated 
residual value.

The depreciable amount of an asset is allocated on a systematic basis over its useful life.

Each part of an item of property, plant and equipment with a cost that is significant in relation to the total cost of the item 
is depreciated separately.

The depreciation method used reflects the pattern in which the asset’s future economic benefits or service potential are 
expected to be consumed by the entity. The depreciation method applied to an asset is reviewed at least at each reporting 
date and, if there has been a significant change in the expected pattern of consumption of the future economic benefits 
or service potential embodied in the asset, the method is changed to reflect the changed pattern. Such a change is 
accounted for as a change in an accounting estimate.

The entity assesses at each reporting date whether there is any indication that the entity’s expectations about the residual 
value and the useful life of an asset have changed since the preceding reporting date. If any such indication exists, the 
entity revises the expected useful life and/or residual value accordingly. The change is accounted for as a change in an 
accounting estimate.

The depreciation charge for each period is recognised in surplus or deficit unless it is included in the carrying amount of 
another asset.

Items of property, plant and equipment is derecognised when the asset is disposed of or when there are no further 
economic benefits or service potential expected from the use of the asset.

The gain or loss arising from the derecognition of an item of property, plant and equipment is included in surplus or deficit 
when the item is derecognised. The gain or loss arising from the derecognition of an item of property, plant and equipment 
is determined as the difference between the net disposal proceeds, if any, and the carrying amount of the item.
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The entity separately discloses expenditure to repair and maintain property, plant and equipment in the notes to the 
financial statements (see note 3).

The entity discloses relevant information relating to assets under construction or development, in the notes to the financial 
statements (see note 3).

1.6 Intangible assets

An asset is identifiable if it either:
•     is separable, i.e., is capable of being separated or divided from an entity and sold, transferred, licensed, rented 

or exchanged, either individually or together with a related contract, identifiable assets or liability, regardless of 
whether the entity intends to do so; or

•   arises from binding arrangements (including rights from contracts), regardless of whether those rights are   transferable 
or separable from the entity or from other rights and obligations.

A binding arrangement describes an arrangement that confers similar rights and obligations on the parties to it as if it were 
in the form of a contract.

An intangible asset is recognised when:
•  it is probable that the expected future economic benefits or service potential that are attributable to the asset
   will flow to the entity; and
•  the cost or fair value of the asset can be measured reliably.

The entity assesses the probability of expected future economic benefits or service potential using reasonable and 
supportable assumptions that represent management’s best estimate of the set of economic conditions that will exist over 
the useful life of the asset.

Where an intangible asset is acquired through a non-exchange transaction, its initial cost at the date of acquisition is 
measured at its fair value as at that date.

Expenditure on research (or on the research phase of an internal project) is recognised as an expense when it is incurred.

An intangible asset arising from development (or from the development phase of an internal project) is recognised when:

•   it is technically feasible to complete the asset so that it will be available for use or sale.

•   there is an intention to complete and use or sell it.

•   there is an ability to use or sell it.

•   it will generate probable future economic benefits or service potential.

•   there are available technical, financial and other resources to complete the development and to use or sell the asset.

•   the expenditure attributable to the asset during its development can be measured reliably.

Intangible assets are carried at cost less any accumulated amortisation and any impairment losses.

An intangible asset is regarded as having an indefinite useful life when, based on all relevant factors, there is no foreseeable 
limit to the period over which the asset is expected to generate net cash inflows or service potential. Amortisation is not 
provided for these intangible assets, but they are tested for impairment annually and whenever there is an indication that the 
asset may be impaired. For all other intangible assets amortisation is provided on a straight line basis over their useful life.

The amortisation period and the amortisation method for intangible assets are reviewed at each reporting date.

Reassessing the useful life of an intangible asset with a finite useful life after it was classified as indefinite is an indicator 
that the asset may be impaired. As a result the asset is tested for impairment and the remaining carrying amount is 
amortised over its useful life.

Internally generated brands, mastheads, publishing titles, customer lists and items similar in substance are not recognised 
as intangible assets.

Internally generated goodwill is not recognised as an intangible asset.

Amortisation is provided to write down the intangible assets, on a straight line basis, to their residual values as follows:
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Item Depreciation method Average useful life

Computer software Straight line 3  10 years

The entity discloses relevant information relating to assets under construction or development, in the notes to the financial 
statements (see note 4).

Intangible assets are derecognised:
•  on disposal; or
•  when no future economic benefits or service potential are expected from its use or disposal.

The gain or loss arising from the derecognition of intangible assets is included in surplus or deficit when the asset is 
derecognised (unless the standard of GRAP on leases requires otherwise on a sale and leaseback).

1.7 Heritage assets

Heritage assets are assets that have a cultural, environmental, historical, natural, scientific, technological or artistic 
significance and are held indefinitely for the benefit of present and future generations.

An inalienable item is an asset that an entity is required by law or otherwise to retain indefinitely and cannot be disposed 
of without consent.

Recognition

The entity recognises a heritage asset as an asset if it is probable that future economic benefits or service potential 
associated with the asset will flow to the entity, and the cost or fair value of the asset can be measured reliably.

Initial measurement

Heritage assets are measured at cost.

Where a heritage asset is acquired through a non-exchange transaction, its cost is measured at its fair value as at the 
date of acquisition.

Subsequent measurement

After recognition as an asset, a class of heritage assets is carried at its cost less any accumulated impairment losses.

Impairment

The entity assesses at each reporting date whether there is an indication that it may be impaired. If any such indication 
exists, the entity estimates the recoverable amount or the recoverable service amount of the heritage asset.

Transfers

Transfers from heritage assets are only made when the particular asset no longer meets the definition of a heritage asset.

Transfers to heritage assets are only made when the asset meets the definition of a heritage asset.

Derecognition

The entity derecognises heritage asset on disposal, or when no future economic benefits or service potential are expected 
from its use or disposal.

The gain or loss arising from the derecognition of a heritage asset is included in surplus or deficit when the item is 
derecognised (unless the standard of GRAP on leases requires otherwise on a sale and leaseback).

1.8  Financial instruments

A financial instrument is any contract that gives rise to a financial asset of one entity and a financial liability or a residual 
interest of another entity.
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The amortised cost of a financial asset or financial liability is the amount at which the financial asset or financial liability is 
measured at initial recognition minus principal repayments, plus or minus the cumulative amortisation using the effective 
interest method of any difference between that initial amount and the maturity amount, and minus any reduction (directly 
or through the use of an allowance account) for impairment or uncollectibility.

Credit risk is the risk that one party to a financial instrument will cause a financial loss for the other party by failing to 
discharge an obligation.

Currency risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate because of changes 
in foreign exchange rates.

Derecognition is the removal of a previously recognised financial asset or financial liability from an entity’s statement of 
financial position.

The effective interest method is a method of calculating the amortised cost of a financial asset or a financial liability (or 
group of financial assets or financial liabilities) and of allocating the interest income or interest expense over the relevant 
period. The effective interest rate is the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash payments or receipts through the 
expected life of the financial instrument or, when appropriate, a shorter period to the net carrying amount of the financial 
asset or financial liability. When calculating the effective interest rate, an entity shall estimate cash flows considering all 
contractual terms of the financial instrument (for example, prepayment, call and similar options) but shall not consider 
future Credit losses. The calculation includes all fees and points paid or received between parties to the contract that are 
an integral part of the effective interest rate, transaction costs, and all other premiums or discounts. There is a presumption 
that the cash flows and the expected life of a group of similar financial instruments can be estimated reliably. However, in 
those rare cases when it is not possible to reliably estimate the cash flows or the expected life of a financial instrument (or 
group of financial instruments), the entity shall use the contractual cash flows over the full contractual term of the financial 
instrument (or group of financial instruments).

Fair value is the amount for which an asset could be exchanged, or a liability settled, between knowledgeable willing 
parties in an arm’s length transaction.

A financial asset comprises of:
• Cash;
• A residual interest of another entity; or
• A contractual right to: 

- receive cash or another financial asset from another entity; or 
- exchange financial assets or financial liabilities with another entity     
  under conditions that are potentially favourable to the entity.

A financial liability is any liability that is a contractual obligation to:
• Deliver cash or another financial asset to another entity; or
• Exchange financial assets or financial liabilities under conditions that are potentially unfavourable to the entity.

Interest rate risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate because of changes 
in market interest rates.

Liquidity risk is the risk encountered by an entity in the event of difficulty in meeting obligations associated with financial 
liabilities that are settled by delivering cash or another financial asset.

Loans payable are financial liabilities, other than short-term payables on normal Credit terms.

Market risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate because of changes in 
market prices. Market risk comprises three types of risk: currency risk, interest rate risk and other price risk.

Other price risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate because of changes 
in market prices (other than those arising from interest rate risk or currency risk), whether those changes are caused by 
factors specific to the individual financial instrument or its issuer, or factors affecting all similar financial instruments traded 
in the market.



 NRF Annual Report 2021/22 83

A financial asset is past due when a counter party has failed to make a payment when contractually due.

Financial instruments at amortised cost are non-derivative financial assets or non-derivative financial liabilities that have 
fixed or determinable payments, excluding those instruments that:

• The entity designates at fair value at initial recognition; or
• Are held for trading.

Financial instruments at cost are investments in residual interests that do not have a quoted market price in an active 
market, and whose fair value cannot be reliably measured.

Classification
The entity has the following types of financial assets (classes and category) as reflected on the face of the statement of 
financial position or in the notes thereto:
`

Class Category

Trade and other receivables Financial asset measured at amortised cost

Cash and cash equivalents Financial asset measured at amortised cost

Grant deposit accounts Financial asset measured at amortised cost

The entity has the following types of financial liabilities (classes and category) as reflected on the face of the statement of 
financial position or in the notes thereto:
`

Class Category
Trade and other payables Financial liability measured at amortised cost

Finance leases Financial liability measured at amortised cost

1.9 Tax

Tax expenses

The NRF is exempt from paying income tax and the registration for value added tax (Vat).

1.10 Leases
A lease is classified as a finance lease if it transfers substantially all the risks and rewards incidental to ownership. A lease 
is classified as an operating lease if it does not transfer substantially all the risks and rewards incidental to ownership.

When a lease includes both land and buildings elements, the entity assesses the classification of each element separately.

Finance leases  lessee

Finance leases are recognised as assets and liabilities in the statement of financial position at amounts equal to the fair 
value of the leased property or, if lower, the present value of the minimum lease payments. The corresponding liability to 
the lessor is included in the statement of financial position as a finance lease obligation.
The discount rate used in calculating the present value of the minimum lease payments is the interest rate implicit in the 
lease.

Minimum lease payments are apportioned between the finance charge and reduction of the outstanding liability. The 
finance charge is allocated to each period during the lease term so as to produce a constant periodic rate on the remaining 
balance of the liability.

Any contingent rents are expensed in the period in which they are incurred.

Operating leases - lessor

Operating lease revenue is recognised as revenue on a straightline basis over the lease term.

Initial direct costs incurred in negotiating and arranging operating leases are added to the carrying amount of the leased 
asset and recognised as an expense over the lease term on the same basis as the lease revenue.

Income for leases is disclosed under revenue in statement of financial performance.
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Operating leases-lessee

Operating lease payments are recognised as an expense on a straightline basis over the lease term. The difference 
between the amounts recognised as an expense and the contractual payments are recognised as an operating lease 
asset or liability.

1.11 Inventories

Inventories are initially measured at cost except where inventories are acquired through a non-exchange transaction, then 
their costs are their fair value as at the date of acquisition.

Subsequently inventories are measured at the lower of cost and net realisable value.

Inventories are measured at the lower of cost and current replacement cost where they are held for;

• Distribution at no charge or for a nominal charge; or

• Consumption in the production process of goods to be distributed at no charge or for a nominal charge.

Net realisable value is the estimated selling price in the ordinary course of operations less the estimated costs of completion 
and the estimated costs necessary to make the sale, exchange or distribution.

Current replacement cost is the cost the entity incurs to acquire the asset on the reporting date.

The cost of inventories comprises of all costs of purchase, costs of conversion and other costs incurred in bringing the 
inventories to their present location and condition.

The cost of inventories is assigned using the First in, First out (FIFO) formula. The same cost formula is used for all 
inventories having a similar nature and use to the entity.

When inventories are sold, the carrying amounts of those inventories are recognised as an expense in the period in 
which the related revenue is recognised. If there is no related revenue, the expenses are recognised when the goods are 
distributed, or related services are rendered. The amount of any write down of inventories to net realisable value or current 
replacement cost and all losses of inventories are recognised as an expense in the period the write down or loss occurs. 
The amount of any reversal of any write down of inventories, arising from an increase in net realisable value or current 
replacement cost, are recognised as a reduction in the amount of inventories recognised as an expense in the period in 
which the reversal occurs.

1.12 Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents comprise bank balances, cash on hand and demand deposits.

Cash equivalents are short-term, highly liquid investments that are readily convertible to known amounts of cash and 
which are subject to an insignificant risk of changes in value.

Cash equivalents are held for the purpose of meeting short-term cash commitments rather than for investment or other purposes.

1.13 Impairment of cash-generating assets

Cash-generating assets are assets used with the objective of generating a commercial return. Commercial return means 
that positive cash flows are expected to be significantly higher than the cost of the asset.

Impairment is a loss in the future economic benefits or service potential of an asset, over and above the systematic 
recognition of the loss of the asset’s future economic benefits or service potential through depreciation (amortisation).

Carrying amount is the amount at which an asset is recognised in the statement of financial position after deducting any 
accumulated depreciation and accumulated impairment losses thereon.

A cash-generating unit is the smallest identifiable group of assets used with the objective of generating a commercial 
return that generates cash inflows from continuing use that are largely independent of the cash inflows from other assets 
or groups of assets.
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Identification

When the carrying amount of a cash-generating asset exceeds its recoverable amount, it is impaired.

The entity assesses at each reporting date whether there is any indication that a cash-generating asset may be impaired. 
If any such indication exists, the entity estimates the recoverable amount of the asset.

Irrespective of whether there is any indication of impairment, the entity also tests a cash-generating intangible asset with 
an indefinite useful life or a cash-generating intangible asset not yet available for use for impairment annually by comparing 
its carrying amount with its recoverable amount. This impairment test is performed at the same time every year. If an 
intangible asset was initially recognised during the current reporting period, that intangible asset was tested for impairment 
before the end of the current reporting period.

Value in use

Value in use of a cash-generating asset is the present value of the estimated future cash flows expected to be derived from 
the continuing use of an asset and from its disposal at the end of its useful life.

When estimating the value in use of an asset, the entity estimates the future cash inflows and outflows to be derived from 
continuing use of the asset and from its ultimate disposal and the entity applies the appropriate discount rate to those future 
cash flows.

Discount rate

The discount rate is a pre-tax rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of money, represented by the 
current risk-free rate of interest and the risks specific to the asset for which the future cash flow estimates have not been adjusted.

Recognition and measurement (individual asset)

If the recoverable amount of a cash-generating asset is less than its carrying amount, the carrying amount of the asset is 
reduced to its recoverable amount. This reduction is an impairment loss.

An impairment loss is recognised Immediately in surplus or deficit.

When the amount estimated for an impairment loss is greater than the carrying amount of the cash-generating asset to 
which it relates, the entity recognises a liability only to the extent that is a requirement in the standard of GRAP.

After the recognition of an impairment loss, the depreciation (amortisation) charge for the cash-generating asset is adjusted 
in future periods to allocate the cash-generating asset’s revised carrying amount, less its residual value (if any), on a 
systematic basis over its remaining useful life.

Cash-generating units

If there is any indication that an asset may be impaired, the recoverable amount is estimated for the individual asset. If it 
is not possible to estimate the recoverable amount of the individual asset, the entity determines the recoverable amount of 
the cash-generating unit to which the asset belongs (the asset’s cash-generating unit).

If an active market exists for the output produced by an asset or group of assets, that asset or group of assets is identified 
as a cash-generating unit, even if some or all of the output is used internally. If the cash inflows generated by any asset or 
cash-generating unit are affected by internal transfer pricing, the entity uses management’s best estimate of future price(s) 
that could be achieved in arm’s length transactions in estimating:

• The future cash inflows used to determine the asset’s or cash-generating unit’s value in use; and

• The future cash outflows used to determine the value in use of any other assets or cash-generating units that are 
affected by the internal transfer pricing.

Cash-generating units are identified consistently from period to period for the same asset or types of assets, unless a 
change is justified.

The carrying amount of a cash-generating unit is determined on a basis consistent with the way the recoverable amount 
of the cash-generating unit is determined.
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An impairment loss is recognised for a cash-generating unit if the recoverable amount of the unit is less than the carrying 
amount of the unit. The impairment is allocated to reduce the carrying amount of the cash-generating assets of the unit on 
a pro rata basis, based on the carrying amount of each asset in the unit. These reductions in carrying amounts are treated 
as impairment losses on individual assets.

In allocating an impairment loss, the entity does not reduce the carrying amount of an asset below the highest of:
• Its fair value less costs to sell (if determinable);
• Its value in use (if determinable); and
• Zero.

The amount of the impairment loss that would otherwise have been allocated to the asset is allocated pro rata to the other 
cash-generating assets of the unit.

Where a non-cash-generating asset contributes to a cash-generating unit, a proportion of the carrying amount of that 
non-cash-generating asset is allocated to the carrying amount of the cash-generating unit prior to estimation of the 
recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit.

Reversal of impairment loss
The entity assesses at each reporting date whether there is any indication that an impairment loss recognised in prior 
periods for a cash-generating asset may no longer exist or may have decreased. If any such indication exists, the entity 
estimates the recoverable amount of that asset.

An impairment loss recognised in prior periods for a cash-generating asset is reversed if there has been a change in 
the estimates used to determine the asset’s recoverable amount since the last impairment loss was recognised. The 
carrying amount of the asset is increased to its recoverable amount. The increase is a reversal of an impairment loss. 
The increased carrying amount of an asset attributable to a reversal of an impairment loss does not exceed the carrying 
amount that would have been determined (net of depreciation or amortisation) had no impairment loss been recognised 
for the asset in prior periods.

A reversal of an impairment loss for a cash-generating asset is recognised Immediately in surplus or deficit.

After a reversal of an impairment loss is recognised, the depreciation (amortisation) charge for the cash-generating asset 
is adjusted in future periods to allocate the cash-generating asset’s revised carrying amount, less its residual value (if any), 
on a systematic basis over its remaining useful life.

A reversal of an impairment loss for a cash-generating unit is allocated to the cash-generating assets of the unit pro rata with 
the carrying amounts of those assets. These increases in carrying amounts are treated as reversals of impairment losses 
for individual assets. No part of the amount of such a reversal is allocated to a non-cash-generating asset contributing 
service potential to a cash-generating unit.

In allocating a reversal of an impairment loss for a cash-generating unit, the carrying amount of an asset is not increased 
above the lower of:

• Its recoverable amount (if determinable); and

• The carrying amount that would have been determined (net of amortisation or depreciation) had no impairment loss 
been recognised for the asset in prior periods.

The amount of the reversal of the impairment loss that would otherwise have been allocated to the asset is allocated pro 
rata to the other assets of the unit.

Redesignation

The redesignation of assets from a cash-generating asset to a non-cash-generating asset or from a non-cash-generating 
asset to a cash-generating asset only occurs when there is clear evidence that such a redesignation is appropriate.

1.14  Impairment of non-cash-generating assets
Non-cash-generating assets are assets other than cash-generating assets.
Impairment is a loss in the future economic benefits or service potential of an asset, over and above the systematic 
recognition of the loss of the asset’s future economic benefits or service potential through depreciation (amortisation).
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Identification

When the carrying amount of a non-cash-generating asset exceeds its recoverable service amount, it is impaired.

The entity assesses at each reporting date whether there is any indication that a non-cash-generating asset may be 
impaired. If any such indication exists, the entity estimates the recoverable service amount of the asset.

Irrespective of whether there is any indication of impairment, the entity also tests a non-cash-generating intangible asset 
with an indefinite useful life or a non-cash-generating intangible asset not yet available for use for impairment annually by 
comparing its carrying amount with its recoverable service amount. This impairment test is performed at the same time 
every year. If an intangible asset was initially recognised during the current reporting period, that intangible asset was 
tested for impairment before the end of the current reporting period.

Value in use

Value in use of non-cash-generating assets is the present value of the non-cash-generating assets remaining service potential.

Recognition and measurement

If the recoverable service amount of a non-cash-generating asset is less than its carrying amount, the carrying amount of 
the asset is reduced to its recoverable service amount. This reduction is an impairment loss.

An impairment loss is recognised Immediately in surplus or deficit.

When the amount estimated for an impairment loss is greater than the carrying amount of the non-cash-generating asset to 
which it relates, the entity recognises a liability only to the extent that is a requirement in the standards of GRAP.

After the recognition of an impairment loss, the depreciation (amortisation) charge for the non-cash-generating asset is 
adjusted in future periods to allocate the non-cash-generating asset’s revised carrying amount, less its residual value (if 
any), on a systematic basis over its remaining useful life.

Reversal of an impairment loss

The entity assesses at each reporting date whether there is any indication that an impairment loss recognised in prior 
periods for a non-cash-generating asset may no longer exist or may have decreased. If any such indication exists, the 
entity estimates the recoverable service amount of that asset.

An impairment loss recognised in prior periods for a non-cash-generating asset is reversed if there has been a change in 
the estimates used to determine the asset’s recoverable service amount since the last impairment loss was recognised. 
The carrying amount of the asset is increased to its recoverable service amount. The increase is a reversal of an impairment 
loss. The increased carrying amount of an asset attributable to a reversal of an impairment loss does not exceed the 
carrying amount that would have been determined (net of depreciation or amortisation) had no impairment loss been 
recognised for the asset in prior periods.

A reversal of an impairment loss for a non-cash-generating asset is recognised immediately in surplus or deficit.

After a reversal of an impairment loss is recognised, the depreciation (amortisation) charge for the non-cash-generating 
asset is adjusted in future periods to allocate the non-cash-generating asset’s revised carrying amount, less its residual 
value (if any), on a systematic basis over its remaining useful life.

1.15 Grant deposits

The NRF advances funding to higher education and research institutions in the form of grant deposits. The advances are 
calculated based on the expected grant awards for the year.  The balance is reviewed annually by the NRF to determine 
the adequacy of the amount. The advances are done in order to facilitate adequate cash flow for the grant-making process 
at these institutions. Grant deposits must be preserved and maintained at the approved normal level.  Per agreement, 
the interest earned on the grant deposits by the institutions is used to fund administration costs, inclusive of staff of the 
institutions that are dedicated to the NRF grant administration process.  Should the interest earned be more than funding 
requisites to fund extra human capacity for staff supporting NRF projects, the institution has the right to utilise such 
amounts for research purposes as it deems appropriate. The approved normal level of grant deposits are repayable to the 
NRF on 30 days’ notice in an event of the funding being discontinued.
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1.16 Grants paid in advance

Grant advances to grant holders represent advances paid on specific grant awards, for which the conditions of grants were 
finalised, and the specific grant awards released by the NRF. The balance of the grant advances is depleted as and when 
the recognition criteria for grants and bursaries expenditure are met, i.e. approved and proof of expenditure submitted.

1.17 Employee benefits

Employee benefits are all forms of consideration given by an entity in exchange for service rendered by employees.

Termination benefits are employee benefits payable as a result of either:
• An entity’s decision to terminate an employee’s employment before the normal retirement date; or
• An employee’s decision to accept voluntary redundancy in exchange for those benefits.

Other long-term employee benefits are employee benefits (other than post-employment benefits and termination benefits) 
that are not due to be settled within twelve months after the end of the period in which the employees render the related 
service.

Vested employee benefits are employee benefits that are not conditional on future employment.

Short-term employee benefits

Short-term employee benefits are employee benefits (other than termination benefits) that are due to be settled within 
twelve months after the end of the period in which the employees render the related service.

Short-term employee benefits include items such as:
• Wages, salaries and social security contributions;
• Short-term compensated absences (such as paid annual leave and paid sick leave) where the compensation for 

the absences is due to be settled within twelve months after the end of the reporting period in which the employees 
render the related employee service;

• Bonus, incentive and performance related payments payable within twelve months after the end of the reporting 
period in which the employees render the related service; and 

• Non-monetary benefits (for example, medical care, and free or subsidised goods or services such as housing, cars 
and cellphones) for current employees.

When an employee has rendered service to the entity during a reporting period, the entity recognises the undiscounted 
amount of short-term employee benefits expected to be paid in exchange for that service:

• As a liability (accrued expense), after deducting any amount already paid. If the amount already paid exceeds the 
undiscounted amount of the benefits, the entity recognises that excess as an asset (prepaid expense) to the extent 
that the prepayment will lead to, for example, a reduction in future payments or a cash refund; and

• As an expense, unless another standard requires or permits the inclusion of the benefits in the cost of an asset.

The expected cost of compensated absences is recognised as an expense as the employees render services that 
increase their entitlement or, in the case of non-accumulating absences, when the absence occurs. The entity measures 
the expected cost of accumulating compensated absences as the additional amount that the entity expects to pay as a 
result of the unused entitlement that has accumulated at the reporting date.

The entity recognises the expected cost of bonus, incentive and performance related payments when the entity has a 
present legal or constructive obligation to make such payments as a result of past events and a reliable estimate of the 
obligation can be made. A present obligation exists when the entity has no realistic alternative but to make the payments.

Post-employment benefits
Post-employment benefits are employee benefits (other than termination benefits) which are payable after the completion 
of employment.

Post-employment benefit plans are formal or informal arrangements under which an entity provides post-employment 
benefits for one or more employees.
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Post-employment benefits: defined contribution plans
Defined contribution plans are post-employment benefit plans under which an entity pays fixed contributions into a 
separate entity (a fund) and will have no legal or constructive obligation to pay further contributions if the fund does not 
hold sufficient assets to pay all employee benefits relating to employee service in the current and prior periods.

When an employee has rendered service to the entity during a reporting period, the entity recognises the contribution 
payable to a defined contribution plan in exchange for that service:

• As a liability (accrued expense), after deducting any contribution already paid. If the contribution already paid 
exceeds the contribution due for service before the reporting date, an entity recognises that excess as an asset 
(prepaid expense) to the extent that the prepayment will lead to, for example, a reduction in future payments or a 
cash refund; and

• As an expense, unless another standard requires or permits the inclusion of the contribution in the cost of an asset.

Where contributions to a defined contribution plan do not fall due wholly within twelve months after the end of the reporting 
period in which the employees render the related service, they are discounted. The rate used to discount reflects the time 
value of money. The currency and term of the financial instrument selected to reflect the time value of money is consistent 
with the currency and estimated term of the obligation.

Actuarial assumptions

Actuarial assumptions are unbiased and mutually compatible. 

Financial assumptions are based on market expectations, at the reporting date, for the period over which the obligations 
are to be settled. 

The rate used to discount post-employment benefit obligations (both funded and unfunded) reflect the time value of 
money. The currency and term of the financial instrument selected to reflect the time value of money is consistent with the 
currency and estimated term of the post-employment benefit obligations.

Post-employment benefit obligations are measured on a basis that reflects:
• Estimated future salary increases;
• The benefits set out in the terms of the plan (or resulting from any constructive obligation that goes beyond those 

terms) at the reporting date; and
• Estimated future changes in the level of any state benefits that affect the benefits payable under a defined benefit 

plan, if, and only if, either:
• Those changes were enacted before the reporting date; or
• Past history, or other reliable evidence, indicates that those state benefits will change in some predictable manner, 

for example, in line with future changes in general price levels or general salary levels.

Assumptions about medical costs take account of estimated future changes in the cost of medical services, resulting from 
both inflation and specific changes in medical costs.

Other post retirement obligations
The entity provides post-retirement health care benefits upon retirement to some retirees.

The entitlement to post-retirement health care benefits is based on the employee remaining in service up to retirement 
age and the completion of a minimum service period. The expected costs of these benefits are accrued over the period of 
employment. Independent qualified actuaries carry out valuations of these obligations at least every three years.

The amount recognised as a liability for other longterm employee benefits is the net total of the following amounts:
• The present value of the defined benefit obligation at the reporting date;
• Minus the fair value at the reporting date of plan assets (if any) out of which the obligations are to be settled directly.

The entity shall recognise the net total of the following amounts as expense or revenue, except to the extent that another 
standard requires or permits their inclusion in the cost of an asset:
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• Current service cost;
• Interest cost;
• The expected return on any plan assets and on any reimbursement right recognised as an asset;
• Actuarial gains and losses, which shall all be recognised Immediately;
• Past service cost, which shall all be recognised Immediately; and
• The effect of any curtailments or settlements.

1.18  Provisions and contingencies

Provisions are recognised when:
• the entity has a present obligation as a result of a past event;
• it is probable that an outflow of resources embodying economic benefits or service potential will be required to 

settle the obligation; and
• a reliable estimate can be made of the obligation.

The amount of a provision is the best estimate of the expenditure expected to be required to settle the present obligation 
at the reporting date.

Where the effect of time value of money is material, the amount of a provision is the present value of the expenditures 
expected to be required to settle the obligation.

Where some or all of the expenditure required to settle a provision is expected to be reimbursed by another party, the 
reimbursement is recognised when, and only when, it is virtually certain that reimbursement will be received if the entity 
settles the obligation. The reimbursement is treated as a separate asset. The amount recognised for the reimbursement 
does not exceed the amount of the provision.

Provisions are reviewed at each reporting date and adjusted to reflect the current best estimate. Provisions are reversed 
if it is no longer probable that an outflow of resources embodying economic benefits or service potential will be required, 
to settle the obligation.

Where discounting is used, the carrying amount of a provision increases in each period to reflect the passage of time. This 
increase is recognised as an interest expense.

A provision is used only for expenditures for which the provision was originally recognised.

Provisions are not recognised for future operating surplus (deficit).

If an entity has a contract that is onerous, the present obligation (net of recoveries) under the contract is recognised and 
measured as a provision.

Contingent assets and contingent liabilities are not recognised. Contingencies are disclosed in note 31.

1.19 Commitments

Items are classified as commitments when an entity has committed itself to future transactions that will normally result in 
the outflow of cash.

Disclosures are required in respect of unrecognised contractual commitments.

Commitments for which disclosure is necessary to achieve a fair presentation should be disclosed in a note to the financial 
statements, if both the following criteria are met:

• Contracts should be non-cancellable or only cancellable at significant cost (for example, contracts for computer or 
building maintenance services); and

• Contracts should relate to something other than the routine, steady, state business of the entity – therefore salary 
commitments relating to employment contracts or social security benefit commitments are excluded.

1.20 Revenue from exchange transactions
Revenue is the gross inflow of economic benefits or service potential during the reporting period when those inflows result 
in an increase in net assets.
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An exchange transaction is one in which the entity receives assets or services, or has liabilities extinguished, and directly gives 
approximately equal value (primarily in the form of goods, services or use of assets) to the other party in exchange.

Fair value is the amount for which an asset could be exchanged, or a liability settled, between knowledgeable, willing 
parties in an arm’s length transaction.

Measurement

Revenue is measured at the fair value of the consideration received or receivable, net of trade discounts and volume rebates.

Sale of goods
Revenue from the sale of goods is recognised when all the following conditions have been satisfied:

• the entity has transferred to the purchaser the significant risks and rewards of ownership of the goods;
• the entity retains neither continuing managerial involvement to the degree usually associated with ownership 

nor effective control over the goods sold;
• the amount of revenue can be measured reliably;
• it is probable that the economic benefits or service potential associated with the transaction will flow to the 

entity; and
• the costs incurred or to be incurred in respect of the transaction can be measured reliably.

Rendering of services
When the outcome of a transaction involving the rendering of services can be estimated reliably, revenue associated 
with the transaction is recognised by reference to the stage of completion of the transaction at the reporting date. The 
outcome of a transaction can be estimated reliably when all the following conditions are satisfied:

• the amount of revenue can be measured reliably;
• it is probable that the economic benefits or service potential associated with the transaction will flow to the entity;
• the stage of completion of the transaction at the reporting date can be measured reliably; and
• the costs incurred for the transaction and the costs to complete the transaction can be measured reliably.

When services are performed by an indeterminate number of acts over a specified time frame, revenue is recognised 
on a straight line basis over the specified time frame unless there is evidence that some other method better represents 
the stage of completion. When a specific act is much more significant than any other acts, the recognition of revenue is 
postponed until the significant act is executed.

When the outcome of the transaction involving the rendering of services cannot be estimated reliably, revenue is recognised 
only to the extent of the expenses recognised that are recoverable.

Service revenue is recognised by reference to the stage of completion of the transaction at the reporting date. Stage of 
completion is determined by services performed to date as a percentage of total services to be performed.

Interest, royalties and dividends

Revenue arising from the use by others of entity assets yielding interest is recognised when:
• It is probable that the economic benefits or service potential associated with the transaction will flow to the entity, and
• The amount of the revenue can be measured reliably.

Interest is recognised using the effective interest rate method.

1.21 Revenue from non-exchange transactions

Revenue comprises gross inflows of economic benefits or service potential received and receivable by an entity, which 
represents an increase in net assets, other than increases relating to contributions from owners.

Conditions on transferred assets are stipulations that specify that the future economic benefits or service potential embodied 
in the asset is required to be consumed by the recipient as specified or future economic benefits or service potential must 
be returned to the transferor.
In a non-exchange transaction, an entity either receives value from another entity without directly giving approximately 
equal value in exchange, or gives value to another entity without directly receiving approximately equal value in exchange.
Transfers are inflows of future economic benefits or service potential from non-exchange transactions, other than taxes.



 NRF Annual Report 2021/22 92

Recognition

An inflow of resources from a non-exchange transaction recognised as an asset is recognised as revenue, except to the 
extent that a liability is also recognised in respect of the same inflow.

As the entity satisfies a present obligation recognised as a liability in respect of an inflow of resources from a non-exchange 
transaction recognised as an asset, it reduces the carrying amount of the liability recognised and recognises an amount 
of revenue equal to that reduction.

Measurement
Revenue from a non-exchange transaction is measured at the amount of the increase in net assets recognised by the 
entity.

When, as a result of a non-exchange transaction, the entity recognises an asset, it also recognises revenue equivalent 
to the amount of the asset measured at its fair value as at the date of acquisition, unless it is also required to recognise 
a liability. Where a liability is required to be recognised it will be measured as the best estimate of the amount required 
to settle the obligation at the reporting date, and the amount of the increase in net assets, if any, recognised as revenue. 
When a liability is subsequently reduced, because the taxable event occurs or a condition is satisfied, the amount of the 
reduction in the liability is recognised as revenue.’

Gifts and donations, including goods in-kind
Gifts and donations, including goods in-kind, are recognised as assets and revenue when it is probable that the future 
economic benefits or service potential will flow to the entity and the fair value of the assets can be measured reliably.

Government grants and contract income

Government grants and contract income are recognised in the statement of financial performance in the period to which 
the income relates.  The government grant and contract income are recognised if there is reasonable assurance that the 
entity will comply with the conditions attached to the grant or contract, and that the grant or contract income will be received.

The portion of government grants and contract income that is earmarked for a specific purpose and thus conditional in 
nature, relating to expenditure that will be incurred in future financial years, is reflected as income received in advance in 
the statement of financial position, as it represents an actual liability if conditions are not met.

1.22 Cost of sales

When inventories are sold, the carrying amount of those inventories is recognised as an expense in the period in which the 
related revenue is recognised. The amount of any write down of inventories to net realisable value and all surplus (deficit) 
of inventories are recognised as an expense in the period the write down or loss occurs. The amount of any reversal of 
any write down of inventories, arising from an increase in net realisable value, is recognised as a reduction in the amount 
of inventories recognised as an expense in the period in which the reversal occurs.

The related cost of providing services recognised as revenue in the current period is included in cost of sales.

 Contract costs comprise:
• costs that relate directly to the specific contract;
• costs that are attributable to contract activity in general and can be allocated to the contract on a systematic 

and rational basis; and
• such other costs as are specifically chargeable to the customer under the terms of the contract.

1.23 Grants, bursaries and other research expenditure

Grants, bursaries and other research awarded are recognised as expenditure in the statement of financial performance in 
the period in which the grants, bursaries and other research are claimed and validated.  Included in grants, bursaries and 
other research are membership affiliations to research science and technology organisations and councils as well as the 
funding for science activities.
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1.24 Investment income

Investment income is recognised on a time proportion basis using the effective interest method.

1.25 Translation of foreign currencies

Foreign currency transactions

A foreign currency transaction is recorded, on initial recognition in rands, by applying to the foreign currency amount the 
spot exchange rate between the functional currency and the foreign currency at the date of the transaction.

At each reporting date:
• foreign currency monetary items are translated using the closing rate;
• non-monetary items that are measured in terms of historical cost in a foreign currency are translated using the 

exchange rate at the date of the transaction; and
• non-monetary items that are measured at fair value in a foreign currency are translated using the exchange rates 

at the date when the fair value was determined.

Exchange differences arising on the settlement of monetary items or on translating monetary items at rates different from 
those at which they were translated on initial recognition during the period or in previous Annual Financial Statements are 
recognised in surplus or deficit in the period in which they arise.

Cash flows arising from transactions in a foreign currency are recorded in rands by applying to the foreign currency 
amount the exchange rate between the rand and the foreign currency at the date of the cash flow.

1.26 Comparative figures

Where necessary, comparative figures have been reclassified to conform to changes in presentation in the current year.

1.27 Fruitless and wasteful expenditure

Fruitless expenditure means expenditure which was made in vain and would have been avoided had reasonable care 
been exercised.

All expenditure relating to fruitless and wasteful expenditure is recognised as an expense in the statement of financial 
performance in the year that the expenditure was incurred.  The expenditure is classified in accordance with the nature of 
the expense, and where recovered, it is subsequently accounted for as revenue in the statement of financial performance.

1.28 Irregular expenditure

Irregular expenditure as defined in section 1 of the PFMA is expenditure other than unauthorised expenditure, incurred in 
contravention of or that is not in accordance with a requirement of any applicable legislation, including the PFMA.

All expenditure relating to irregular expenditure is recognised as an expense in the Statement of Financial Performance in 
the  year that the expenditure is incurred. The expenditure is classified in accordance with the nature of the expense, and 
when recovered, it is subsequently accounted for as revenue in the Statement of Financial Performance. 

Irregular expenditure is removed from the annual financial statements when condoned by the relevant authority, when 
approved for write off by the relevant delegated authority or when recovered, if applicable. 

1.29 Segment information

A segment is an activity of an entity:
• That generates economic benefits or service potential (including economic benefits or service potential relating to 

transactions between activities of the same entity);
• Whose results are regularly reviewed by management to make decisions about resources to be allocated to that 

activity and in assessing its performance; and
• For which separate financial information is available.

Reportable segments are the actual segments which are reported on in the segment report. They are the segments identified 
above or alternatively an aggregation of two or more of those segments where the aggregation criteria are met.
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Measurement

The amount of each segment item reported is the measure reported to management for the purposes of making decisions 
about allocating resources to the segment and assessing its performance. Adjustments and eliminations made in preparing 
the entity’s financial statements and allocations of revenues and expenses are included in determining reported segment 
surplus or deficit only if they are included in the measure of the segment’s surplus or deficit that is used by management. 
Similarly, only those assets and liabilities that are included in the measures of the segment’s assets and segment’s liabilities 
that are used by management are reported for that segment. If amounts are allocated to reported segment surplus or 
deficit, assets or liabilities, those amounts are allocated on a reasonable basis.

If management uses only one measure of a segment’s surplus or deficit, the segment’s assets or the segment’s liabilities in 
assessing segment performance and deciding how to allocate resources, segment surplus or deficit, assets and liabilities 
are reported in terms of that measure. If management uses more than one measure of a segment’s surplus or deficit, the 
segment’s assets or the segment’s liabilities, the reported measures are those that management believes are determined 
in accordance with the measurement principles most consistent with those used in measuring the corresponding amounts 
in the entity’s financial statements.

1.30 Research and development expenditure

Expenditure on research is recognised as an expense when it is incurred.

An asset arising from development is recognised when:
• It is technically feasible to complete the asset so that it will be available for use or sale.
• There is an intention to complete and use or sell it.
• There is an ability to use or sell it.
• It will generate probable future economic benefits or service potential.
• There are available technical, financial and other resources to complete the development and to use or sell the asset.
• The expenditure attributable to the asset during its development can be measured reliably.

1.31 Budget information

An entity is typically subject to budgetary limits in the form of appropriations or budget authorisations (or equivalent), which 
is given effect through authorising legislation, appropriation or similar.

General purpose financial reporting by the entity shall provide information on whether resources were obtained and used 
in accordance with the legally adopted budget.

The approved budget is prepared on an accrual basis and presented by economic classification linked to performance 
outcome objectives.

The approved budget covers the fiscal period from 2021/04/01 to 2022/03/31.

The budget for the economic entity includes all the entities approved budgets under its control. The Annual Financial 
Statements and the budget are on the same basis of accounting therefore a comparison with the budgeted amounts for 
the reporting period have been included in the statement of comparison of budget and actual amounts.

Comparative information is not required.

1.32 Related parties

A related party is a person or an entity with the ability to control or jointly control the other party, or exercise significant 
influence over the other party, or vice versa, or an entity that is subject to common control, or joint control.

Control is the power to govern the financial and operating policies of an entity so as to obtain benefits from its activities.

A related party transaction is a transfer of resources, services or obligations between the reporting entity and a related 
party, regardless of whether a price is charged.

Significant influence is the power to participate in the financial and operating policy decisions of an entity, but is not control 
over those policies.
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Key management are those persons responsible for planning, directing and controlling the activities of the entity, including 
those charged with the governance of the entity in accordance with legislation, in instances where they are required to 
perform such functions.  All individuals from the level of corporate executive up to the Board of directors are regarded as 
key management.

Close members of the family of a person are those family members who may be expected to influence, or be influenced 
by that person in their dealings with the entity.

The entity is exempt from disclosure requirements in relation to related party transactions if that transaction occurs within 
normal supplier and/or client/recipient relationships on terms and conditions no more or less favourable than those which it 
is reasonable to expect the entity to have adopted if dealing with that individual entity or person in the same circumstances 
and terms and conditions are within the normal operating parameters established by that reporting entity’s legal mandate.

Where the entity is exempt from the disclosures in accordance with the above, the entity discloses narrative information 
about the nature of the transactions and the related outstanding balances, to enable users of the entity’s financial statements 
to understand the effect of related party transactions on its Annual Financial Statements.

The entity operates in an economic sector currently dominated by entities directly or indirectly owned by the South African 
government.  As a consequence of the constitutional independence of the three spheres of government in South Africa, 
only entities within the national sphere of government are considered to be related parties.

1.33 Events after reporting date
Events after reporting date are those events, both favourable and unfavourable, that occur between the reporting date and 
the date when the financial statements are authorised for issue. Two types of events can be identified:

• Those that provide evidence of conditions that existed at the reporting date (adjusting events after the reporting 
date); and

• Those that are indicative of conditions that arose after the reporting date (non-adjusting events after the reporting date).

The entity will adjust the amount recognised in the financial statements to reflect adjusting events after the reporting date 
once the event occurred.

The entity will disclose the nature of the event and an estimate of its financial effect or a statement that such estimate cannot 
be made in respect of all material non-adjusting events, where non-disclosure could influence the economic decisions of 
users taken on the basis of the financial statements.

1.34 Capital Fund

The proportion of income used to acquire property, plant and equipment, intangible assets and heritage assets is transferred 
to the capital fund from the accumulated fund in the proportions and over the periods in which depreciation/amortisation on 
such property, plant and equipment, intangible assets or heritage assets is charged or when the asset is retired.

1.35 Infrastructure Fund 

This fund represents funds set aside to fund future infrastructure and related projects.  It can also be utilised for the decom-
missioning of assets, where applicable. 



 NRF Annual Report 2021/22 96

Notes to the Annual Financial Statements

2. New standards and interpretations

2.1 Standards and interpretations issued, but not yet effective

The entity has not applied the following standards and interpretations, which have been published and are mandatory for the 
entity’s accounting periods beginning on or after 01 April 2022 or later periods:

Standard/ Interpretation: Effective date: 
Years beginning on or 
after

Expected impact:

• GRAP 25 (as revised): Employee Benefits No effective date Unlikely there will be a 
material impact

• GRAP 7 (as revised): Limit on defined benefit asset No effective date Unlikely there will be a 
material impact

• GRAP 104 (as revised): Financial Instruments 01 April 2025 Unlikely there will be a 
material impact

• GRAP 21: The Effect of Past Decisions on Materiality 01 April 2023 Unlikely there will be a 
material impact
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3. Property, plant and equipment

2022 2021

R’000 R’000

Cost / 
Valuation

Accumulated 
depreciation 

and 
accumulated 

impairment

Carrying 
value

Cost / 
Valuation

Accumulated 
depreciation 

and 
accumulated 

impairment

Carrying 
value

Land  307 735  -  307 735  307 735  -  307 735 

Buildings  428 244  (137 203)  291 041  415 947  (122 147)  293 800 

Plant and machinery  104 465  (50 492)  53 973  98 368  (42 332)  56 036 

Furniture and fixtures  30 463  (20 163)  10 300  30 026  (18 358)  11 668 

Motor vehicles  73 951  (49 514)  24 437  72 069  (44 126)  27 943 

Office equipment  65 952  (52 470)  13 482  65 663  (48 868)  16 795 

IT equipment  231 893  (179 745)  52 148  210 470  (162 126)  48 344 

Computer software  107 603  (93 121)  14 482  106 054  (91 526)  14 528 

Infrastructure  376 199  (121 480)  254 719  370 346  (104 754)  265 592 

Exhibits  6 807  (4 492)  2 315  6 287  (4 055)  2 232 

Capital work in progress  521 123  -  521 123  152 639  -  152 639 

Research equipment  2 063 442  (1 019 583)  1 043 859  2 016 114  (852 837)  1 163 277 

Spare parts  29 675  (9 938)  19 737  29 675  (7 269)  22 406 

Books and journals  1 507  (882)  625  1 456  (698)  758 

Total  4 349 059  (1 739 083)  2 609 976  3 882 849  (1 499 096)  2 383 753 
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Reconciliation of property, plant and equipment  2022

Opening 
balance

Additions Disposals Transfers Depreciation Total

R’000 R’000 R’000 R’000 R’000 R’000

Land 307 735 - - - - 307 735

Buildings 293 800 3 503 - 8 992 (15 254) 291 041

Plant and machinery 56 036 5 774 (9) 338 (8 166) 53 973

Furniture and fixtures 11 668 568 (32) - (1 904) 10 300

Motor vehicles 27 943 2 378 (287) 38 (5 635) 24 437

Office equipment 16 795 1 632 (23) 43 (4 965) 13 482

IT equipment 48 344 20 436 (370) 4 250 (20 512) 52 148

Computer software 14 528 452 - 1 097 (1 595) 14 482

Infrastructure 265 592 1 327 - 4 526 (16 726) 254 719

Exhibits 2 232 520 - - (437) 2 315

Capital work in progress 152 639 409 500 - (41 016) - 521 123

Research equipment 1 163 277 28 000 (271) 21 347 (168 494) 1 043 859

Spare parts 22 406 - - - (2 669) 19 737

Books and journals 758 53 (3) - (183) 625

2 383 753 474 143 (995) (385) (246 540) 2 609 976

Reconciliation of property, plant and equipment  2021

Opening 
balance

Additions Disposals Transfers Depreciation Impairment 
loss

Total

R’000 R’000 R’000 R’000 R’000 R’000 R’000
Land  307 736  -  (1)  -  -  -  307 735 

Buildings  308 832  445  -  329  (15 806)  -  293 800 

Plant and machinery  56 112  6 353  (12)  1 619  (7 880)  (156)  56 036 

Furniture and fixtures  12 231  1 428  (47)  25  (1 969)  -  11 668 

Motor vehicles  32 012  1 166  -  994  (6 229)  -  27 943 

Office equipment  20 610  1 587  (48)  113  (5 467)  -  16 795 

IT equipment  64 310  12 451  (2 653)  461  (26 225)  -  48 344 

Computer software  24 893  1 768  -  1 709  (13 842)  -  14 528 

Infrastructure  272 638  112  -  13 435  (20 593)  -  265 592 

Exhibits  2 976  149  (306)  -  (587)  -  2 232 

Capital work in progress  112 392  93 741  -  (53 494)  -  -  152 639 

Research equipment  1 241 802  53 580  (179)  34 809  (166 735)  -  1 163 277 

Spare parts  25 089  -  -  -  (2 683)  -  22 406 

Books and journals  736  210  -  -  (188)  -  758 

  2 482 369  172 990  (3 246)  -  (268 204)  (156)  2 383 753 
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Depreciation rates

The depreciation methods and average useful lives of property, plant and equipment have been assessed as follows:

Item Depreciation method Average useful life

Buildings Straightline 25 years

Machinery and equipment Straightline 10 - 20 years

Office furniture Straightline 5 – 10 years

Motor vehicles Straightline 5 – 10 years

Office equipment Straightline 5 – 10 years

IT equipment Straightline 4 years

Computer software Straightline 3 years

Infrastructure Straightline 25 years

Exhibits Straightline 5 – 10 years

Books and journals Straightline 5 – 10 years

Research equipment Straightline 10 years

Leased assets Straightline 3 – 5 years

Spare parts Straightline 10 years
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Details of properties
2022 2021

R’000 R’000

Portion 1 of the farm Scientia No 627, Pretoria, with buildings thereon
Land 1 277 1 277
Buildings 121 431 121 481

122 708 122 758

Portion 4 of the farm No 996, BlueDowns, Stellenbosch, with buildings thereon
Land 9 717 9 717
Buildings 33 645 30 256

43 362 39 973

Portion 6 of the farm Kuilenburg No 96, Sutherland, with buildings thereon
Land 346 346
Buildings 17 816 11 546

18 162 11 892

Erf 26423, Observatory, CapeTown, with buildings thereon
Land 263 263
Buildings 10 658 7 971

10 921 8 234

Astronomy reserve properties for SKA project, Carnarvon (former farms register available)
Land 276 638 276 638
Buildings 35 563 35 563

312 201 312 201

Stand No 2859, 211 Nana Sita Street, Pretoria
Land 92 92
Buildings 1 866 1 866

1 958 1 958

Portion 1 of Erf 1, Observatory, Johannesburg
Land 1 685 1 685
Buildings 9 784 9 784

11 469 11 469
Portion 1 of the former farm Losberg No 73, Fraserburg Regional District
Land 7 797 7 797
Buildings 134 175 134 175

141 972 141 972
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2022 2021
R’000 R’000

Mey’s Dam Farm No 68, Fraserburg Regional District
Land 8 721 8 721
Buildings 9 550 9 550

18 271 18 271

Lease hold improvements Hart RAO
Capitalised expenditure 3 684 3 684

Lease hold improvements SAIAB
Capitalised expenditure 30 807 30 807

Lease hold improvements SKA Klerefontein
Capitalised expenditure 11 314 11 314

Lease hold improvements SAEON

Capitalised expenditure 2 000 2 000

56 Florence Street, Colbyn, Pretoria SAEON
Land 1 200 1 200
Building 5 950 5 950

7 150 7 150

Total cost of land and buildings 735 979 723 683

All property in Carnarvon were former farms.  These farms are not being farmed on, but are held as part of the astronomy 
reserve for the SKA project.

The land and buildings situated in Pretoria, on the CSIR campus, are subject to a preemptive right in favour of the 
CSIR should the NRF decide to sell the property.  It will revert back to the CSIR for no consideration should the NRF be 
disbanded.

Reconciliation of Work-in Progress 2022

Land & 
Buildings

Research 
Equipment

Included within 
Other PPE

Total

R’000 R’000 R’000 R’000

Opening balance 6 902 123 654 22 083 152 639

New Additions/capital expenditure 10 432 270 591 128 477 409 500

Transfer between categories (1 223) 2 533 (1 310) -

Transferred to completed items (9 035) (10 953) (21 028) (41 016)

7 076 385 825 128 222 521 123
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Reconciliation of Work-in Progress 2021
Land & 

Buildings
Research 

Equipment
Included within 

Other PPE
Total

R’000 R’000 R’000 R’000

Opening balance 3 292 92 599 16 501 112 392

Additions/capital expenditure 3 911 75 056 14 774 93 741

Transferred to completed items (301) (44 001) (9 192) (53 494)

6 902 123 654 22 083 152 639

Expenditure incurred to repair and maintain property, plant and equipment

Expenditure incurred to repair and maintain property, plant and 
equipment included in Statement of Financial Performance

2022 2021

R’000 R’000

Contracted services 31 586 24 687

4. Intangible assets

2022 2021

R’000 R’000

Cost / 
Valuation

Accumulated 
amortisation and 

accumulated 
impairment

Carrying 
value

Cost / 
Valuation

Accumulated 
amortisation and 

accumulated 
impairment

Carrying 
value

Computer software, 
under  development

58 041 - 58 041 47 617 - 47 617

Computer software, other 74 226 (59 972) 14 254 74 125 (53 000) 21 125

Other intangible assets 2 415 - 2 415 2 415 - 2 415

Total 134 682 (59 972) 74 710 124 157 (53 000) 71 157

Reconciliation of intangible assets  2022

Opening balance Additions Transfers Amortisation Total

R’000 R’000 R’000 R’000 R’000

Computer software, under development 47 617 9 579 845 - 58 041

Computer software, other 21 125 559 (460) (6 970) 14 254

Intangible assets 2 415 - - - 2 415

71 157 10 138 385 (6 970) 74 710
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Reconciliation of intangible assets 2021

Opening balance Additions Disposals Amortisation Total

R’000 R’000 R’000 R’000 R’000

Computer software under development 25 876 21 741 - - 47 617

Computer software, other 27 607 1 549 (463) (7 568) 21 125

Intangible assets 2 415 - - - 2 415

55 898 23 290 (463) (7 568) 71 157

5. Interests in other entities

Investments in associates

Name Jurisdiction Determination 
of ownership 

interest

% ownership 
interest 2022

% ownership 
interest 2021

Carrying 
amount 

2022

Carrying 
amount 

2021
R’000 R’000

SALT Foundation (Pty) Ltd. Unlisted 40,34% 40,34% 8 401 7 443

8 401 7 443

The carrying amounts of associates are shown net of impairment losses.

Movements in carrying amount

Opening balance 7 443 12 591

Share of surplus/(deficit) 958 (5 148)

8 401 7 443

Principal activities, country of incorporation and voting power

Legal name Principal activity Country of 
incorporation

Proportion of voting 
power

SALT Foundation (Pty) Ltd. Development, upgrade 
and operation of an 11 
metre telescope for 
astronomical research

S.A. 40.34

Summary of associates’ financial information
Current assets 90 728 83 069
NonCurrent assets 101 303 101 105
Total Liabilities  10 261 4 780
Revenue  50 566 41 171
Surplus/(deficit)  2 375 (12 761)
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6. Heritage assets

2022 2021

R’000 R’000
Cost / 

Valuation
Accumulated 

impairment 
losses

Carrying 
value

Cost / 
Valuation

Accumulated 
impairment 

losses

Carrying 
value

Collections of rare books, 
manuscripts and records

57 - 57 57 - 57

Objects of scientific and 
technological interest

15 552 - 15 552 15 552 - 15 552

Historical structures 
and monuments

56 - 56 56 - 56

Total 15 665 - 15 665 15 665 - 15 665

Reconciliation of heritage assets 2022

Opening 
balance

Total

Collections of rare books, manuscripts and records 57 57

Objects of scientific and technological interest 15 552 15 552

Historical structures and monuments 56 56

15 665 15 665

Reconciliation of heritage assets 2021

Opening 
balance

Additions Total

Collections of rare books, manuscripts and records 53 4 57

Objects of scientific and technological interest 15 552 - 15 552

Historical structures and monuments 56 - 56

15 661 4 15 665

Heritage assets which fair values cannot be reliably measured

Rare books

The SAAO hosts The National Library For Astronomy of South Africa.  Some of the books are rare as they are handwritten, one 
of a kind and irreplaceable.  These books cannot be reliably measured for economic value as there is no market for them and 
they are irreplaceable. These books contributed significantly to the research output of the observatory in the past and are being 
preserved for future generations. They are being kept for historical purposes only.

National Biological Specimen Collection

The collection of museum specimens comprises over 100 000 containers of fish and other aquatic organisms, such as amphibians, 
invertebrates and diatoms.  Many of the specimens in the collection are unique and largely irreplaceable. There is also a molecular 
tissue bank of aquatic samples for genetic analysis and a dry collection of fish skeletons and otoliths.  Some specimens date 
back more than 100 years.  The biological collection is supported by Scientific Graphic Images. The collection cannot be reliably 
measured for economic value as there is no market for it and the collection is irreplaceable.
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2022 2021

R’000 R’000

7. Other financial assets

At amortised cost

Grant deposit accounts

The approved grant deposits are repayable to the NRF on 30 days’ notice, in an event 
of the funding being discontinued.

525 090 520 375

Infrastructure bridging funding

Funding advanced to institutions for infrastructure, repayable in full to the NRF within 
12 months. The funding is noninterest bearing.

10 000 -

535 090 520 375

8. Employee benefit obligations

Defined benefit plan

Postretirement medical aid plan

The NRF has a subsidy obligation for those members who did not accept the buy out offer in 2012.  To manage the residual 
liability that has remained, the NRF has acquired an annuity policy which qualifies as a plan asset. 

The amounts recognised in the statement of financial position are as follows:

Carrying value

Present value of the defined benefit obligation partly or wholly funded (11 062) (11 406)

Fair value of plan assets 11 545 13 843

483 2 437

The plan asset consists of an annuity insurance policy.  The annuity portfolio is made up of a growth account and a guaranteed 
account.  Increases are guaranteed at a minimum of cpi per annum.  The growth account is used to make up the difference 
between the guaranteed account annuities and the employer contributions

The fair value of plan assets includes:

Changes in the present value of the defined benefit obligation are as follows:

Opening balance (11 406) (11 842)

Benefits paid 1 407 1 453

Service and interest cost (977) (1 017)

Actuarial loss (86) -

(11 062) (11 406)
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2022 2021

R’000 R’000

Net expense recognised in the statement of financial performance

Interest cost 977 1 017

Actuarial (gains)/losses 2 178 -

Expected return on plan assets (1 201) (1 222)

1 954 (205)

Changes in the fair value of plan assets are as follows:

Opening balance 13 843 14 074

Expected return 1 201 1 222

Actuarial gains/(losses) (2 092) -

Benefits paid (1 407) (1 453)

11 545 13 843

Key assumptions used
Assumptions used at the reporting date: 

Discount rates used 9,73% 9,19%

Consumer Price Inflation (CPI) 6,28% 5,70%

Real discount rate 1,81% 1,86%

Health care cost inflation 7,78% 7,20%

Normal retirement age 65 65

Other assumptions
Assumed healthcare cost trends rates have a significant effect on the amounts recognised in surplus or deficit. A one 
percentage point change in assumed healthcare cost trends rates would have the following effects: 

One percentage 
point increase 

One percentage 
point decrease 

Effect on the aggregate of the service cost and interest cost 6 6 

Effect on defined benefit obligation 6 5 

Amounts for the current and previous four years are as follows: 

`
2022 2021 2020 2019 2018
R’000 R’000 R’000 R’000 R’000

Defined benefit obligation (11 062) (11 406) (11 842) (12 233) (12 612)

Plan assets 11 545 13 843 14 074 14 277 16 608

Surplus/(deficit) 483 2 437 2 232 2 044 3 996



 NRF Annual Report 2021/22 107

2022 2021

R’000 R’000

Defined Contribution Plan

It is the policy of the entity to provide retirement benefits to all its employees through the National Research Foundation 
pension fund, which is subject to the Pensions Fund Act. The fund is administered by Alexander Forbes Consultants and 
Actuaries. 

The entity is under no obligation to cover any unfunded benefits.

The amount recognised as an expense for defined contribution plans is 65 345 64 563

9. Prepayments

Advance payment on the acquisition of research equipment - 95 677

Other prepayments 3 302 4 616

3 302 100 293

10. Grants and bursaries paid in advance

Funding advanced for grants and bursaries 11 962 11 707

11. Inventories

Consumable stores and maintenance spares 12 607 7 933

12. Receivables from exchange transactions

Trade debtors 151 469 88 508

Employee costs in advance 722 56

Prepayments 361 562 114 994

Deposits 4 124 3 600

Other receivables 5 916 15 606

523 793 222 764

Credit quality of trade and other receivables

Credit risk, with respect to trade and other receivables, is limited due to the large number of customers comprising the 
NRF’s customer base, and their dispersion across different industries and geographical areas.

Trade receivables

None of the financial assets that are fully performing have been renegotiated in the last year.

Fair value of trade and other receivables

The fair value of the financial assets is not expected to differ materially from their carrying values, due to the short term 
nature thereof.
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2022 2021

R’000 R’000

Trade and other receivables past due but not impaired

Trade and other receivables which are less than 3 months past due are not considered to be impaired. At 31 March 2022, 
R27,979m (2021: R42,778m) were past due but not impaired.

The ageing of amounts past due but not impaired is as follows:

2 months past due - 34 199

3 months past due 28 039 8 579

Trade and other receivables impaired

As of 31 March 2022, trade and other receivables of R0,952m (2021: R1,108m ) were impaired and provided for.
The amount of the provision was R0,952m as of 31 March 2022 (2021:  R1,108m).

Reconciliation of provision for impairment of trade and other receivables

Opening balance 1 108 1 084

Provision for impairment 40 40

Unused amounts reversed (196) (16)

952 1 108

The creation and release of provision for impaired receivables have been included in operating expenses in surplus or 
deficit (note 27).  Amounts charged to the allowance account are generally written off when there is no expectation of 
recovering additional cash.

The maximum exposure to Credit risk at the reporting date is the fair value of each class of loan mentioned above. The 
entity does not hold any collateral as security.

13. Receivables from non-exchange transactions
Contract income 17 794 109 647

Credit quality of receivables from non-exchange transactions

The Credit quality of other receivables from non-exchange transactions that are neither past nor due nor impaired can be 
assessed by reference to historical information about counterparty default rates.

Receivables from non-exchange transactions
None of the financial assets that are fully performing have been renegotiated in the last year.

Fair value of receivables from non-exchange transactions
The fair value of financial assets is not expected to differ materially from their carrying values, due to the short-term nature 
thereof.

14. Cash and Cash Equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents consist of: 

Cash on hand 61 61

Short-term deposits and bank balances 697 083 832 536

697 144 832 597

The balance includes R366m for SARAO committed towards the MeerKAT extension and fibre contract and R101m 
towards the SARIR project.
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2022 2021

R’000 R’000

Credit quality of cash at bank and short term deposits, excluding cash on hand

Cash equivalents and short term deposits are placed with highly rated and National Treasury approved financial institutions.

15. Capital fund

Opening balance 2 470 569 2 553 927

Net acquisition of assets/transfer of assets 229 782 (83 358)

Acquisition of property, equipment, intangible and heritage assets 4&3&6 484 281 196 284

Depreciation, amortisation and disposals 4&3&6 (254 499) (279 642)

2 700 351 2 470 569

16. SALT fund
The SALT Fund represents income received from the Department of Science and Innovation, for the purpose of investing 
the funds in the SALT Foundation (Pty) ltd.  The balance is adjusted with post acquisition surpluses/losses of the SALT 
Foundation (Pty) ltd.  

Income available for the SALT Foundation (Pty) Ltd. 8 401 7 443

17. Designated income received in advance

Funding that is earmarked for a specific purpose, and thus conditional, relating to expenditure that will be incurred in future 
financial years, is transferred to income received in advance, until the related costs are incurred.

Income not yet expensed 1 559 209 1 566 742

18. Payables from exchange transactions

Trade payables 50 172 48 677

Accrued leave pay 77 880 80 302

Remuneration accrual 4 539 4 683

Other payables 6 324 7 418

138 915 141 080

19. Sales of goods and services

Sale of Isotopes 89 631 67 524

Service rendered 5 125 2 163

Other sales 58 101

94 814 69 788
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2022 2021

R’000 R’000

20. Other income

Sundry income 1 145 3 637

Rent received 1 967 1 021

Donations received 73 1

Insurance recoveries 3 460 5 047

6 645 9 706

21. Interest income

Bank 40 214 35 393

Interest charged on trade and other receivables & other receipts 3 5

40 217 35 398

22. DSI contract income

DSI MTEF Contract funding received 3 063 761 2 251 642

Net funds carried forward to following year (53 511) 45 943

3 010 250 2 297 585

23. Other contract income

Other government organisations 220 785 198 583

Private and international organisations 130 119 94 036

350 904 292 619

The NRF manages a number of projects/programmes for government departments and local as well as international 
organisations, on a contractual basis.  These funds are designated for specific projects.
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24. Board and Corporate Executive members’ remuneration
Short term 

benefits
R’ 000

Total Board 
Fees 2022

R’ 000

Total Board 
Fees 2021

R’ 000

Non-Executive Members (Board members)

Dr N Obokoh (From 1 October 2018) 72 72 13

Ms CA Busetti (From 1 April 2017) 70 70 66

Prof HI Bhorat (From 1 October 2018) 31 31 25

Prof Z Vilakazi (From 1 October 2018) - - 6

Prof NM Mkhize (From 1 October 2018) 61 61 35

Dr BD Ngqulunga (From 1 October 2018) 55 55 41

Prof NF Petersen (From 1 October 2018) 41 41 33

Prof S Sinha (From 1 October 2018) 82 82 56

Ms M Letlape (From 1 March 2015) 46 46 47

**Prof S Mosoetsa (From 1 October 2014) - - -

**Prof G Gray (From 1 October 2018) - - -

Mr Lubisi (From 1 October 2014) 55 55 76

Prof T Maluleke (From 1 October 2014) 24 24 31

Prof R Phaswana-Mafuya (From 1 April 2019) 38 38 25

575 575 454

Members of the 
Corporate Executive

Short 
term 

benefits

Bonuses and 
performance 

related 
payments

Retirement 
Fund 

contributions

Medical 
contributions

Other 
benefits

Total 
package 

2022

Total 
package 

2021

R’ 000 R’ 000 R’ 000 R’ 000 R’ 000 R’ 000 R’ 000

*Dr FV Nelwamondo 
(CEO)

3 353 - 235 65 110 3 763 -

Dr C Nxomani 2 077 - 139 123 74 2 413 2 241

Dr BA Damonse 2 366 - 249 48 95 2 758 2 639

Dr DG Pillay 2 195 - 217 - 78 2 490 3 157

Mr KJ Oagile 2 012 - 112 - 96 2 220 2 119

Dr E Lottering 704 - 86 13 26 829 -

Dr M Qhobela (CEO 
up to Nov. 2020)

- - - - - - 2 916

Mr B Singh (CFO) 2 615 - 166 61 107 2 949 2 828

Dr PP Matutu 1 815 - 186 - 90 2 091 2 012

17 137 - 1 390 310 676 19 513 17 912

Total remuneration 17 712 - 1 390 310 676 20 088 18 366

* Denotes ex-officio member of the NRF Board.
** Members of the NRF Board who do not receive remuneration as they are public office bearers.
Corporate Executive members are considered to be key management personnel as they are the delegated key 
decision makers.
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2022 2021

R’000 R’000

25. Cost of sales
Sale of goods

Cost of goods sold - Isotopes 26 939 29 830

Cost of goods sold - Other 2 46

26 941 29 876

26. Auditor’s remuneration

AG external audit  current year 1 741 842

AG external audit  prior year 3 899 2 628

External audit other  contracts 543 559

6 183 4 029

27. Operating surplus (deficit)

  Operating surplus (deficit) for the year is stated after accounting for the following:

Operating lease charges:

Contractual amounts  Premises 14 680 14 850

Contractual amounts  Equipment 681 313

15 361 15 163

Loss on sale of property, plant and equipment 493 3 573

Impairment on property, plant and equipment - 156

Loss/(gain) on exchange differences 6 129 (9 437)

Amortisation on intangible assets 6 979 7 569

Depreciation on property, plant and equipment 245 158 265 531

Employee costs 801 281 822 664

Defined contribution funds 65 345 64 563
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2022 2021

R’000 R’000

28. Cash generated from operations

Surplus (deficit) 234 853 (95 910)

Adjustments for:

Depreciation and amortisation 253 511 275 777

Gain/(loss) on sale of assets and liabilities 493 3 573

Income from equity accounted investments (958) 5 148

Impairment deficit - 156

Movements in postretirement benefit assets and liabilities 1 954 (205)

Changes in working capital:

Inventories (4 674) (2 875)

Receivables from exchange transactions (315 744) 147 121

Other receivables from non-exchange transactions 91 853 (95 901)

Prepayments 96 991 8 084

Grants and bursaries paid in advance (255) 205

Payables from exchange transactions (2 165) 23 269

Designated income received in advance (7 533) (100 747)

348 326 167 695

29. Financial instruments disclosure

Categories of financial instruments

2022

Financial assets

At amortised cost Total

Other financial assets  535 090  535 090 

Trade and other receivables from exchange transactions   157 385  157 385 

Other receivables from non-exchange transactions  17 794  17 794 

Cash and cash equivalents  697 144  697 144 

  1 407 413  1 407 413 
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2022 2021

R’000 R’000

Financial liabilities

At amortised cost Total

Trade and other payables from exchange transactions   56 496  56 496 

2021
Financial assets

At amortised cost Total

Other financial assets  520 375  520 375 

Trade and other receivables from exchange transactions   109 647  109 647 

Other receivables from non-exchange transactions  104 114  104 114 

Cash and cash equivalents  832 597  832 597 

  1 566 733  1 566 733 

Financial liabilities
At amortised cost Total

Trade and other payables from exchange transactions   56 095  56 095 
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2022 2021

R’000 R’000

30.Commitments

Authorised capital expenditure

Already contracted for but not provided for

•  Property, plant and equipment 558 093 582 505

The capital expenditure will be financed from the parliamentary grant (MTEF) and designated funds.

Operating leases  as lessee (expense)

Minimum lease payments due

  - within one year 14 554 13 457

  - in second to fifth year inclusive 14 202 28 382

28 756 41 839

Operating lease payments represent rentals payable by the entity for certain of its office properties. Leases are negotiated 
for an average term of between two years and 100 years and rentals escalate between 0% and 8% annually. No contingent 
rent is payable.

Operating leases  as lessor (income)

Minimum lease payments due

 -  within one year 788 238

 - in second to fifth year inclusive 730 487

1 518 725

The entity has entered into non-cancellable commercial property leases for the duration of the lease period.  These leases 
are negotiated for a term of between 2 years and 5 years and rentals escalate between 0% and 8% annually.  There are 
no contingent rent receivable.

31. Contingencies

Contingent liabilities

Future grants awarded  3 944 026 4 314 670

The NRF has awarded multi-year grants for up to 5 years, with subsequent years’ payments conditional upon receipt of 
progress reports.

Removal of historic packageable radioactive waste 4 730 4 730

Packageable radioactive waste consists of low  medium level radioactive contaminated solid waste with relatively short 
half-lives (< 5 years).  All the radioactive waste produced by iThemba LABS, since its inception, has been stored on site.  
New regulations, with regards to radiation waste management,  are envisaged that may result in a possible obligation for 
the NRF to dispose of such radioactive waste from the NRF premises, whilst also meeting set requirements.  The possible 
obligation calculated represents a best cost estimate of such disposal process, for which funding has been set aside.
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2022 2021

R’000 R’000

32. Related parties
`

Relationships

Members of key management Refer to note 24

Controlling entity Department of Science and Innovation

Associates Refer to note 5

Fellow controlled entities Academy of Science of South Africa (ASSAf), Council for Scientific and 
Industrial Research (CSIR), Human Sciences Research Council (HSRC), 
South African National Space Agency (SANSA) and Technology Innovation 
Agency (TIA)

By virtue of the fact that the NRF is a national public entity, and controlled by national government, any other controlled 
entity of the national government is a related party.  All transactions with such entities are at arm’s length, and on normal 
commercial terms.

Related party balances

Amounts included in Trade receivables/ (Trade Payables) regarding related parties

SALT Foundation (Pty) Ltd. 2 978 2 610

Prepayment to SALT Foundation (Pty) Ltd. 19 705 23 761

Income received in advance from SALT Foundation (Pty) Ltd. (998) (1 000)

The outstanding balance at yearend is unsecured, interest free and settlement occurs in cash.  There have been no 
guarantees received.  No impairment has been recorded of the amount owed.

Related party transactions

Payments to the SALT Foundation (Pty) Ltd.

Levy for the use of the telescopes 30 029 49 916

Receipts from the SALT Foundation (Pty) Ltd.

The recovery of services rendered 32 062 32 118

Department of Science and Innovation

Parliamentary grant and DSI contract income 4 026 348 3 111 111

33. Risk management

Financial risk management
The entity’s activities expose it to a variety of financial risks: market risk (including currency risk and cash flow interest 
rate risk), Credit risk and liquidity risk.

The entity’s overall risk management program focuses on the unpredictability of financial markets and seeks to minimise 
potential adverse effects on the entity’s financial performance. Risk management is carried out by a central treasury 
department under policies approved by the Board. Entity treasury identifies, evaluates and hedges financial risks in close 
cooperation with the entity’s Business Units. The Board provides written principles for overall risk management, as well 
as written policies covering specific areas, such as foreign exchange risk, interest rate risk, Credit risk and investment of 
excess liquidity.
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Liquidity risk

Prudent liquidity risk management implies maintaining sufficient cash and the availability of funding. 

The entity’s risk to liquidity is a result of the funds available to cover future commitments. The entity manages liquidity risk 
through an ongoing review of future commitments, through proper management of working capital, capital expenditure and 
actual vs. forecasted cash flows and its investment policy.  Adequate reserves and liquid resources are also maintained.

The table below analyses the entity’s financial liabilities into relevant maturity groupings based on the remaining period at 
the statement of financial position to the contractual maturity date. The amounts disclosed in the table are the contractual 
undiscounted cash flows. Balances due within 12 months equal their carrying balances as the impact of discounting is not 
significant.

At 31 March 2022 Less than 
1year

Between 1 
and 2 years

Trade and other payables 56 496 -

At 31 March 2021 Less than 
1 year

Between 1 
and 2 years

Trade and other payables 56 095 -

Credit risk

Credit risk consists mainly of cash deposits, cash equivalents and trade debtors. The entity only deposits cash with major 
banks with high quality Credit standing and limits exposure to any one counter party.

Trade receivables comprise a widespread customer base. Management evaluates Credit risk relating to customers on 
an ongoing basis. Risk control assesses the Credit quality of the customer, taking into account its financial position, past 
experience and other factors. The entity does not have any significant exposure to any individual customer or counter party. 

Market risk
  

Interest rate risk

Financial assets and liabilities affected by interest rate fluctuations include bank and cash deposits.

Interest rate exposure and investment strategies are evaluated by management on a regular basis. Interest-bearing 
investments are held with reputable banks in order to minimise exposure.  The entity furthermore manages its interest rate 
risk by obtaining competitive rates from different banks.  No significant risks have been identified with regards to interest 
rates.

Cash flow interest rate risk
`

Financial instrument Current 
interest 

rate

Due in less 
than a year

Trade and other receivables  normal Credit terms 7,50% 151 469

Trade and other receivables  normal Credit terms - % 23 710

Cash in current banking institutions 4,25% 96 983

Short-term deposits 3,55% 600 100

Trade and other payables - % 56 496

Other financial assets - % 535 090
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2022 2021

R’000 R’000

Foreign exchange risk

The NRF enters into forward exchange contracts when the currency risk of a transaction is high and all required 
information is known. A forward exchange contract was entered into for the SAIF project, however was not feasible for 
SKAO membership fees resulting in the reported foreign exchange loss.

Foreign currency exposure at statement of financial position date

Current assets

Foreign bank account denominated in Euro 295 -

Exchange rates used for conversion of foreign items were:
`

EUR 16,1742

34. Irregular expenditure

Opening balance as previously reported 12 946 -

Opening balance as restated 12 946 -

Add: Irregular Expenditure  current - 12 946

Less: Amounts condoned/written off (16) -

Closing balance 12 930 12 946

Incidents/cases identified in the current year include those listed below:

Disciplinary steps taken/ 
criminal proceedings

Non-compliance with Instruction Note 3 of 2016/17 Internal disciplinary steps taken - 12 930

Non-compliance with Practice Note 8 of 2007/08 Internal disciplinary steps taken - 16

- 12 946

The irregular expenditure of R12,9m incurred in 2020/21 was approved by the Board for removal from the
Annual Financial Statements on 26 July 2022.

Amounts condoned
Non-compliance with Practice Note 8 of 2007/08 16 -

35. Segment information

General information

Identification of segments

The entity is organised and reports to management on the basis of seven Business Units of the entity.  The segments 
were organised around the type of service delivered.  Management uses these same segments for determining strategic 
objectives.

Information reported about these segments is used by management as a basis for evaluating the segments’ performances 
and for making decisions about the allocation of resources. The disclosure of information about these segments is also 
considered appropriate for external reporting purposes.

The corporate office is regarded as an administrative department, which does not generate economic benefits or have 
service potential. It has subsequently been disclosed as a reconciling item to the entity surplus/deficit.



 NRF Annual Report 2021/22 119

Types of goods and/or services by segment

These reportable segments as well as the goods and/or services for each segment are set out below:

Reportable segment Goods and/or services

Research and Innovation Support and 
Advancement (RISA)

The Business Unit provides for the promotion and support of research and 
research capacity development in all fields of knowledge and technology, 
through investing in knowledge, people and infrastructure; developing 
research capacity, and advancing equity and equality, to unlock the full 
creative potential of researchers; assisting with the development of institutional 
capacity; and facilitating strategic national and international partnerships and 
knowledge networks.

iThemba Laboratory for Accelerator 
Based Sciences (iThemba LABS)

The facility provides advanced, viable, multidisciplinary facilities for training, 
research and services in the fields of subatomic nuclear science and applied 
radiation medicine.

South African Astronomical 
Observatory (SAAO)

SAAO is the national centre for optical and infrared astronomy in South 
Africa.  Its primary function is to conduct fundamental research in astronomy 
and astrophysics.  SAAO operates SALT, located at its site near Sutherland, 
on behalf of an international consortium and promotes astronomy and 
astrophysics in Southern Africa.

South African Institute for 
Aquatic Biodiversity (SAIAB)

SAIAB serves as a research hub for aquatic biodiversity in southern Africa 
by providing unique specialist aquatic research infrastructure e.g. coastal 
vessels, genomics laboratories, marine robotics and biodiversity collections.  
It generates knowledge that aims to drive sustainable development in the 
“Blue Economy”  through interactive and collaborative scientific research, and 
disseminates scientific knowledge at all levels

South African Agency for Science and 
Technology Advancement (SAASTA)

SAASTA’s core activities include Science Engagement through advancing 
public awareness, appreciation and understanding of science, engineering 
and technology in South Africa, as well as the integration of science awareness 
activities across the entity.

South African Environmental 
Observatory Network (SAEON)

SAEON is a research unit that establishes and maintains nodes (environmental 
observatories, field stations or sites) linked by an information management 
network to serve as research and education platforms for longterm studies of 
ecosystems that will provide for incremental advances in our understanding 
of ecosystems and our ability to detect, predict and react to environmental 
change.  An application has been submitted to the Minister of Higher 
Education, Science and Innovation to declare SAEON as a National Facility.

South African Radio Astronomy 
Observatory (SARAO)

The SKA project is an international effort to build the world’s largest radio 
telescope, with about a square kilometre of collecting area.  Deploying 
thousands of radio telescopes, in three unique configurations, it will enable 
astronomers to monitor the sky in unprecedented detail and survey the entire 
sky thousands of times faster than any system currently in existence.  All 
existing and future radio astronomy activities are now incorporated into a 
single radio astronomy observatory called the South African Radio Astronomy 
Observatory (SARAO), which includes MeerKAT, KAT7, AVN, HartRAO and 
international radio astronomy experiments in the SKA site.
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Segment surplus or deficit, assets and liabilities
2022

RISA iThemba 
LABS

SAAO SARAO SAEON SAIAB SAASTA Inter-segment 
transfers & 
Corporate 

office

Total

R’000 R’000 R’000 R’000 R’000 R’000 R’000 R’000 R’000
Revenue
Parliamentary grant 491 403 192 251 66 489 26 615 13 136 27 864 28 228 - 845 986
DSI contract income 1 755 612 99 816 23 711 975 390 62 414 22 645 59 961 - 2 999 549
Other contract income 273 646 1 785 37 608 29 940 3 005 2 429 2 405 - 350 818
Revenue from exchange 
transactions

233 93 700 3 137 4 810 4 26 396 - 102 306

Intersegment transfers 8 511 42 348 25 550 19 056 8 616 14 223 7 526 (125 830) -
Interest revenue 12 026 5 468 1 278 13 503 2 304 1 804 1 191 - 37 574

Total segment revenue 2 541 431 435 368 157 773 1 069 314 89 479 68 991 99 707 (125 830) 4 336 233

Corporate office revenue 167 286 167 286
Corporate intersegment 
transfers

(37 144) (37 144)

Total revenue 
reconciling items 130 142 130 142

Entity’s revenue 2 541 431 435 368 157 773 1 069 314 89 479 68 991 99 707 4 312 4 466 375

Expenditure
Salaries and wages 125 800 144 968 79 293 257 311 43 924 28 064 38 058 - 717 418
Grants, bursaries 
and other research 
expenditure

2 297 518 4 130 8 476 57 615 3 025 16 440 34 759 - 2 421 963

Programme and operating 
expenditure

74 945 137 098 59 657 617 948 35 355 26 365 21 756 - 973 124

Intersegment transfers 50 879 9 101 3 138 45 735 5 471 833 1 725 (116 882) -

Total segment 
expenditure 2 549 142 295 297 150 564 978 609 87 775 71 702 96 298 (116 882) 4 112 505

Total segmental 
surplus/(deficit) (7 711) 140 071 7 209 90 705 1 704 (2 711) 3 409 (8 948) 223 728

Total revenue 
reconciling items

130 142 130 142

Corporate office 
expenditure

(165 109) (165 109)

Corporate intersegment 
transfers

46 092 46 092

Entity’s surplus/
(deficit) for the period (7 711) 140 071 7 209 90 705 1 704 (2 711) 3 409 2 177 234 853

Opening segment accumu-
lated surplus/(deficit)

(4 487) (452) 237 - 1 063 1 237 (3 391) 8 954 3 161

Transfer to SALT fund - - (958) - - - - - (958)

Segment net capital 
expenditure (4 480) (172 844) (13 033) (261 327) (13 124) (6 098) (2 106) - (473 012)

Accumulated Surplus/
(Deficit) 951 815 317 8 893 3 682 (201) 809 7 274
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RISA iThemba 
LABS

SAAO SARAO SAEON SAIAB SAASTA Inter-segment 
adjustments 
& Corporate 

office

Total

R’000 R’000 R’000 R’000 R’000 R’000 R’000 R’000 R’000

Assets

Segment assets 942 649 681 588 131 804 2 342 759 206 219 139 041 66 867 - 4 510 927

Total assets as per State-
ment of financial Position 4 510 927

Liabilities

Segment liabilities 674 815 261 148 33 562 493 821 123 764 64 198 46 816 - 1 698 124

Total liabilities as per 
Statement of financial 
Position

1 698 124

Segment assets and liabilities for the RISA segment includes corporate office assets and liabilities as these are not separately 
identified or internally reported.

2021

Revenue

Parliamentary grant 440 224 178 972 56 926 25 468 12 571 26 664 27 013 - 767 838

DSI contract income 1 620 149 13 366 25 635 539 507 51 192 7 622 36 601 - 2 294 072

Other contract income 222 901 12 229 27 642 17 743 8 738 1 859 1 515 - 292 627

Revenue from exchange 
transactions

5 73 581 1 077 3 577 302 53 (557) - 78 038

Intersegment transfers 768 23 313 17 577 14 926 6 570 15 312 1 997 (80 463) -

Interest revenue 5 593 7 530 1 065 13 899 1 877 1 318 1 227 - 32 509

Total segment revenue 2 289 640 308 991 129 922 615 120 81 250 52 828 67 796 (80 463) 3 465 084

Corporate office revenue 128 281 128 281

Corporate intersegment 
transfers

(28 800) (28 800)

Total revenue 
reconciling items 99 481 99 481

Entity’s revenue 2 289 640 308 991 129 922 615 120 81 250 52 828 67 796 19 018 3 564 565
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Expenditure

Salaries and wages 127 125 152 636 76 916 274 372 48 804 29 966 36 105 - 745 924

Grants, bursaries and 
other research expenditure

2 043 608 4 486 5 645 46 967 4 493 6 805 15 031 - 2 127 035

Programme and 
operating expenditure

71 853 125 137 51 946 369 172 27 890 20 844 17 908 - 684 750

Intersegment transfers 58 294 7 890 2 619 29 384 4 441 1 821 914 (105 363) -

Total segment 
expenditure 2 300 880 290 149 137 126 719 895 85 628 59 436 69 958 (105 363) 3 557 709

Total segmental surplus/
(deficit)

(11 240) 18 842 (7 204) (104 775) (4 378) (6 608) (2 162) 24 900 (92 625)

Total revenue 
reconciling items

99 481 99 481

Corporate office 
expenditure

(106 666) (106 666)

Corporate inter-
segment transfers

3 900 3 900

Entity’s surplus/(deficit) 
for the period (11 240) 18 842 (7 204) (104 775) (4 378) (6 608) (2 162) 21 615 (95 910)

Opening segment accumu-
lated surplus/(deficit)

(8 796) 277 2 808 4 106 950 1 612 (2 638) 7 246 5 565

Transfer from SALT fund - - 5 148 - - - - - 5 148

Transfer from 
infrastructure fund

- - - - - - - 5 000 5 000

Segment net capital 
expenditure

(3 113) (53 302) (8 449) (89 248) (7 826) (5 118) (457) - (167 513)

Depreciation and amorti-
sation

18 661 33 731 7 934 189 917 12 317 11 351 1 866 - 275 777

Corporate office net capital 
expenditure

- - - - - - - (24 906) (24 906)

Accumulated 
Surplus/(Deficit) (4 488) (452) 237 - 1 063 1 237 (3 391) 8 955 3 161

Assets

Segment assets 972 065 614 232 130 744 2 203 542 167 250 128 429 69 509 - 4 285 771

Total assets as per 
Statement of 
financial Position

4 285 771

Liabilities

Segment liabilities 698 750 333 863 39 711 445 309 86 500 50 874 52 815 - 1 707 822

Total liabilities as per 
Statement of 
financial Position

1 707 822
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Segment assets and liabilities for the RISA segment includes corporate office assets and liabilities as these are not 
separately identified or internally reported.

Measurement of segment surplus or deficit, assets and liabilities

Basis of accounting for transactions between reportable segments

The accounting policies of the segments are the same as those described in the summary of significant accounting policies.

Intersegment transfers: segment revenue and segment expense include revenue and expense arising from transfers 
between segments. Such transfers are usually accounted for at cost and are eliminated on consolidation. 

The corporate office is regarded as an administrative department and is a reconciling item to the entity’s surplus/deficit.

The nature of differences between the measurements of the reportable segments’ assets or liabilities and the 
entity’s assets or liabilities

There are no differences between the measurements of the reportable segments’ assets and liabilities in comparison 
with that of the entity.

Information about geographical areas

The entity’s operations are in different regions around the country.  However, geographical areas are not used by the entity 
for decisionmaking purposes and information is not reported or collected in such a manner.

36.  Budget differences

Material differences between budget and actual amounts

The budget is prepared well in advance of the financial year.  Significant differences can occur between the budget 
compared with the actual results.  The entity normally receives additional contract income during the financial year and 
funds carried forward are only confirmed at yearend, thus subsequent to the preparation of the budget.

Income

Total income is lower than budgeted by R517 m. Sales increased mainly due to additional isotope sales at iThemba LABS 
which will cofund the SAIF phase 1 capital costs. Higher interest income from investments is due to lower spending and 
higher interest rates than originally budgeted.  DSI contract income decreased mainly due to a decreased grants take up, 
delays in infrastructure projects as activities were impacted by covid19 restrictions and a decrease on the science missions 
contract.  The decrease was offset by additional SARAO income towards the SKAO contribution, new DSI allocation for 
funding towards the polar research infrastructure (sapri) project and research information management system (RIMS) 
project. Other contract income  additional funds from the department of Higher Education & Training (DHET) for the 
2021/22 scarce skills development fund, sansa, Sasol, sanbi and the university of berkley on the hera project. 

Expenditure

Total expenditure is lower than the budget, although the total expenditure budget of the NRF also includes capital 
expenditure.  Total expenditure of the NRF , including capital expenditure, was less by R521 m the decrease in employees’ 
remuneration is due to the cumulative impact of the temporary moratorium on the filling of staff vacancies, the reclassifica-
tion of costs for isotopes production to cost of sales and salary capitalisation at iThemba LABS and SARAO. Depreciation 
decreased due to the lower infrastructure spending specifically on the iThemba LABS SAIF project and isotope production 
target prototype manufacturing, as well as SARAO on the MeerKAT extension.  Grants, bursaries and other research 
expenditure decreased mainly due to a reduced take up of RISA core grants across the programmes but mainly within 
international and emerging researcher grants and DSI contract funded reduced activities within global change research 
programmes and the marine and antarctic research. Programme and operating expenses decreased due to covid19 
curtailments impacting travel, conferences and training across all NRF Business Units.
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